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--- Upon commencing at 9:36 a.m./ 

    L’audience débute à 9h36 

ALFONSO GAGLIANO, Resumed/Sous le même serment: 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Good morning. 

 So Mr. Hunter, you will be continuing your cross-

examination. 

 MR. HUNTER:  Well, good morning, Commissioner.  Having 

had an evening to reflect, I am happy to report that I have no 

further questions. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  In French there is a very good 

expression that says “la nuit porte conseil”. 

 MR. HUNTER:  I understand. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Very good, sir.  Thank you. 

 MR. HUNTER:  Thank you. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I think -- are you going to have 

questions, Mr. Pratte? 

 MR. PRATTE:  Well, you are always right, 

Mr. Commissioner.  Lawyers always estimate.  I have no questions 

as it turns out. 

 Thank you. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you very much. 

 Then it will be Mr. Dearden. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Thank you, Commissioner. 

--- CROSS-EXAMINATION BY/CONTRE-INTERROGATOIRE PAR  

MR. DEARDEN:
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 MR. DEARDEN:  Mr. Gagliano, I am Rick Dearden.  I 

represent the office of the Auditor General. 

 Sir, do you have P-200? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, sir. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Turn to page 9, sir. 

 Now, these are the minutes of the meeting you had with 

Auditor General Sheila Fraser and Ronny Campbell of the office 

of the Auditor General on September 8, 2003 in Copenhagen? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, sir. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And as I understand your 

evidence, you agree that those minutes accurately reflect the 

discussions you had with the office of the Auditor General on 

that date; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, except with one point that you can 

see on my exchange of e-mails that I never got the text I was 

asking --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Correct.  And that would be at page 15? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  You thanked him for the clarifications; 

you had a few minor changes, and just for peace of mind you are 

asking what is the description of 3.14 on paragraph 33. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I never got that description. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  You never got that.  But apart from 

that, these minutes accurately reflect --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 
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 MR. DEARDEN:  --- your meeting; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes.  Correct. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  Paragraph 6 of these minutes 

indicates that you asked Ran Quail to do an internal audit.  He 

said he also asked that the audit be extended to include all 

sponsorship files and asked the auditors to do a follow-up to 

make sure recommendations were being implemented.  He was 

astonished and angry at the sloppiness of the file. 

 So, sir, at that time did you learn that certain rules 

and policies weren’t being followed that you thought would have 

been followed?  

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, at the briefing of the 2000 

Internal Audit, yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And can you turn to paragraph 17 

of those minutes? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  You inform the Auditor General that, 

“Internal Audit probably didn’t go deep enough 

and never mentioned the Groupaction problem.  He 

learned more from reading the Globe and Mail than 

he knew as Minister.” 

 And the same kind of theme in Paragraph 19: 

“The first he knew of Groupaction was from the 

media.  He was angry they paid for a list of 

events, he never saw these reports.” 
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 Now, is it fair, Mr. Gagliano, to say that there was a 

lot of matters that the Auditor General’s Report dealt with that 

you simply weren’t aware of until you read it either in the 

media or in the Auditor General’s Report? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, if you recall what I have been 

saying, I think, whether it was yesterday or the day before, 

that I asked when I got briefed on the Internal Audit year 2000, 

I asked the auditors to go back and audit 100 per cent of the 

files.  I didn’t say 100 per cent of the events.  I said 100 per 

cent of the files. 

 So definitely I was astonished, because when they 

finished 100 per cent of the files, they told me that there were 

simple -- the same problem in the other files and not the 

problems --  I was never told by the Internal Audit the other 

problems that the Auditor General found in the three contracts 

of Groupaction that you are referring to. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And can you just turn to 

paragraph 22 of page 11 of P-200.  Paragraph 22 of the minutes 

say: 

“Mr. Gagliano said that those issues raised in 

the Auditor General’s report were important and 

should be looked at.” 

 Do you still hold that view today, sir, that the 

issues raised in the Auditor General’s Report were important and 

should be looked at? 
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 MR. GAGLIANO:  Definitely. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And could I fairly take the evidence 

that I have heard over the past three days from you, sir, to be 

that you are not disputing the gist of the findings of the 

Auditor General’s Report; is that fair? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I agree with the part of the Auditor 

General’s Report concerning the lack of documentation, the lack 

of respect of the rules and the policy of Treasury Board, but I 

cannot give you my opinion on the rest of the report because I 

believe that the Auditor General should have gone and audited 

the agency files, and I think we would have a complete picture. 

 So that is my only disagreement with the report, but 

in general I agree with the thrust that there was lack of 

documentation and lack of respect of the policy of the 

government. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  But, in terms of your hope that 

maybe the Auditor General would have audited the agencies’ 

files, the report made it clear that it did not do so.  It was 

not -- and indeed was not to be taken as any indication of what 

might be in private contractors’ files, because they didn’t look 

at them. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  She said that she decided to just stay 

within the government boundary, but she had the power to go 

further.  That’s what I’m saying. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Well, I’m not sure of that, but we 
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needn’t argue it.  In terms of the --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, no. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  --- report, but just --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I’m not going to argue with you on 

that.  It is just you asked my opinion, I gave you my opinion. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  But the gist of what the Auditor 

General and her team investigated you are not disputing it; 

correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, I am not. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  Now, the Old Port of Montreal was 

dealt with by Mr. Roy yesterday.   

 Firstly, sir, the Old Port of Montreal is a wholly 

owned subsidiary of the Canada Lands Company; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And the Canada Lands Company is a Crown 

Corporation; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And pursuant to an order in council, 

there are provisions of the Financial Administration Act that 

apply to the Old Port of Montreal; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, definitely they apply to all the 

rules of the other corporations.  The only difference I want to 

make, even though the Old Port of Montreal is a subsidiary of 

Canada Lands Crown Corporation, it doesn’t report to Canada 

Lands Crown Corporation.  It reports to Public Works.  And that 
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is the difference I was trying to make yesterday. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And it reports to Parliament? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, through the Minister, yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Through the Minister? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  But it doesn’t -- it is strange because 

Old Port of Montreal is a subsidiary of a Crown Corporation 

called Canada Lands, but does not report to that Crown 

Corporation.  It is a strange arrangement that was there and 

don’t ask me to explain it, I am not able. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  I won’t do that.  But for clarity, it 

reported to Parliament through you as Minister of Public Works? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  Now, the big screen, the purchase 

of that giant screen, was discussed yesterday and just before 

lunch, I don’t know if you are going to recollect that, but just 

before lunch Mr. Roy was asking you about the Auditor General’s 

Report with respect to the purchase of the giant screen for the 

Old Port of Montreal, and there were a number of factual 

findings that the Auditor General made that you had no personal 

knowledge on. 

 But at the end of, I think it was the last sentence 

before lunch, out of your mouth, sir, was “I am just an 

accountant. She is the Auditor General.” 
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 Do you remember that? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  M’hm. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  So I take it then you are not 

saying it was wrong for the Auditor General to make the 

conclusion she made about the Old Port of Montreal big screen 

transaction, you just have a different opinion? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, sir, and I think I made it clear.  

There is a different opinion and I even gave the example, give 

the same figures to five accountants and you get five different 

results. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Well, I am learning a lot about 

accounting in the five months I have been here.  Invoices are 

receipts and five different accountants can have five different 

results.  I thought I knew accounting, sir, but that will be for 

you --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  We are all learning, Mr. Dearden. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Thank you. 

 We are in agreement, Mr. Gagliano, that the purchase 

of the big screen was the purchase of an asset; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, that is the disagreement.  

 MR. DEARDEN:  Well, what do you think it was a 

purchase of? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  The Public Works site was purchase of 

visibility -- was sponsorship.  The Auditor General she thinks 

that is a capital asset and I say we disagreed.  For us it was a 
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sponsorship.  And I think there is documentation, if you go to 

the meeting between the CEO of the Old Port and the Auditor 

General’s office, they have that discussion and they also think 

that was a sponsorship.   So there is a disagreement. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  I am going to get to the visibility and 

why you used sponsorship funds for this purchase.  But on first 

principles, and you are an accountant, if you went and bought a 

60” high-definition TV screen for the Superbowl this Sunday, 

that would be the purchase of an asset; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  But I didn’t buy the --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I didn’t buy the asset.  The Old Port 

did. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  What I bought was visibility.  So for 

me it is not an asset.  So it all depends on which side of the 

equation you find yourself. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Mr. Gagliano, I want you to be on my 

side of the equation for now on first principles, and that is 

simply if you are buying a big screen for the Superbowl this 

weekend you are buying an asset; correct, sir? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  No?  What are you buying? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I was buying visibility.  I was buying 

sponsorship.  I didn’t buy the screen.  The Old Port --- 
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 THE COMMISSIONER:  I think Mr. Dearden is asking you 

to forget about the big screen and the Old Port for a moment and 

just talk about you as an individual consumer buying a 

television.  I guess you --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  In that case, yes. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  You are buying an asset? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  So next question, Mr. Dearden. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 And that screen -- we are on the big screen now at the 

Old Port site, that was used for the daily operations of the Old 

Port of Montreal activities; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  They were showing the different 

activities with a Canada word-mark in big characters. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  But they were using it for their daily 

operations? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  It was their screen. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Their screen.  Their operations. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  We just paid for the Canada --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  We will get there.  But it was used for 

their daily operations; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  Now, I want to deal with the 
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history of the source of funds to purchase this screen. 

 As I understand your evidence, the Old Port of 

Montreal requested funds from Public Works.  Is it the real-

estate division or the lands division?  What was the entity? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I believe it was the realty division. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  The realty division.  Okay. 

 Because as I understand your evidence, the Old Port of 

Montreal didn’t have funds in their budget to spend 1.5 million.  

So they asked for additional funding from the real-estate --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  All the budget of the port of Montreal 

comes from that division by the way. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Comes from that division. 

 So that would have been a perfectly normal place for 

the Old Port of Montreal to go to seek these funds to purchase -

-- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  M’hm. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  --- the screen was the real-estate -- I 

am sorry, what did you call it again, division? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Real-estate or realty, it is the same 

thing. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Realty division. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  The division that would take care of 

the building and accommodation. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And the realty division rejected 

that request from Old Port because they didn’t have the budget 
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for it either; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, we didn’t have the money and we 

wouldn’t get any extra money from Treasury Board. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  From what? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  From Treasury Board.  Usually we would 

get the funds from Treasury Board and we would transfer them to 

the Old Port. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And then the Old Port of Montreal 

comes to you as Minister of Public Works and makes a 

presentation, as I understand it, that this is a really good 

idea --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  --- and we should buy this screen and 

have it on the site; is that correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, and if you look at the -- like I 

referred to you before -- the minutes of the meeting with Ms. 

Benoit, I believe, she makes it clear that they presented this 

as a sponsorship item. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Well, let us go to the letter that the 

president and CEO of Old Port sent you, which would be found in 

P-202. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Page 51 is a March 2, 2000 letter to 

you, sir, as Minister of Public Works. 

 Do you have that? 
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 MR. GAGLIANO:  Fifty-two (52) you said? 

 MR. DEARDEN:  You see it is P-202.  So it is a thin 

volume. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  You should have page 51 of that. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  It is the letter.  Do you have it? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And can you turn to page 52 of the 

Exhibit book, P-202. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  M’hm. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  So the second page of the letter.  And I 

am looking at the last two paragraphs, and I will try to 

translate it roughly. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  M’hm. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  That a first evaluation established a 

cost of around 1.5 million to buy and install the screen and the 

equipment required to -- what is the rest of that sentence -- to 

broadcast messages; is that it? 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I think “réalisation” is 

production.  The production of the message which are --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Oh, message.  Okay.  That are the 

broadcast? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And if a source of financing was found 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  GAGLIANO 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  Cr-ex(Dearden) 

12080

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

or was identified quickly, we would be able to have this big 

screen functional for the Canada Day activities on July 1st, 

2000, right.  And then the president and CEO hopes that this 

initiative could, thanks to your intervention, see daylight.  Is 

that what “voir le jour” means, see the day? 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Come to pass. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Come to pass, right.  So at this point 

there is no source of funds.  The presentation is made to you, 

sir, as the Minister, and if source of funds are identified 

rapidly, they can have this thing up and running for Canada Day 

2000; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And then, sir, the Sponsorship Program, 

becomes the source of funds? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, after trying with the other 

division. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Yes, which rejected it? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And it isn’t CCSB that is 

bringing the purchase of this big screen to get your 

suggestions.  It is you who brings this project to CCSB’s 

attention; correct. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I referred the President of the Board 

to the Chairman of the Board and the CEO to make the 

presentation to the CCSB, the sponsorship division of the 
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department.  

 MR. DEARDEN:  And with that referral, Mr. Gagliano, 

did you recommend to CCSB officials that they support this 

project? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, I said “Look, they have a 

presentation to make.  See if he qualifies.”  And they made the 

presentation to Pierre Tremblay and then the Executive Director, 

and they agreed to make the -- to do the sponsorship.  When they 

informed me that they accepted to do the sponsorship I told them 

“This is a big amount, 1.5, make sure that the word-mark stays 

there not for one year but for many years.”, and they did.  I 

mean, until at least the last time I looked. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  On the screen? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  In March 2004, the word-mark was still 

there. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And the Old Port of Montreal would have 

its logo name on that screen as well? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  They would.  The name of the centre --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  The Science Centre or --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  The Science Centre and the different 

programs or activities of the day. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And the Canada word-mark? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Definitely, and in big letters. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  So you thought this was a legitimate 

expenditure of sponsorship funds because the Canadian Government 
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was going to get visibility --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  M’hm. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  --- because the Canada word-mark would 

be on that big screen for a number of years? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  That is correct.  Okay. 

 Will you agree with me, Mr. Gagliano, that if the 

Canadian Government wanted additional visibility at the Old Port 

of Montreal site, they could have negotiated with Old Port for 

the Canada word-mark or any other Canadian Government symbol to 

be put any other place on that site; correct, other than the big 

screen? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, we did.  There was a year or two 

before we had a sign program which the Old Port adhered to, to 

identify the property, the facilities belonging to the 

Government of Canada. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  So you could have done that again if you 

wanted to? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, I could, but the Old Port of 

Montreal could have also gone to the Government of Quebec and 

take their sponsorship and put in big letters the word-mark of 

Quebec, and we wanted to have definitely in our property, at 

least we wanted to make sure that we had the word-mark Canada. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  What --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  And I wouldn’t have been able to stop 
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Old Port to go and get another sponsor other than the Government 

of Canada. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Or you could have plastered -- if let us 

say you are hypothetical about the Quebec Government having 

their word-mark on an Old Port screen happened, you could have 

also plastered Canadian Government symbols all around that 

screen and all around that site as well for 1.5 million, with no 

connection to the screen; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, I mean, we don’t do those things.  

We don’t plaster flags just to plaster flags.  I think this was 

a new centre and this was a major visibility portion of the 

centre was the giant screen.  That is where before going in the 

centre, and if you are familiar with the Old Port area, I mean, 

even from the street that you pass by on the Old Port you can 

see it and so on.  It definitely was a good visibility. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  What I am trying to see if you and I can 

come to a common agreement on though is --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I don’t think we can stay here until 

the end of the day.  I don’t think we would agree. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Don’t intend to, but you don’t know what 

I was going to try to have a common agreement on here. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, you --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  So why don’t you let me get there. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  The subject --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Let me get there.  Okay.  It was open to 
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you to have no connection to a Canada word-mark on the big 

screen at the Old Port site and have Canadian Government 

symbols, the Canada word-mark placed all over that site other 

than that screen; agreed?  It was open to you. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Let us say, I had first choice, first 

options.  It was offered to us first, and if we would have said 

“No”, they would have gone to other sponsors like the Government 

of Quebec and we didn’t want that to happen. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  I understand your answer, sir.  But what 

I am saying to you is, do you agree it was open to you not to 

exercise that right of first refusal on the screen? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, it was open, but we didn’t --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  We exercised the option to put the 

word-mark. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Correct.  We know that. 

 You will also agree with me that the Federal Identity 

Program, as amended in 1998 by the Treasury Board, applied to 

the site of the Old Port of Montreal? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, and I -- the policy -- the old 

policy was that the word-mark applied to Government Department 

and Agency.  And in, I think, the late part of 1998 I was 

Minister of Treasury Board and we had a debate in terms of 

whether that word-mark should be extended to all Crown 

Corporations. 
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 And we did, and I have to say it took us awhile, 

because you can pass a policy but that doesn’t mean that 

immediately the department -- we had serious problems with the 

CBC.  We had some problems with BBC.  We even had some problem 

with Canada Post, and I was the Minister responsible for Canada 

Post, and definitely my colleague at the Treasury Board would 

say “Look, Canada Post is your baby.  How come they don’t 

implement it?” 

 So yes, at the end of ’98, the policy was passed but 

it took awhile to be implemented. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And you didn’t have a problem with Old 

Port? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, we had -- like I said, I had to 

kind of be asking all the time, and that is why we had a year 

before that we had an identification program because there was 

nothing at the beginning.  There was not even a Canada flag in 

the Old Port of Montreal and the Government of Canada was 

investing quite heavily to keep those buildings in good order 

and so on. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  The Federal --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Sometimes you have to do some -- you 

have to preach to your own people. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And you did, and they complied; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  After awhile, yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And after awhile this decision of 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  GAGLIANO 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  Cr-ex(Dearden) 

12086

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Treasury Board was ’98.  So by ’99, had they complied? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I would say at the end of ’99, yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  The amendment was that all 

Canadian Government institutions, including those exempted from 

the Federal Identity Program, are to apply the Canada word-mark 

prominently on all their corporate identity applications? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  M’hm. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And Old Port had to do that? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, and they did.  I mean, the word-

mark, like I told you, the year before they did that. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  That would include the screen? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, not necessarily.  This was a 

screen where private sector were also partners in -- we are 

talking about the Science Centre.  If you go there next to the 

Science Centre there is also a Cinema Centre, Cinerama Zone.  So 

they consider that a commercial transaction because they had 

other partners in the centre and so on. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Who owns the sign? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  The real-estate belongs to the 

Government of Canada. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And the video-screen -- the big screen 

belongs to the Government of Canada too? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, it belongs to the Old Port of 

Montreal.  It belongs to the Government of Canada. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Correct. 
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 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And the Old Port of Montreal has its 

name on the big screen. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And this Federal Identity Program would 

require it to display prominently on all their corporate 

identity applications the Canada word-mark; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  That they would have qualified for that 

policy application without the giant screen.  And they had, like 

I told you before, they give us first choice but they could go 

out there and get other sponsors that we felt that shouldn’t be 

there, and that is why we decided to buy that sponsorship.   

 And we disagree.  I mean, I disagreed in Copenhagen 

with the Auditor General, and I disagreed with you this morning.  

And like I said, sir, you can continue as long as you want.  I 

won’t change my -- I believe that that was the right -- eight 

million tourists pass by that place every summer, and I think it 

is a jewel for the Crown that we have that place there.  

Unfortunately it is probably the only one left in Canada, but 

definitely for our concerns that we had those days in Quebec, 

definitely we want to show the flag and we did.  

 MR. DEARDEN:  I am bringing you back to my questions 

on the Federal Identity Program. 

 My understanding is that the Federal Identity Program 

applied to the Old Port of Montreal? 
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 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, and they were qualifying and they 

were applying the policy by the end of ’99.  But I said, again, 

according to that giant screen they could give that sponsorship 

prominence to another organization without breaking the rule of 

the Federal Identity Program. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  But they had to put your word-mark on 

the screen too even --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, but not as permanently as we would 

have it. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Well --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Because the policy didn’t say as big as 

big should be, and so on. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  No, the policy says to apply the Canada 

word-mark prominently on all their corporate identity 

applications. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  And they were doing already that. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Well, they hadn’t bought the screen yet, 

but once --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, no, but on the building and on the 

surrounding, again, sir, if you visit -- maybe you should have a 

visit of the Old Port.  There are different buildings.  There is 

different entrance.  And yes, there was -- in French, we talk 

about a very visible signage plan.  But on the centre, I mean, 

we are talking about the screen was the entrance and therefore 

we wanted -- they offered us the opportunity of really putting 
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the word-mark very visible, and because of the number of people 

that pass by there to go in the Old Port of Montreal, we thought 

that was important.   

 You might not agree.  The Auditor General might not 

agree.  A lot of people might not agree.  We made that decision.  

The department, the officials, and I supported it.  We might 

have made a mistake; I don’t think so, but I believe  that that 

was the right decision and I stand by that decision even today. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Sir, yesterday in answer to Mr. Roy he 

put certain facts found by the Auditor General in the report 

about Lafleur Communications involvement, and I appreciate you 

didn’t know about that; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No.  No, I learned by the Auditor 

General on September the 8, 2003, I believe. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And my notes indicate that you said to 

Mr. Roy that you were quite surprised to learn that Lafleur was 

involved in this project.  Do you remember that? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Now, sir, if, as Minister of Public 

Works, you were informed that a communications agency was going 

to get paid a commission of $180,000 for simply transferring 

money to the Old Port of Montreal, which was to be used to 

purchase this screen, would you have stopped that payment? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Not only I would stop the payment if 

the purpose of the payment was just to transfer the cheque, but 
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I think I would have reprimanded the person who authorized that. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Well, if you could have stopped it, you 

would have stopped it? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  Because as I understand it, 

Lafleur wasn’t even involved in the purchase.  Old Port found 

the supplier themselves. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I have no idea.  I was told of that by 

the Auditor General.  I don’t know what Lafleur’s version is.  I 

don’t know what work Lafleur -- I am sure that Lafleur will be 

appearing before this Commission and maybe we will find out what 

he did. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  But if you --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  If he didn’t do any work, he was just 

to transfer the cheque from Public Works to the Old Port of 

Montreal, definitely it is not a right way to do it, because 

Public Works transferred all the funds of Old Port.  So I don’t 

see what is the problem.  We just could make a cheque and send 

it to the Old Port. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And my last area is the Maurice 

Richard television series. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, sir. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  You looked like you were getting up to 

leave. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, no.  I was just getting ready which 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  GAGLIANO 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  Cr-ex(Dearden) 

12091

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

book should --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  No, I think we are done with the books. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Okay. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  The Maurice Richard series, I take it 

you are not disagreeing with anything that the Auditor General 

found in its report with respect to the Maurice Richard series? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, could --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Because you didn’t know anything about 

it? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I didn’t know anything about it 

definitely, but I don’t know if you want my opinion.  I don’t 

know.  You have to refer to some specific, because I think she 

said --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Well, do you have any evidence, sir, to 

give to the Commissioner --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  --- that contradicts anything that the 

Auditor General found about the Maurice Richard series? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I don’t have anything. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And again in answers to Mr. Roy 

yesterday on this transaction, my notes say that you found it 

strange that Public Works owed $750,000 to VIA Rail for an 

advance that VIA Rail had made, and that advance was made to 
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l’Information essentielle, Mr. Scully’s company, for the 

production of the Maurice Richard series.  You found that 

strange. Do you remember that? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I found it strange in the sense that 

the way the government works, I mean, you work within a 

framework of a year.  So if you have an expenditure -- I mean, 

if we had to sponsor $750,000 in the Maurice Richard, I don’t 

see why we should have asked VIA Rail to do it for us.  They 

would advance the money and then we would pay back.  That is 

what I found strange.  We should have been straightforward and 

say “Here, we sponsored that” and paid it that year. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  In fact, sir, another answer you gave to 

Mr. Roy is you said “That is not the way accounting is done in 

government.”  Do you remember that? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I don’t remember whether I used the 

word “accounting”, but definitely I found it strange the way 

that transaction was handled. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Well, the way accounting is done in 

government -- let me see if I have your understanding of that.  

We are in this fiscal year now.  Whatever commitments are made 

to buy something, whether it be a service or an asset, you 

commit this year, you pay this year.  You can’t commit for the 

next fiscal year because Parliament hasn’t appropriated the 

funds yet; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  In the government you are right.  At 
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least at that time I know that the government -- I don’t know if 

they went -- they were going in full accrual accounting, but I 

don’t know if they are already or not, but there were some 

attempts to do that.  But at the time that this happened we were 

still on a cash accounting base, which you have to buy and pay 

everything within the same year. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  And what you can’t do -- or tell 

me if you agree with this -- is that if you were Minister of 

Public Works, you couldn’t have gone to any company and said 

“Look, my budget is out of funds this fiscal year, but I am 

promising you that next fiscal year I am giving you 10 million 

bucks.  I am buying this asset or I am going to enter a contract 

with you for 10 million dollars for whatever”, because 

Parliament hasn’t appropriated those funds yet; correct?  You 

can’t make that --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, just be careful here.  It 

depends.  In the case of a sponsorship, you couldn’t have done 

that because we had a yearly budget.  But in other programs --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  --- if you have -- if Parliament does 

appropriate a three-year budget, yes, you can make a commitment 

within those three years. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  But in the case of a sponsorship we had 

no -- I think in the case of Maurice Richard, we yet didn’t have 
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the 4 million dollars annual budget.  We still were going twice 

a year before the Treasury Board.  So we didn’t even have a 

yearly budget.  We had a kind of a six-month budget. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  So on sponsorships we will go 

with that. 

 Mr. Guité could not make a commitment to anybody for 

$750,000 or $75 that it was going to be paid the next fiscal 

year because those funds had not been yet appropriated by 

Parliament; correct? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And you knew these rules, sir, I take 

it, as a Member of Parliament? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And you knew these rules as Minister of 

Public Works? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  So when Pierre Tremblay comes to you and 

says “We are down $750,000 out of our budget this year because 

Mr. Guité made a commitment to VIA Rail to the tune of $750,000 

out of this years budget”, but he did it last year, that was 

wrong, wasn’t it, what Mr. Guité did? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, it was wrong, but I believe that 

that transaction was done in good faith.  I checked, I called 

the President of VIA Rail, Marc LeFrançois.  He confirmed 

himself before this Commission the conversation.  And I asked 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  GAGLIANO 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  Cr-ex(Dearden) 

12095

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

“Is it true that we owe $750,000?” and he told me the 

circumstances which confirmed what Pierre Tremblay -- the 

circumstances he told me.  And I told -- I thought that this was 

a good faith transaction.  So I didn’t object that they paid.   

 And I think Commission questioned my judgement on that 

yesterday, and I said I believe -- I don’t know if I used the 

word “good faith”.  I am using it today.  But I believe  the 

transaction was in good faith and I didn’t stop the payment.  I 

could have but I didn’t stop the payment because it is a Crown 

Corporation.  The story was confirmed by both sides and I didn’t 

believe that it was harming and I had no reason not to believe 

Mr. LeFrançois or Pierre Tremblay. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  You had no reason to not believe Mr. 

LeFrançois saying that the commitment was made by Mr. Guité, but 

you knew, sir, that he couldn’t make that commitment, that it 

violated the rules of Parliament for the appropriation of funds.  

Mr. Guité could not commit to an expenditure of funds in a 

subsequent fiscal year.  Parliament had to appropriate those 

funds.  And you knew that was wrong. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Theoretically, sir, you are right.  I 

am saying, I believe that, yes, it was wrong but that 

transaction was done in good faith.  So I didn’t stop the 

payment. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay.  Not theoretically, legally I am 

right; correct? 
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 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, I am not a lawyer so I --- 

 MR. DEARDEN:  You are not going to disagree with me; 

right? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No.  No, I am not going to disagree. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I never disagree with a lawyer. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  So why didn’t you stop the payment? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Because I believe it was a transaction 

in good faith. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Sounds like the perfect client, Mr. 

Fournier. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  I have no complaints, sir. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  And as I understand it, Mr. Gagliano, 

just to finish off here, you didn’t look to see whether there 

was a business case in writing for this transaction.  You didn’t 

look to see if there were any contracts in place for this 

Maurice Richard transaction. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  You just accepted on good faith. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I accepted that both versions was 

confirmed.  I had confidence in both gentlemen.  I thought this 

was a good faith commitment and I didn’t stop the payment. 

 MR. DEARDEN:  Okay. 

 Thank you, sir.  Thank you, Mr. Gagliano. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you, Mr. Dearden.
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 I think it is your turn Mr. Fournier.  Mr. Fournier. 

--- CROSS-EXAMINATION BY/CONTRE-INTERROGATOIRE PAR  

MR. FOURNIER: 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Hello, Mr. Commissioner. 

 Mr. Gagliano, I usually start by saying that my name 

is Pierre Fournier and I represent Mr. Gagliano.  I imagine I 

don’t have to tell you that. 

 Let’s begin at the end, if you will. 

 When you left the Department, what did you do with the 

documents you had at the Department? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Everything was –- all documents from 

the Department, from my office at the Department, everything was 

transferred to the Department, and I think all the documents, as 

a member of Parliament on Parliament Hill, were transferred to 

the National Archives. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Did you yourself destroy any documents 

at all? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, no documents. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Did you ask anyone to destroy documents 

for you? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  If you would look at exhibit P-200, on 

page 118 you will find a submission to Treasury Board. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  It’s the one from September ’97, and in 
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that submission we find, on page 121 in English and page 12 in 

French of the text that was read to you earlier.  You will find 

it on page 122 --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  --- under Public Works and Government 

Services Canada, which reads 

“Public Works and Government Services Canada 

through the Advertising and Public Opinion 

Research Sector will ensure that the creative 

services, media buys, sponsorships, promotions 

and any other marketing initiatives conform with 

established Treasury Board policy and guidelines 

and that they provide added value to the Crown.” 

 When you signed this submission to Treasury Board, did 

anyone tell you you should sign it? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  As with every submission to Treasury 

Board, I always signed it with the recommendation of my Deputy 

Minister. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  When you received the Deputy Minister’s 

recommendation to sign a document containing the words we just 

saw together, what does that tell you about what was done within 

your Department? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  It tells me that what we ask will be 

done in accordance with Treasury Board policies, rules and 

guidelines. 
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 MR. FOURNIER:  At any time, Mr. Gagliano, did you ask 

anyone not to follow Treasury Board guidelines --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Never. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  --- or policies? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Never. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  At any time, did you conduct audits 

yourself to ensure that all guidelines and policies were being 

followed? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I relied on my Deputy Minister, as it 

was his responsibility.  The minister doesn’t go into an 

official’s office, open the file and check that the contracts 

are signed or that the invoices are in good order and that the 

authorization for the payment is done in accordance with 

administrative legislation. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  I understand you feel it wasn’t your 

job to do that? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Am I also to understand that even if 

you thought you should do so, you did not have the time to do 

so? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Impossible. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  You discussed with Mr. Roy a number of 

your duties as minister, minister in charge of various Crown 

corporations, Minister of Public Works, member of various 

Cabinet committees --- 
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 MR. GAGLIANO:  All the Cabinet committees. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  --- all the Cabinet committees, you 

chaired one of the Cabinet committees, in fact, a long list of 

duties were entrusted to you, but also political 

responsibilities: regional minister, et cetera. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  And member of Parliament.  Don’t forget 

that. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  And member of Parliament. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I had to get myself elected every time. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Yes. 

 And in all those duties, at any time while you were 

fulfilling those duties did the Prime Minister criticize the way 

in which you carried out your duties? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, I don’t recall him ever criticizing 

me. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Did your fellow Quebec ministers ever 

criticize you in any way? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No.   

 We had disagreements about matters that we each were 

trying to push in Cabinet.  That happens in all cabinets or 

boards of directors, but we had –- I always had good 

relationships, and there was never a complaint.  On the 

contrary. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  And on the part of your fellow members 

of Parliament for Quebec, and obviously, I mean from the Liberal 
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Party? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Of course I had a good relationship as 

political minister.  It’s an additional responsibility that you 

have to look after the caucus, coordinate the caucus and ensure 

that the caucus supports the government.  If the caucus doesn’t 

support the government, well, it wouldn’t be able to pass the 

legislation it wanted in the House of Commons or the Senate.  So 

it was one of those duties. 

 Of course, sometimes I would have arguments with 

members in the sense that he would ask for something, and the 

answer wasn’t always yes.  They represented their constituents. 

 But generally speaking, I had good relationships with 

them and I never received a formal complaint. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Within the Department of Public Works, 

could you tell the Commissioner, please, if there were files of 

greater importance than the sponsorships? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Of course.   

 It’s a big department.  It’s practically the one 

department that enables the whole governmental machine to 

operate.  I think that even here, the Commission, this whole 

great organization, Public Works is in charge of it.  So --- 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Careful, Mr. Gagliano.  There was a 

power failure yesterday morning. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, but that was Hydro Ontario. 

(LAUGHTER/RIRES) 
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 MR. GAGLIANO:  It’s provincial, not federal, as we 

used to say. 

 But I mean there are a number –- but, of course, my 

main concern was the big file.  It wasn’t necessarily fit-ups. 

 But my first file was, when I arrived at the 

Department, the privatization of maintenance services in all 

government buildings across the country; meaning that government 

employees no longer carried out maintenance duties in the 

buildings, but they were given to the public sector. 

 Of course, this meant laying off a large number of 

public servants, et cetera, so it was still a file –- plus there 

was a public tender, which was also complicated because there 

were debates: should one company be given everything, or should 

it be done by region?  In any case, there were all those options 

to be examined. 

 So that took me, I would say, my first six months with 

the Department.  Of course, as soon as I arrived, the dispute 

with Canada Post was already looming on the horizon, labour 

dispute, and Canada Post was well known for having, at that 

time, that labour dispute, and it was –- it lasted more than a 

year.   

 I still have the scars, because I occasionally gave 

advice, had discussions with the Chairman of the Board and the 

President of the CIO during the strike that if there were –- as 

a Quebec minister, we in Quebec believe that when there is a 
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strike, you have to respect the strike. 

 So I told them, as a Quebec minister, as your 

minister, I would have trouble defending strike-breakers to 

deliver the mail, so if there is a strike, there's a strike, 

shut down operations and we will each assume our 

responsibilities. 

 And also when the back-to-work legislation, for the 

first time in Canadian history, when a salary clause was 

included in the back-to-work legislation, that it was less than 

what had been offered in the final offer during negotiations and 

during the ice storm, when I toured the post offices in the 

disaster areas, I can tell you, Mr. Commissioner, they kicked me 

out right away, the union members.  They had a grudge against 

me.   

 So they were difficult times, but I also had good 

times.  I succeeded in having an agreement on affordable housing 

negotiated, for example, the first agreement with the provinces 

was signed in Quebec with Louise Harel.  That was yet another 

file.   

 Housing took a lot of my time because the transfer of 

social housing to the provinces, in Ontario it was hell because 

Premier Harris, we were transferring it to the provinces, and he 

was transferring it to the municipalities. 

 Everyone was running around like crazy and it took me 

a good while, but we finally got things moving.  The helicopter 
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 THE COMMISSIONER:  --- grateful. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Mr. Gagliano, without going over all 

the files, but in terms of proportions, what proportion of your 

time did the sponsorships take up? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Listen, very little.  It’s very 

difficult -- I would say between 5 and 10 per cent of my time, 

maximum. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  So, you mentioned the trust that you 

had in your officials regarding compliance with policies, et 

cetera, and you also told Mr. Roy that you had not been notified 

about the Ernst & Young report. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes.  I was never notified about the 

report, never briefed on the report. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  When did you learn of its existence? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I learned of its existence when I 

returned from Denmark, when the Standing Committee on Public 

Accounts debates began. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Yet you had received a briefing 
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concerning the internal audit that you had requested? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  I would ask you to examine G-4, please. 

 In G-4, when we look at the upper portion, the part -- 

when I say the upper portion, I mean the portion preceding the 

first line that crosses the entire page.  Do you see what I 

mean? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  It reads: 

[ENGLISH] 

“Gagliano → Rules: competing everything over 25K 

= CIO ↓ why not same rules for CCSB”  

[TRANSLATION] 

 Does that bring back a portion of the conversation 

that you had during the briefing? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, because during the briefing, of 

course, we found out that, yes, the communications firms were 

selected by competition, but once that was done, there was no 

further competition; that is, it was Mr. Guité or Mr. Tremblay 

who decided, using the list of firms that had qualified, to give 

mandates for doing sponsorships and therefore were not in 

compliance with Treasury Board procurement policy.   

 And I remember that when I became the minister 

responsible for the Canada Information Office, I was the one who 

had to provide answers during question period for the Canada 
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Information Office, and I was asked why contracts were not being 

awarded through bids.  It wasn’t -- the Information Canada 

contract wasn’t competitive and, of course, the response I had 

been given, which was written by the officials, was:  “Yes, 

those contracts are competitive.”  I was uncomfortable because 

the amounts of the contracts were over $25,000.   

 And I met with Mr. Lafrenière and said: 

“Mr. Lafrenière, explain this to me.  I don’t understand.  You 

tell me they’re competitive.  It’s a $60,000 contract, and the 

maximum allowed by Treasury Board is $25,000.”   

 And that’s when I learned that when the Canada 

Information Office was created, it had been given a higher 

amount, and it had received an extension from Treasury Board 

when it was created.   

 And I said “Listen, it makes me uncomfortable as 

minister in charge of procurement.”  I would preach to my 

colleagues:  “…to make sure the $25,000 was complied with, and I 

don’t want to be responsible for an organization that has more.  

This has to be changed.”  Mr. Lafrenière told me:  “Let me look 

into it.  I’ll get back to you.”  And at the end, he said 

“Listen, changing it, going to Treasury Board and having it all 

changed will take a long time.  I’ll write you a letter and you 

will sign it and send it to me, that Marc Lafrenière has made a 

commitment that from now on, all contracts above $25,000 have to 

be competitive.”  And this is what I said:  “I did that at the 
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CIO.  How come the CCSB isn’t following the same rules?”   

 That, I think, is the meaning of Mr. Quail’s note. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  The note above reads: 

[ENGLISH] 

  “Asked about turn over to RCMP 

  Rick says it is not criminal” 

[TRANSLATION] 

 First of all, which Rick do you think he was referring 

to? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I don’t know.  There was Norman 

Steinberg at the meeting and another person.  Was it Rick 

Neville --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Someone else said that it was 

probably Mr. Neville. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Neville -- Rick Neville was Assistant 

Deputy Minister for Treasury Board, and I see a note above that 

says we gave a 45-minute telephone briefing or would be giving a 

45-minute telephone briefing to the Treasury Board President, 

and I know they did it.  Now, I don’t remember if it was before 

or after my briefing.  And in looking at this note, I don’t know 

if the second person that was with Mr. Steinberg was Rick 

Neville or not, but there were two people, besides Mr. Quail and 

Mr. Stobbe, at the briefing meeting. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  So if I understand correctly, you have 

also answered the question I had concerning the first note.  The 
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first note, for you, is what was told to you, either that the 

Treasury Board President was going to be briefed or had been 

briefed.       

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, definitely, the Treasury Board 

President had been briefed almost at the same time as I was, I 

would say, or before or after because I remember that at a 

Treasury Board meeting before we started, Ms. Robillard came to 

see me and said:  “Well, I heard you were having problems in 

your communications outfit.”  So she knew about it. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  You were questioned yesterday -- I 

should have said two days ago -- by Mr. Roy, and I don’t know if 

you have Volume 68 of the transcripts.  I think I see some 

transcripts in blue to the right.  If you could find Volume 68.  

The date was February 2. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  February 2, yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Yes.   

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Page? 

 MR. FOURNIER:  If you would go to page 11691. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  One one six nine one (11691). 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Line 20. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  There, Mr. Roy said to you -- I don’t 

know, have you found --- 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 

 MR. FOURNIER:  On line 20, Mr. Roy said to you:   
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"Mr. Ouellet, who testified before this 

Commission, referred to the rollover of BCP’s 

contracts from 1993 or 1994 --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Excuse me, Mr. Fournier.  Page 11691? 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Yes.  You don’t have that? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, the line, he says --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I don’t have the same quote.  You 

are on 11691? 

 MR. FOURNIER:  I must say, Mr. Commissioner, that I 

don’t have the book.  I have the version I found on the 

Internet. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I’ll lend you my copy. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  That wouldn’t be much help.  I could 

find mine, but I could quickly find that passage on the paper 

copy.  So what I am going to ask you, Mr. Gagliano, is to listen 

attentively to what Mr. Roy was telling you.  I will read it to 

you because obviously, the pages are not numbered the same way. 

“Mr. Roy:  Mr. Ouellet, who testified before this 

Commission, referred to the rollover of BCP’s 

contracts from 1993” --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I’ve found it. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Could you tell the witness where it is? 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  It was on 11692. line 20.  The 

following page. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  I must have written it down wrongly. 
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 MR. GAGLIANO:  Thank you, Mr. Commissioner. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Thank you, Mr. Commissioner. 

“I questioned him as to whether he had had -- 

whether he had been asked, whether BCP had been 

recommended to him, and Mr. Ouellet said it was 

the shareholder’s wish to renew BCP’s contracts; 

is that correct?” 

 And then I said that Mr. Ouellet’s version was a 

little more nuanced. 

 Now, please take Volume 59; I think you might need Mr. 

Roy’s help with that. 

 Do you have Volume 59?  January 20, in the revised 

version. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Fifty-nine (59).  I have 54. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  If you don’t have it in that stack of 

volumes, Mr. Gagliano, you’re going to need a little help. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No, I don’t have it.  It isn’t in the -

- I can’t find it in the book, Mr. Roy. 

 Which volume? 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Fifty-nine (59). 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Fifty-nine (59).  I’ve go 54, and then 

it goes to 62. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  The revised version, please. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Okay.  We don’t have the --- 

 MR. FOURNIER:  You don’t have the revised version.  
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Well, I hope we’ll find the right page. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  What page? 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Page 10455, if the page numbers are the 

same in the revised and unrevised versions. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Okay. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  At line 21; it should start with Mr. 

Roy. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  “So, staying with your own 

experience...”; do you have the same thing? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No.  It’s Mr. Roy, but he isn’t saying 

the same thing. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Okay. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I’ve got it. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  I’m going to read it to you, Mr. 

Gagliano, so listen carefully. 

 By Mr. Roy: 

“So, staying with your own experience, must we 

conclude that from ’99 onwards you would have 

consulted Minister Gagliano, who held the 

portfolio at that time?” 

 Mr. Ouellet: 

  “Yes, first.” 

 Mr. Roy: 

“And that it would have been his wish –- or on 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  GAGLIANO 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  Cr-ex(Fournier) 

12112

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

his instruction, that you renewed the BCP 

contract?” 

 And Mr. Ouellet’s answer was: 

“I think that Mr. Gagliano always said to me, 

‘Are you comfortable with this firm?  Does it do 

good work?  Yes.  Fine, go ahead and approve the 

contract renewal.’” 

 Does Mr. Ouellet’s answer reflect what you 

experienced? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  My next question isn’t for you, Mr. 

Gagliano. 

 Mr. Commissioner, yesterday, I asked -- because I 

couldn’t find the word “pending” in Ms. Bouvier’s examination -- 

so I asked if it could be located.  I don’t know if it was 

located or not. 

 MS. COSSETTE:  Well, Mr. Commissioner, we checked for 

it.  It seems that it was an interpretation of the evidence in 

various passages of Ms. Bouvier’s explanations, both with 

respect to her testimony and what we found in her notes. 

 So, there is no specific passage as such, and I 

understand that my colleague, Mr. Roy, forgot to specify this 

fact, but it will be up to you to weigh the evidence 

accordingly. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you.  Does that suit you? 
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 MR. FOURNIER:  That suits me, but I won’t have any 

questions on the subject since --- 

 As for the millennium case, a quote was read to you -- 

and I’m not about to ask you to find the books -- but a lengthy 

excerpt from Mr. Lafrenière’s testimony was read to you. 

 I would like to quote another excerpt, which was taken 

from my cross-examination of Mr. Lafrenière, in Volume 45; you 

don’t have to look at it, but I’ll read it for the purposes of 

the case. 

 In Volume 45 of the transcript of December 6, 2004, 

page 7818, line 14, it says the following. 

 By Mr. Fournier: 

“And do I understand that the Minister discussed 

those two stages with you?  Did he speak to you 

about his meeting with Mr. Scully?” 

 Mr. Lafrenière: 

  “Yes, yes.” 

 Mr. Fournier: 

“Is it not correct that the Minister had told you 

at the time he had convinced you to go ahead with 

this sponsorship that it was because promises had 

been made to the Bronfman Foundation?” 

 Mr. Lafrenière: 

  “Yes.” 

 Mr. Fournier: 
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  “Before your arrival?” 

 Mr. Lafrenière: 

  “Yes.” 

 Mr. Fournier: 

“And that monies had been invested in that 

project, which would be lost if the project could 

not go ahead?” 

 Mr. Lafrenière: 

  “That was his rationale, yes.” 

 Mr. Fournier: 

“Yes.  And did you verify whether or not the 

reasons he had given you were true?” 

 Mr. Lafrenière: 

“It was plausible –- as I said, it was a program 

that could fit in except that, for us, we found 

it a bit expensive.  But as a position it was 

legitimate.  That’s why we accepted it.” 

 First of all, does Mr. Lafrenière’s version jibe with 

what you remember? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  And was it true that, according to the 

information you had at the time, monies had been invested in the 

project which would be lost if you didn’t go ahead? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  That was the information given to me by 

Mr. Axworthy, I believe, of the Bronfman Foundation. 
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 MR. FOURNIER:  Just a further explanation now, 

concerning the Old Port.  Rest assured, I won’t go over 

everything Mr. Dearden went through with you this morning. 

 Were you aware that the Old Port of Montreal 

Corporation had asked Real Property Services in the Department 

of Public Works to fund the purchase of that giant screen? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I think so.  Mr. Lamarre was in the 

habit of informing me, because of the Old Port’s special 

administrative situation.  It was a subsidiary of the Crown 

corporations, but it reported to Public Works and to the 

Minister.  So, he often met with me.  

 MR. FOURNIER:  Did you agree with this first request? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Of course.  I believed in the Science 

Centre project.  I think it was an ideal opportunity for that 

historical centre in that not only tourists, but also all our 

school children could -- so, I encouraged the construction of 

the Science Centre.  And of course, the fact that the Centre was 

completed, was beautiful, but there was no sign, no involvement.  

We couldn’t advertise.  So naturally I helped, but it didn’t 

work out at the time.  

 MR. FOURNIER:  When you say “I helped”, did you talk 

about the possibility of funding through Public Works budgets?  

Did you talk about it with your Deputy Minister? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I think I discussed it with Mr. Quail.  

It was a bit of a difficult period for the Old Port of Montreal, 
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because when the programs were reviewed, there was a mandate.  

That is, we had given mandates to Crown corporations stipulating 

that by a given date, they had to stop running a deficit and 

they had to --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Budgets were a little tight all 

around, weren’t they? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Exactly, but we did more than that.  

For instance, take Canada Post: not only did we require that it 

make a profit, but also that it reimburse the government $200 

million. 

 And the Old Port of Montreal hadn’t succeeded -- 

hadn’t balanced its budget.  It was always running a deficit 

through no fault of its own.  It did its level best, but the 

type of business it was doing isn’t profitable, and at that 

time, there was the mandate, a review of the mandate already, 

but a colleague from the Treasury Board who was for 

privatization said, “We, the government, have to get rid of 

that”.  

 So, we made our decision.  We can’t go to the Treasury 

Board and get $1.5 million for it.  They want to sell it.  So, 

it was definitely – we didn’t try, but there was a discussion 

with my Deputy Minister. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  And I understand that you and your 

Deputy Minister were unable to find a solution to a direct 

purchase using departmental funding? 
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 MR. GAGLIANO:  No. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  You also spoke to Mr. Roy about various 

meetings you had with Mr. Guité, sometimes alone, sometimes with 

Mr. Pelletier too, with a view to reviewing the lists, the lists 

of events to sponsor. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  When you reviewed these lists, either 

alone or with Mr. Pelletier, did you ever add events to the 

lists? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  That I --- 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Yes. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Did Mr. Guité ever come up with a list 

and say, “Here, Minister, these are the events I suggest we 

sponsor”, to which you responded, “I’d like to add some”? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No.  When we received applications, we 

sent them to his office.  When he came to see me with the list, 

the list was ready.  We looked it over and questioned some of 

the events.  He came to get some kind of political blessing, 

saying, “So, do you think we can go ahead with this?” 

 MR. FOURNIER:  And did Mr. Pelletier -- when you were 

at the meetings with Mr. Guité, did Mr. Pelletier get him to add 

events? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No.  He did exactly the same thing I 

did.  We asked questions: why this amount for such and such an 
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event, when we thought that maybe it could be negotiated better.  

We could –- you could come back later on and have more money for 

other events.  It was that type –- is this the right target 

clientele, what type of public is it, are there any young 

people.  In any case, that was our concern; we wanted a target 

clientele we could convince, if you will, to become federalist.  

 MR. FOURNIER:  And apart from the requests that went 

through your office and were forwarded to the CCSB, were there 

any other sponsorship request sources that didn’t go through 

your office? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  The -– I’d say that the great majority, 

of course, went directly to the CCSB. 

 A good part of them came to us.  In fact, according to 

the log book, there were 1,168 or 1,186 of them, I think; I 

don’t remember. 

 There may have been a few -– very few -- but some may 

have come from the office -- that went directly to the Prime 

Minister’s Office and were transmitted either directly to the 

Branch or to my office to be sent to the Branch, as in the case 

we saw with Mr. Roy yesterday. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  In addition to that, were there any 

agencies that supplied --- 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, but the agencies worked directly 

with Mr. Guité.  We never had any relations. 

 The only times the agencies presented projects to me 
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was in the company of Mr. Guité -- at the request of Mr. Guité 

and in his presence. 

 So, I --- 

 MR. FOURNIER:  So, after having gone to see Mr. Guité 

first? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, yes. 

 He made arrangements.  They talked. 

 When Mr. Guité asked me if he could present a project 

with an agency, if you will, everything was ready and the 

presentation was just to convince me, because, after all, they 

were fairly big projects for which we had to find additional 

funding that we didn’t already have in the -- in the sponsorship 

budget. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Mr. Gagliano, you spoke earlier about 

your heavy workload as a Minister. 

 How many hours a day did you work? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, I never moved to Ottawa after I 

was elected MP in ’84.  So, I never moved my family. 

 So, I –- I would leave on Monday morning -- as most of 

you are probably doing since the Commission has been in session 

in Ottawa -- early in the morning, on Monday, and I would return 

to Montreal on Friday afternoon. 

 So, I was here alone, and I would get up around 6:00 

a.m., and the chauffeur was at my door at 6:30 a.m., and had 

newspapers in the car.  I was on Parliament Hill no later than 
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7:00 a.m., if there wasn’t any traffic on the bridge, and I 

usually left Parliament Hill to eat dinner, with one public 

servant or another -- or my assistants, and I went home at 

around 9:00 p.m. 

 So, at least 12 to 14 hours a day. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  And you also had your riding. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, that was -- that was on weekends 

or when the House wasn’t in session. 

 I shared my riding with the –- the province and the 

rest of the country because I was a political minister, but also 

a minister for all of Canada, so I was on demand elsewhere and 

had to visit –- all the regions. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  At the end of your political career, 

you were appointed Ambassador to Denmark. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Were you apprised of your performance 

appraisal? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, I received a written appraisal -- 

not only verbal, written –- and I’d say it was a good appraisal. 

 I obtained good results.  I had set up -- that is, I 

found a team there that I -- we worked together and obtained 

good results. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  And since then, I understand that 

you’ve lost your job as Ambassador? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Yes, on –- officially, on March 5, 
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2004. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  There was some publicity involved. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Some?  A lot of publicity. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  A lot of publicity. 

 Could we say that, at the very least, it wasn’t good 

publicity? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Not at all. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  And have you been able to find work 

since -- since you lost your job as Ambassador? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  No. 

 Every time I meet people, they say, “Let’s wait until 

the Gomery Commission is over, then you can come and see us.” 

 MR. FOURNIER:  How has this saga affected you and your 

family? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Well, it’s like -- after spending 

seventeen and a half years in the federal government and seven 

years in school administration, you sort of get used to it, 

because you become thick skinned and get on with it. 

 But it’s very hard on my –- my wife and children.  

Definitely.   

 It isn’t -- it isn’t easy when your husband’s or 

father’s name is constantly on television and radio and in all 

the papers.  It’s -- and it’s negative, not positive. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Did politics make you wealthy? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I would say that it made me poorer. 
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 MR. FOURNIER:  So, in listening to everything you’ve 

just said, I would like to know why anyone would get into 

politics and become a minister? 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  I’m definitely asking myself that 

question today, but at that time, I wanted to change things and 

do something, and I thought --- 

 I started in school politics when the Parti québécois 

was elected in Quebec, and I got into federal politics in ’84, 

so there was already a feeling that things could change, and I 

wanted to be useful, I wanted --- 

 I believe that -- I believe in my country, Canada, and 

I did everything I could to keep the country together and, 

furthermore, I think I did some good things, as Labour Minister, 

as Minister of Public Works and Government Services and as an 

MP. 

 But, what can you do, politics is the most -- the most 

dangerous job. 

 So, you know the rest of the story, and we’ll see how 

it will all end, but I believe that my career has been 

destroyed. 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Thank you, Mr. Gagliano; I have no 

further questions. 

 Thank you, Mr. Commissioner. 

 MR. GAGLIANO:  Thank you. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you, Mr. Fournier. 
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 Does the Commission have any other questions? 

 MS. COSSETTE:  I have no further questions. 

 Thank you. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  No one in the room has any further 

questions? 

 Thank you, Mr. Gagliano, for your tremendous patience 

with these questions; you may go. 

 We’ll take a 15-minute break before proceeding with 

the next witness. 

--- L'audience est suspendue à 10h51/Upon recessing at 10:51 

a.m. 
--- L'audience est reprise à 11h16/Upon resuming at 11:16 a.m. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Good morning, sir. 

 MR. CARLE:  Good morning. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Please be seated. 

 MR. ROY:  Good morning, Mr. Commissioner.  Good 

morning, Mr. Carle. 

 We’re introducing a bundle of documents in binder P-

206 about which I’ll have some questions for Mr. Carle.  The 

binder is called “Documents pertaining to the testimony of Jean 

Carle.” 

 We also received a two-page document this morning -- 

no, three pages --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Handwritten notes? 
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 MR. ROY:  Yes, they are handwritten notes, exactly --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  --- on Mr. Carle’s letterhead as Senior Vice 

President – Corporate Affairs, BDC. 

 We’ll file them as Exhibit 207. 

--- EXHIBIT NO./PIÈCE NO P-206: 

Documents pertaining to the testimony of Jean 

Carle/Documents au soutien du témoignage de Jean 

Carle. 

--- EXHIBIT NO./PIÈCE NO P-207: 

3 handwritten notes from Jean Carle/3 notes 

manuscrites de Jean Carle. 

 MR. ROY:  And I should also have told you that Pierre 

Latraverse, who is on my right --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  --- is the counsel who is representing 

Mr. Carle. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I recognize Mr. Latraverse. 

 Good morning, sir. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Yes. 
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JEAN CARLE, Assermenté/Sworn: 

INTERROGATOIRE EN-CHEF PAR/EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY MR. ROY: 

 MR. ROY:  So, Mr. Carle, could you tell us a bit about 

yourself from an academic, professional and political 

standpoint?  

 You are a public figure.  Many people have followed 

your political career, but, perhaps, for the record, it would be 

useful if you could just remind us of the major highlights of 

your young career.  

 MR. CARLE:  Young career. 

 I studied political science at the University of 

Montreal from ’81 to ’83, after which I worked here in Ottawa 

with the Honourable Francis Fox, who, at the time, was Minister 

of Communications, and who went on to become Minister for 

International Trade.  

 After the ’84 election, I worked for, following the –-

after the defeat in the ’84 election, I worked for –- starting 

in 1985, for the Honourable Jean Chrétien, who was an opposition 

MP, until ’87, at which time I left and went to work for a 

public relations firm in Toronto called Media Profile, which 

still exists. 

 In ’88-’89, I returned to Montreal as director of 

public affairs for BCP, a position that I held until the 

beginning of ’90, at which point work began again on the Liberal 

Party leadership campaign. 
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 Mr. Chrétien became leader of the Liberal Party, and, 

at that time, I was appointed as his executive assistant, a 

position I held from ’90 to ’93, in the official opposition, in 

the Office of the Leader of the Opposition.  

 In ’93, following the election victory, I stayed on in 

the Prime Minister’s Office as Director of Operations.  I was 

primarily responsible for movements, logistics, for planning the 

Prime Minister’s schedule, basically every move he made from a –

- from a national and international standpoint.  I was also 

responsible for the regional aides who would liaise with the 

various caucuses in the five regions of the country.  I held 

this position until ’98. 

 I left the Prime Minister’s Office in February ’98 to 

take up the position of Senior Vice-President, Corporate 

Affairs, at the Business Development Bank of Canada.  I held 

this position until August 2001.  I then worked for a brief 

period for Groupe Rozon, the Montreal Just for Laughs festival, 

and since then I have been self-employed, working as a 

consultant, a businessman.   

 MR. ROY:  I missed the date you started working for 

BDC.  Would you mind repeating it, please?  

 MR. CARLE:  February ‘98. 

 MR. ROY:  Thank you. 

 Would I be correct in stating that you have been 

active in politics for about the past 20 years?  

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  In-ch(Roy) 

12127

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 And, as you mentioned, a number of these years were 

spent working in the Office of the Leader of the Opposition, 

and, obviously, in the PMO, starting in 1993.  

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 

 MR. ROY:  Until you left to work in the private sector 

in 1998. 

 MR. CARLE:  Right. 

 MR. ROY:  I presume that you have been active in the 

Liberal Party for a number of years?  

 MR. CARLE:  Since’ I’d say, about 1982.  I was an 

active member of the Young Liberals of Canada.  So, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  And are you still active in politics?  

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t have as much time these days, but, 

yes, you could say I’m still a Liberal.   

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 Would you permit me to suggest that, during these 

years, a friendship developed between you and Mr. Chrétien?  

 MR. CARLE:  Over the years, definitely.  After 

spending all that time together, yes.  The answer is yes.  

 MR. ROY:  Some people have even gone so far as to say 

that he considered you as a member of his family, almost like a 

son.  Would you agree with this description?  

 MR. CARLE:  I’ll let him answer that question.  We are 
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 MR. ROY:  Do you, yourself, sense this closeness?  

 MR. CARLE:  We’re very good friends, but I’d rather he 

answer that question himself.  

 MR. ROY:  Prior to working in the OLO, the Office of 

the Leader of the Opposition, you participated in two leadership 

campaigns, is that right?  

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, that’s correct. 

 MR. ROY:  And in a few general elections? 

 MR. CARLE:  Right. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, actually, yes, a few general 

elections, one election ---  

 MR. ROY:  And when you were with Mr. Chrétien, during 

the time that he was Leader of the Opposition, what was your 

exact title and what were your responsibilities at the Office of 

the Leader of the Opposition?   

 MR. CARLE:  At the Office of the Leader of the 

Opposition, I was his executive assistant.  I was primarily 

responsible for coordinating his schedule, how he spent his 

time, and his trips outside of Ottawa.   

 MR. ROY:  So, would I be correct in stating that, in 

the end, your tasks, your responsibilities, your assignments, 

call them what you will, remained essentially the same when you 

went from the OLO to the PMO?  
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 MR. CARLE:  More or less.  With --- 

 MR. ROY:  Albeit, perhaps, on a broader scale, given 

the Prime Minister’s greater responsibilities?  

 MR. CARLE:  The Prime Minister’s greater 

responsibilities, as well as the international dimension that 

comes with the machinery of government, meant that the job --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  A busier schedule?  

 MR. CARLE:  It was more complicated.  Not many people 

realize that we are –- we are a member –- we are probably, 

Canada, is one of the countries that belongs to the most private 

clubs around the world.  There’s the Commonwealth, the 

Francophonie, all kinds of clubs to which even the U.S. does not 

belong.  So, it becomes –– in terms of time, yes, it becomes 

difficult to manage. 

 MR. ROY:  Putting this aside –– and I don’t, in any 

way, wish to diminish the importance of the time you spent on 

these responsibilities, but all I wanted to find out from you 

was whether your responsibilities were essentially the same as 

when Mr. Chrétien was Leader of the Opposition.   

 MR. CARLE:  Basically, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 In 1993, when you assumed the functions you described 

to us, who was your superior?  

 MR. CARLE:  Jean Pelletier. 

 MR. ROY:  To whom did you report?  
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 MR. CARLE:  To Jean Pelletier, who was Chief of Staff.  

 MR. ROY:  And would I be correct in stating that you 

also reported to Mr. Pelletier before the 1993 election, because 

Mr. Pelletier had started working for Mr. Chrétien a few years 

prior to then?  

 MR. CARLE:  In July ’91, Mr. Pelletier became Chief of 

Staff at the Office of the Leader of the Opposition, and he 

subsequently kept the same title.  

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 In 1994, following the election of the Liberal 

government, the new government introduced a new policy on 

government contracts.  New guidelines were drawn up to ensure 

greater transparency, competition and fairness in the awarding 

of contracts in the areas of communications, public opinion 

research and advertising.   

 On this matter, I refer you to page 1 of the Volume 

that was filed, Exhibit 206.  

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  I’m not going to read this document out to 

you  -- I’ll spare you that  -- but, would you agree with me 

that, in accordance with notices issued by Treasury Board -- and 

we can see that this document is a contracting policy notice and 

bears the Treasury Board of Canada letterhead –– the Treasury 

Board Secretariat had a mandate to follow up on this matter and 

to ensure that ministers and departments complied with the 
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guidelines?  

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 And, at this time, in 1994, David Dingwall was 

Minister of Public Works? 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 And would I be correct in suggesting that the Prime 

Minister entrusted him with the responsibility of issuing these 

new rules, these new directives?  

 MR. CARLE:  That’s correct. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 And, at this time, Warren Kinsella was Mr. Dingwall’s 

chief of staff? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, that’s right. 

 MR. ROY:  And you had known Mr. Kinsella for a number 

of years? 

 MR. CARLE:  I knew Mr. Kinsella from my time with the 

Young Liberals.  We were both members of the Young Liberals, and 

we also worked together as political staffers.  So, yes, I knew 

him.   

 MR. ROY:  And you spent your early days in politics 

together?  

 MR. CARLE:  You could say that.  Yes, yes, you could 

put it that way. 
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 MR. ROY:  And one might say that your political 

careers developed simultaneously? 

 MR. CARLE:  During a certain period of time. 

 MR. ROY:  Fine.  At that time, was he a friend of 

yours?  

 MR. CARLE:  It depends what you mean by “friend”.  Our 

relationship was strictly a business relationship.   

 MR. ROY:  On October 14, 1994, and I refer you to page 

16 of the binder --- 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  --- to a memo that was sent to you by Mr. 

Kinsella. 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  In his memo, Mr. Kinsella informs you of the 

process that had been put in place regarding the selection of 

agencies that would provide advertising, research, public 

opinion research and communications services.  Mr. Kinsella 

starts off by saying that he was writing further to discussions 

that he had had with you, and I refer you to the introductory 

paragraph.  I quote:  

“Following from our recent discussions regarding 

the procurement of advertising, related 

communications and public opinion research, some 

important issues need to be addressed at this 

juncture.” 
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 So, can we conclude from the excerpt that I have just 

read to you, that, in fact, you did indeed discuss this matter 

with Mr. Kinsella?  

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember having had any 

discussions on this matter, but, obviously, this was a 

government issue, a current issue, a government operations 

issue, but, no, I don’t specifically remember having had 

discussions about this policy.  

 MR. ROY:  You don’t remember.  

 A bit further down, he mentions certain problems that 

had arisen, stemming from the fact that certain agencies, 

certain departments seemed to be ignoring the mandate that had 

been given to the Minister of Public Works, who was responsible 

for ensuring that departments complied with the new policies.   

 Do you remember, during discussions with him, whether 

you talked about problems?  

 MR. CARLE:  No --- 

 MR. ROY:  You don’t remember that either.  

 MR. CARLE:  No, I don’t remember.  

 MR. ROY:  So, I’ll go on.  Mr. Kinsella also refers to 

certain initiatives, including the restructuring of APORD within 

Public Works, as it had been given responsibility for the 

management of procurement for the services we just mentioned.  

 Were you aware at that time –- this was in the fall of 

1994 –- that APORD had been given a mandate to manage 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  In-ch(Roy) 

12134

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

procurement and the awarding of contracts in the area of 

advertising-related communications?  

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  You were unaware of this.  

 So, if you would turn to page 22, which is a letter 

dated March 23, 1995, sent to you by Mr. Guité.  The letter is 

signed on his behalf by his assistant, Ms. Tremblay, and we see 

that a copy was sent to Mr. Kinsella. 

 In his letter, Mr. Guité comes back to the matter, to 

one of the points, brought up in the memo that Mr. Kinsella had 

sent to you, i.e., the growing problems with respect to projects 

involving advertising, research and communications.  He 

complains that certain departments or ministerial offices appear 

to be ignoring the new policy, the new directives, and were not 

proceeding by way of calls for tenders.  He asks that you 

intervene in order to correct this situation and avoid major 

problems.   

 Do you recall having received this memo or this letter 

from Mr. Guité? 

 MR. CARLE:  I had no recollection of it until it was 

shown to me during our meeting last week.  What I would like to 

point out with respect to the documents is that I –– I am not 

denying that I received the documents.  I did indeed receive 

them.  

 MR. ROY:  You don’t deny having received them?  
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 MR. CARLE:  No, no.  I’m sure I received the 

documents.  I’d like to draw your attention to Mr. Kinsella’s 

memo, at the bottom of the page, and I quote:  

“However, political cooperation is also needed.  

I therefore urge you to advise the PM to instruct 

Cabinet as follows:   

- that the Minister of Public Works is the sole 

authority for all processes related to the 

procurement of advertising, related 

communications and public opinion research 

services; and  

- that the PMO and the office of the Minister of 

Public Works will brief all Ministerial staff 

on new process, and all procedures associated 

with that process.”  

 This was not under my authority at the Prime 

Minister’s Office.  My recollections of this matter are very 

vague, but I think I referred the matter to Mr. Pelletier, 

because it was not at all under –– I was not in a position to 

give directives to ministers of the Crown in order to ensure 

compliance with a government policy, especially since I had not 

participated in any way in the planning, drafting and 

implementation of the Treasury Board policy to which you 

referred at the beginning.     

 So, I can only conclude that, if you’ll allow me a 
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certain –– I have no specific recollections, but Mr. Kinsella, 

who knew me –– for him, I was a familiar face at the Prime 

Minister’s Office –– sent me this memo.  I can tell you that I 

did not act on this memo, or on the memo sent to me by Mr. Guité 

in March ’95.  I no doubt referred them to Mr. Pelletier, who 

was responsible for dealings involving Cabinet and the 

ministers, particularly with respect to the application of 

government policies.  

 MR. ROY:  I hear what you’re saying, but, going back 

to the first sentence, if indeed you had a number of 

discussions, because it states “recent discussions”, in the 

plural, would you not have said to Mr. Kinsella, “Listen, I’m 

not in charge of this.  You should direct your request 

elsewhere, ask someone else.  I’m responsible for the Prime 

Minister’s travel.”  So, why did he send you this memo?  

 MR. CARLE:  As I said, I don’t remember this 

discussion, so I can’t speak for him.  I don’t remember the 

discussion I had with him.  

 MR. ROY:  But, if I understand correctly, you remember 

–– you don’t deny that this memo was sent to you?  

 MR. CARLE:  No.  It must have been sent to me.  I’m 

not denying that. 

 MR. ROY:  But you have no memory of discussing this 

matter with --- 

 MR. LUSSIER:  Mr. Commissioner, that’s the third time 
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he’s said it.  I think that’s one of the questions that could 

have easily been put to Mr. Kinsella when he was here.  I think 

the explanations --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  In any case, Mr. Lussier, I 

understood perfectly the answer the witness already gave.  It’s 

not necessary to repeat it. 

 MR. ROY:  So, if I –- what I understand from your 

explanation is that you think you would have passed on this memo 

that Mr. Kinsella sent you -– you would have passed it on to Mr. 

Pelletier. 

 MR. CARLE:  I think I’d say more than that.  I 

certainly passed the memo on to Mr. Pelletier.  It was his 

responsibility to look after the relationship with the Quebec 

ministers. 

 MR. ROY:  And so that he could follow up on it, as Mr. 

Kinsella requested? 

 MR. CARLE:  Listen --- 

 MR. ROY:  The two passages you cited? 

 MR. CARLE:  Listen, it was his responsibility.  If he 

had to follow up on it, it was his responsibility. 

 MR. ROY:  So, how do you explain that a year later, 

you received from Mr. Guité the letter or the communication of 

which there is a copy on page 22? 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Your lordship, it wasn’t a year 

later.  
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 MR. COMMISSIONER:  In any case, that -- you’re right.  

It was more like six months later. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  It was six months.  That’s the 

witness’s explanation in the file. 

 MR. COMMISSIONER:  The initial letter was in '94 and 

Mr. Guité’s memo was in '95.  Perhaps we could say it was the 

following year, okay.  We’ll settle for that. 

 MR. ROY:  So, do you have an explanation, given that, 

as you said, you were not responsible for looking after that 

kind of thing, do you know why it would have been addressed to 

you? 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t know why, no, but what I am 

saying, Mr. Commissioner, is that I would probably have done the 

same thing and passed on that kind of letter to Mr. Pelletier, 

who was responsible for seeing to those --- 

 MR. ROY:  But as far as knowing why it was addressed 

to you, you have no explanation? 

 MR. CARLE:  I have no explanation. 

 MR. ROY:  But you would have done the same thing that 

you would have done with Mr. Kinsella’s memo; you would have 

passed it on to Mr. Pelletier; is that correct? 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s what I’m telling you, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.   

 At the time when Mr. Guité wrote to you in March '95, 

did you know him? 
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 MR. CARLE:  At that time, yes, I knew him. 

 MR. ROY:  You knew him? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  When did you first meet him? 

 MR. CARLE:  The meeting –- listen, I’m going to tell 

you how I knew of Chuck Guité.  I think in late '94, I contacted 

Mr. Kinsella because I wanted to know -- regarding my duties 

concerning the Prime Minister’s travel, we would often find 

ourselves at sites that enjoyed considerable visibility, 

advertising from the federal government or Crown corporations.  

Being well aware that government advertising originated at 

Public Works, I had asked Mr. Kinsella, I think in late ’94, who 

looked after that file, and he was the one who told me it was 

Chuck Guité, who had put me in touch with Mr. Guité.  That must 

have been at the beginning of ’95, I think. 

 MR. ROY:  And you met with him in his office, or did 

he go and meet you in yours?  Do you remember? 

 MR. CARLE:  No.  I think that initially it was a 

telephone conversation.  Whether he called me or I called him, I 

don’t remember.  We talked.  We introduced ourselves and I told 

him who I was and he informed me at that time of certain 

activities that were -- that had a federal advertising presence. 

 MR. ROY:  What activities did he mention? 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, listen, at that time, I think he 

talked to me about the Canadian Grand Prix.  I think he talked 
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to me about the Calgary Stampede.  I think -– I don’t have the 

list fresh in my memory, but it was mostly mass events, major 

events. 

 MR. ROY:  That was in ’94. 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, beginning of ’95 –- beginning of 

’95, end of ’94.  I’d say probably more the beginning of ’95. 

 MR. ROY:  And what use was it to you, that information 

that was transmitted to you by Mr. Guité? 

 MR. CARLE:  In the beginning, it wasn’t much use, 

except that the relationship I developed with him, the fact that 

he kept me informed of events that were receiving sums of money 

from the federal government for advertising helped me to 

coordinate the Prime Minister’s schedule sometimes.  So, there 

were times when we went to places that were –- where the federal 

government was highly visible. 

 So, might as well -- if we’re going to participate, 

let’s participate in the best way possible. 

 MR. ROY:  So, did you understand that it was 

sponsorships that were paid for by the federal government, which 

associated itself financially with certain mass events that had 

a high profile across Canada? 

 MR. CARLE:  At that time, I don’t think we were using 

that term.  It was still -– in any case, to use my own term, it 

was advertising.  We weren’t talking about sponsorships as such.  

It was advertising, and that was it. 
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 MR. ROY:  Did Mr. Guité tell you what sort of 

advertising the government got for associating itself 

financially with those kinds of events? 

 MR. CARLE:  In certain cases, yes, in certain cases, 

no; it depended on the events. 

 MR. ROY:  So, in cases where there was, did he explain 

to you the kind of advertising the government got? 

 MR. CARLE:  At certain times, yes, if the question was 

asked.  So, as I say, in the relationship I had with him, at the 

beginning we mostly talked on the phone.  He told me which 

events the federal government was participating in.  After that, 

it was in the form of draft memos and, as we know, there were 

more official memos about events that were being produced when 

submissions were made to Treasury Board and all that. 

 In my case, the process sort of --- 

 MR. ROY:  Evolved? 

 MR. CARLE:  Thank you, it evolved over the months, 

then over two years, two or three years. 

 MR. ROY:  So, in the beginning, the information that 

you had was –- correct me if I’m wrong -- relatively 

fragmentary; is that right? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, you could use that term. 

 MR. ROY:  And it became more specific over a period of 

months and years? 

 MR. CARLE:  Over a period of months and years, because 
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the budgets also, I think, were increased from what I learned.  

I think there was an increase in the budgets.  So, there were 

more events, obviously, and the events also came forward to 

request funding.  So, it was coming from all sides. 

 MR. ROY:  So, at the time when that letter was sent to 

you, on March 23, ’95, you had already had several conversations 

with Mr. Guité; is that correct? 

 MR. CARLE:  It’s very possible, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  In March --- 

 MR. CARLE:  But not on that topic. 

 MR. ROY:  In March 1995, the government was preparing 

–- correct me if I’m wrong –- for the referendum file; is that 

correct? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Did you know at the time that Mr. Guité had 

been entrusted with certain responsibilities concerning that 

file? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  Did you find out at some point? 

 MR. CARLE:  I found out during the preparation for the 

referendum, but I didn’t have –- that file was really the 

section’s responsibility -- that strategy, in terms of 

communication, was the responsibility of our communications 

office and the PCO communications secretariat, which was given 

the responsibility of looking after strategy development. 
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 MR. ROY:  So, your contact, Mr. Guité, who had been 

mandated to coordinate advertising and communications for the 

referendum, you found out about his involvement later in ’95; is 

that correct? 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, later, in the course of the 

campaign, but our automatic reaction, if I can call it that, at 

the time the referendum was called, was really focused on 

political activities in Quebec.  There was -– we didn’t -- I 

didn’t really ask Mr. Guité whether there were major components 

in British Columbia or Alberta.  We made our plan based on 

Quebec activities more than anything else. 

 So, I can tell you that, from what I just told you, I 

was pleased to know that there was federal advertising at major 

events, but there was a period of time in which I really didn’t 

look after it, because we were focusing on a referendum 

strategy, and the activities were carried out in keeping with 

our political campaign. 

 MR. ROY:  I fully understand.  I simply wanted to try 

to get you to say when, approximately, you became aware that Mr. 

Guité had a role in this file. 

 MR. CARLE:  I found out about it a little bit later, 

as I said, during the referendum campaign, probably because Mr. 

Donolo, who was our Director of Communications, told me. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 MR. CARLE:  It’s the only way. 
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 MR. ROY:  I’m coming back to the letter of March 23, 

1995.  A list of examples provided by Mr. Guité is attached to 

the letter -- page 23, Mr. Carle. 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, thank you. 

 MR. ROY:  Examples of projects in which there had been 

some problems.  In other words, he was explaining by saying, 

“Here are the files with which I had some problems.”  Among 

others, at number 7, we read: 

“Survey on the Buyout of the Western Grain 

Transportation Agency - supplier authorized by 

Department to begin work before approvals 

received from . . . [Public Works]; sole source 

over $30,000 (approximately $50,000 - Earnscliffe 

Group).” 

 Did this register with you when you received this 

letter? 

 MR. CARLE:  I absolutely don’t remember, no. 

 MR. ROY:  Earnscliffe, did that name mean anything to 

you at the time? 

 MR. CARLE:  I’m familiar with that group, yes. 

 MR. LUSSIER:  Mr. Commissioner, I’m sorry.  We’re 

talking about a survey.  I don’t think it’s advertising.  I 

don’t think it’s a sponsorship, and the witness has said that it 

wasn’t his responsibility. 

 I don’t understand, Mr. Commissioner, why this 
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evidence wasn't brought up with Mr. Guité, who wrote the letter, 

when Mr. Carle says that it wasn’t his concern, that it wasn’t 

his responsibility and that he forwarded it to Mr. Pelletier. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you for the clarification. 

 First of all, you’re right in that public opinion 

research matters don’t fall within the purview of this 

Commission of Inquiry, but I must tell you that the government’s 

relationships in general with advertising agencies are, 

fundamentally, our concern.  So, I can’t say that the question 

is irrelevant. 

 We had the right to ask Mr. Guité those questions, I 

suppose, but we didn’t have to, correct? 

 Continue, Mr. Roy. 

 MR. ROY:  So, a month or less than a month after you 

received this letter, which you think you forwarded to Mr. 

Pelletier, on pages 25 and 28 there are two letters drafted by 

Jean Pelletier, Chief of Staff of the Honourable Jean Chrétien, 

one addressed to the Minister of Finance, Paul Martin, which is 

on page 25, and the other, on page 28, to the Honourable Marcel 

Massé. 

 Both letters are identical, and I see in the second 

paragraph that Mr. Pelletier informs both Ministers, and I quote 

In addition, I must inform you that Jean Carle, 

Chief of Operations of the Prime Minister’s 

Office, is responsible for ensuring adherence to 
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this policy. 

 Earlier you told us, Mr. Carle, that after receiving 

the letter from Mr. Kinsella in October ’94, after receiving Mr. 

Guité’s letter in March ’95, you referred everything to Mr. 

Pelletier.  And there I see in two letters sent by Mr. 

Pelletier, apparently following upon whatever preceded, again it 

is stated that you are the one who is responsible for ensuring 

this policy is followed. 

 Do you have an explanation for this? 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Your honour, I object to how the 

question was put.  If we say, “. . . again it is stated that you 

were responsible,” nowhere in Mr. Kinsella’s memo --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  The word “again” is superfluous.  I 

agree. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  There is an attempt to suggest 

something in the question which hasn’t been established in the 

documentary evidence.  I would like my colleague to limit 

himself to asking the witness the question in such a way as to 

allow him to explain, in his opinion --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  You’ve made a clarification that I 

agree with, Mr. Latraverse, but I think the witness can answer 

the question.  And if it’s the very first time he’s asked to 

take on a given responsibility, he can say so in his answer, no? 

 Do you have an answer, please? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, my explanation is more or less the 
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same with regard to both letters.  I saw those letters briefly 

for the first time at our meeting, Mr. Roy. 

 You can see that on the letters, I wasn’t copied on 

those letters, and you can ask Mr. Pelletier the same questions. 

 What I think Mr. Pelletier is saying here, the only 

sense I can make of this correspondence, is that Mr. Pelletier, 

a man whose time was very heavily booked, like all of us, simply 

wanted to tell the minister that if he had a problem, he could 

send it to me so I could forward it to him. 

 I’m interpreting the letter, and I’m saying that I was 

a conveyor of information to Mr. Pelletier, simply because never 

-- I’m not changing my testimony, and I wasn’t responsible for 

ensuring compliance with any policy whatsoever. 

 So, I think that Mr. Pelletier simply wanted to notify 

the Minister that if he had a major problem, he could still 

refer to me, and the message would be forwarded to Mr. 

Pelletier. 

 MR. ROY:  Now I refer you, Mr. Carle, to page 31.  

Three months after Mr. Guité wrote to you, in March 1995, Ms. 

LaRose wrote to Warren -- I’m assuming it’s Mr. Kinsella -- 

about the National Research Council.  This is what she says to 

him: 

“I have just received a call from Chuck.  He has 

been asked, while on holidays, by several 

advertising agencies the status of the results 
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for the . . .[NRC] Council's agency selection 

held on December 15, 1994. 

There is pressure by the private sector as to 

when the results of this competition will be 

released. 

You, Chuck and Jean Carle discussed this issue 

some time ago. 

  Thank you.” 

 Did you know Ms. LaRose at the time? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  You didn’t know who she was? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  Do you recall, Mr. Carle, discussing a 

problem related to the method for selecting agencies to do work 

for the National Research Council and that you discussed this 

with Mr. Kinsella and Mr. Guité? 

 MR. CARLE:  Not in the least. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Again, Mr. Commissioner, a document 

is being interpreted. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  No, it’s not an interpretation.  

The document doesn’t need to be interpreted, Mr. Latraverse.  

There’s a statement in a memo signed by Ms. LaRose, who worked -

- as we know, she was Mr. Guité’s assistant, and she’s making a 

statement in the letter. 

 The witness is being asked to say whether he was aware 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  In-ch(Roy) 

12149

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

of what she says here.  It’s not an interpretation. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  It’s that, the way in which Mr. Roy 

formulated the question, he talked about the method for 

selecting agencies, whereas the memo only deals with --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Results of --- 

 MR. ROY:  “Agency selection”, first paragraph. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  No.  The memo states: “The status of 

the results to be released”.  It’s not the same thing. 

 MR. ROY:  We’ll read the first paragraph. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Wait, Mr. Roy, please. 

 MR. ROY:  Sorry. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  But, sir, I listened to you.  I 

don’t think the question distorts the memo.  It’s simply a 

request for information from the witness.  I think that if 

you’re making an objection, it’s overruled.  We’d like to have 

an answer, please. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  I’m not objecting in the least to an 

answer being provided.  I just wanted to make sure that the way 

in which questions are formulated, out of fair play, that -- 

that there’s no use of words --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I don’t think, Mr. Latraverse -- 

with respect, I don’t think we could be more fair to the witness 

than to put the document in front of him.  He can read it just 

like us.  It’s very short.  It doesn’t call for interpretation.  

He can read it, like me, and tell us whether he remembers 
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discussing this matter with the people mentioned in the memo. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Okay, I have no objection to this 

question. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Very well.  Okay. 

 MR. CARLE:  The answer, Mr. Commissioner, is that I 

don’t recall this matter. 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 

 MR. ROY:  Now I refer you to page 33.  It’s still in 

1995.  Mr. Kinsella sent a memo dated November 23, 1995, to Ran 

Quail and Jim Stobbe. 

 Did you know at the time who Messrs. Quail and Stobbe 

were? 

 MR. CARLE:  I knew that Mr. Quail was the Deputy 

Minister of Public Works, but I didn’t know who Mr. Stobbe was. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay, for your information, he was the 

Assistant Deputy Minister. 

 So, in his memo -- which speaks for itself, obviously 

-- Mr. Kinsella is informing the recipients of his memo that a 

system is needed, and so I don’t get reproached for 

mistranslating, I’m at the third line of the first paragraph. 

". . . have established a clear requirement for a 

centralized delivery system for the procurement 

and coordination of advertising, public opinion 

research and communication products." 

 He continues, saying, “We”, that is, Kinsella, Stobbe 
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and Quail: 

  “We have discussed this on previous occasions.” 

 It goes on: 

“There is . . . obviously a clear requirement to 

work with the Privy Council Office so that 

communications initiatives can be tied to overall 

government priorities.  PCO and PMO have recently 

expressed similar views.” 

 And then he identifies or makes suggestions as to 

tasks that should be carried out, especially in paragraph 4: 

“Investigate all ‘out-of-home’ advertising and 

potential sponsorship initiatives that are 

available to effectively promote government 

programs.” 

 Turn to page 34.  He identifies the agency that should 

be mandated to carry out these tasks, first paragraph on page 

34, and finally refers -- and, excuse me, in the paragraph I 

just -- the first paragraph, “In my view . . ." and I quote, the 

last line of the first paragraph: 

“Mr. J.C. Guité, current Director General of 

APORS, should be assigned to carry out this 

review on a full time basis.” 

 And then, in the next paragraph, he requests that 

administrative action be taken to assign this task to him and 

that he be provided with the required support. 
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 If you turn to page 35 -- I don’t have a question for 

you yet.  To introduce the matter, I just want to refer you to 

the document I just quoted from. 

 On page 35, Mr. Kinsella answers: --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  It’s Mr. Quail who is answering Mr. 

Kinsella. 

 MR. ROY:  Sorry, Mr. Quail answers Warren Kinsella, in 

which he provides his opinion, saying that it’s “a machinery of 

government issue” and that, while noting the suggestion made by 

Mr. Kinsella, he needed to receive explicit instructions from 

either the PCO or the PMO before going any further. 

 And then, if you turn to page 36, we see a memo that, 

evidently, is from Mr. Kinsella to Mr. Quail, entitled: 

“Re your comments on my memorandum of Nov 23/95 

re APORS” 

 So, he responds as follows.   

 First: 

“There are no specific persons that I would 

identify - rather my comment was that these 

concerns have been expressed at meetings attended 

by PCO/PMO personnel which I was present.” 

 Second: 

“PMO/PCO is aware and this has been discussed 

with the Director of Operations at PMO - it has 

his full support.” 
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 So, am I to understand that when he refers to 

discussions with the Director of Operations at PMO, that’s you? 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, I don’t remember discussions about 

this, none whatsoever with Mr. Kinsella, and, second of all, I 

didn’t have the authority to confirm this kind of -- what you’re 

referring to in the two previous memos, for the Minister of 

Public Works, for Mr. Quail’s office or for Mr. Kinsella 

himself. 

 I don’t recall this discussion, and, secondly, I 

didn’t have that authority. 

   MR. ROY:  Therefore, the answer is roughly the same as 

the one you gave regarding the prior memos --- 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 

   MR. ROY:  --- one from Mr. Kinsella, the other from 

Mr. Guité and, finally, this one.  What you are telling us is 

that you did not have the authority to voice an opinion and do 

something in that file; is that it? 

 MR. CARLE:  Exactly.  I didn’t have that authority. 

   MR. COMMISSIONER:  But, excuse me, Mr. Carle, but an 

issue of authority is one thing.  Sometimes, people discuss 

things that don’t necessarily come under their authority because 

they have a somewhat general authority, right? 

 But I need to know something, please.  Whether you 

remember a discussion with either Mr. Guité, Mr. Kinsella or 

anyone else regarding a promotion for Mr. Guité to expand his 
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area of authority a little, does that mean anything to you? 

 MR. CARLE:  That means nothing to me at all.  I did 

not speak about this with Mr. Kinsella. 

   MR. COMMISSIONER:  Thank you. 

 MR. CARLE:  I see the difference.  I understand your 

question very well, Mr. Commissioner.  There’s an issue of 

authority, and I didn’t have it, but to answer your exact 

question, "Do I have any memory of speaking with Mr. Kinsella 

about what is being referred to here", then the answer is no. 

   MR. COMMISSIONER:  Thank you. 

 MR. ROY:  So, to round things off, you do not remember 

discussing with or being consulted by Mr. Kinsella about a 

recommendation that he made to the Deputy Minister regarding Mr. 

Guité being the right person to be in charge of the system to 

deliver and supply these services? 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 

 I don’t remember this conversation. 

   MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 So, to go back to a question that I asked you before, 

and, in the timeframe of, let’s say, around ’95 to ’96, 

regarding your dealings with Mr. Guité.  Earlier, you briefly 

described for us the circumstances in which you established 

contact with him the first few times. 

 How often did you have discussions or meet with Mr. 

Guité, in ’95 and then in ’96? 
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 MR. CARLE:  I would say roughly four or five times a 

year.  

   MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 And could you briefly describe for us the 

circumstances in which these four or five meetings took place?   

 I don’t want to put you –- mislead you -– when you say 

four or five times, that includes meetings and conversations, or 

are we just talking about meetings? 

 MR. CARLE:  I would say, there were perhaps a few 

additional phone conversations.  So, four or five informal 

meetings, and perhaps a few phone calls to confirm certain 

facts. 

 These meetings usually took place at my office –- not 

usually –- these meetings took place at my office, in the 

Langevin Building, and Mr. Guité showed me a list of events that 

received federal advertising.  

 So, they lasted, I would say, 15 to 20 minutes.  These 

meetings were no longer than that. 

   MR. ROY:  And what kind of information was there on 

these lists? 

 MR. CARLE:  Various events.  There were series. There 

were major events, local events.  It wasn’t divided up according 

to province.  It was a list, a long list more than anything 

else, and the names of the events which --- 

   MR. ROY:  Were there any amounts included in this 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  In-ch(Roy) 

12156

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

information? 

 MR. CARLE:  Not at the beginning.  At the start of 

’95, I don’t recall the first lists that I looked at with him.  

I don’t recall any amounts.  It was later on that amounts were 

added. 

   MR. ROY:  Later, when? 

 MR. CARLE:  I would say in ’96. 

   MR. ROY:  So, the lists were more comprehensive at 

that time, in ‘96? 

 MR. CARLE:  More comprehensive -- it was the same kind 

of list except that there were amounts associated with the 

sponsorships. 

   MR. ROY:  And now you are using the term sponsorship.  

You understood --- 

 MR. CARLE:  We used –- in ’96, we started to use this 

word more than advertising. 

   MR. ROY:  And in your mind, did you make a distinction 

between advertising and sponsorships, or was it a question of 

semantics or what? 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, at some point, it came down to 

almost the same thing: it was visibility.  It was –- the 

government was paying for visibility.  So what kind: was it in 

print, was it onsite?  There were different kinds.  We kept the 

word advertising as perhaps the general term. 

   MR. ROY:  And did you understand from these meetings 
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with Mr. Guité that he was the one who prepared the lists? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

   MR. ROY:  Did he explain to you the basis on which he 

came up with these lists? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

   MR. ROY:  He didn’t explain to you where these names 

came from, whether they were events that he was suggesting, or 

had agencies brought them to him? 

 MR. CARLE:  He certainly never spoke of agencies that 

generated any lists.  However, he made some comments at times 

about events that had made requests. 

   MR. ROY:  M’hm.  In other words, who submitted 

sponsorship requests to him? 

 MR. CARLE:  For visibility, yes, to him.  It also 

happened, I should tell you, that we received requests for 

financial assistance.--- 

   MR. ROY:  Directly? 

 MR. CARLE:  --- Directly at the Prime Minister’s 

Office.  It was not unusual to receive a request from a local 

organization, and I mean from everywhere across the country to 

some extent.  My regional assistants who covered the caucuses 

were also asked by MPs about how to go about getting federal 

advertising. 

   MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 And what was the goal of these meetings of which you 
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think there were about four, I think, four or five annually?  

Why would you meet, –- were they one-on-one meetings with Mr. 

Guité? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, of course. It was just the two of us.  

There were a few meetings afterwards with Mr. Pelletier, but, in 

the beginning, they were just meetings with him.  He showed me 

his list.  I tried, with my, if I can call it my "deck" for the 

Prime Minister, in which there was an international component, 

an Ottawa component, a national component, a component --- 

   MR. COMMISSIONER:  But let’s get back to the question 

because it’s very important.  

 What did you understand?  What was the purpose of 

these meetings. 

 MR. CARLE:  I was trying to see whether there were 

major events which the Prime Minister could participate in. 

 MR. ROY:  And so the importance to you or the purpose 

of these meetings was to see to what extent these events might 

be worthwhile, and, keeping in mind the Prime Minister’s 

schedule, whether the events could fit into the Prime Minister’s 

schedule so that he could take part? 

 MR. CARLE:  Exactly. 

 MR. ROY:  And if the Prime Minister could not attend, 

did other ministers attend? 

 MR. CARLE:  Of course. 

 MR. ROY:  So, it was only in this context. Mr. Guité 
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did not come to see you to ask for your opinion, your view or 

advice on the events, on the sponsorship activities? 

 MR. CARLE:  No.  It happened on a few occasions that 

he asked me –- that he made comments to me.  He asked me to 

comment on -– certain events, and I don’t remember, but it could 

have happened, but it didn’t happen as a general rule. 

 MR. ROY:  He never sent you lists by either e-mail or 

fax so that you could have a look at them and then get back to 

him after with anything that might be of interest to you? 

 MR. CARLE:  No, I have no recollection of that at all. 

 MR. ROY:  It was always a meeting --- 

 MR. CARLE:  Usually, it was a meeting at my office. 

 MR. ROY:  Is there a reason why it was done at 

meetings rather than another way? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  Did he ask to meet with you or did you ask 

him to come and see you in your office? 

 MR. CARLE:  I think it was on both sides.  I would ask 

him if he had a list that was more -- that was updated, and if 

he updated the list or changed anything, he informed me.  

 MR. ROY:  Did you meet in his office? 

 MR. CARLE:  I met him in his office once, for a very 

special case. 

 MR. ROY:  The promotional items? 

 MR. CARLE:  The promotional items. 
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 MR. ROY:  That we’re going to talk about a little 

later on, but apart from that, you never met him to discuss the 

sponsorship events? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  If I’m not mistaken, you didn’t keep 

any day planners from those years in the Prime Minister’s 

Office? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  So, we’ll have to refer to Mr. Pelletier’s 

day planners to try and see how many meetings were held with Mr. 

Pelletier and Mr. Guité, for instance, and that’s in Exhibit 

200(a).  It’s a little five- or six-page document, and it’s the 

day planner –- it’s called “Excerpts from Jean Pelletier’s 

Agenda". 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, I have it. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay?  The first time you had a meeting with 

Mr. Guité in Mr. Pelletier’s presence -- and here, you can look 

at page 2 in the day planner -– was on April 15, 1996. 

 Do you remember that meeting? 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t clearly remember it, but it 

certainly took place.  If he marked it, it’s certain that it 

took place. 

 MR. ROY:  Why is it that instead of meeting Mr. Guité 

one on one in this case, as was the case for the other meetings 

about which I’ll be questioning you, you met him with Mr. 
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Pelletier? 

 MR. CARLE:  Simply because Mr. Pelletier wanted to be 

informed to some extent about the situation, the way the 

sponsorships, the projects were being distributed across Canada.  

He was interested in knowing that, in being kept abreast of 

that. 

 MR. ROY:  So, when Mr. Pelletier took part in these 

meetings with you, it wasn’t just so you could see if there were 

events that you would want the Prime Minister or the Ministers 

to participate in, but also so you could look at the regional 

aspect of the sponsorships, how they were being distributed 

across Canada; is that it? 

 MR. CARLE:  In my case, it was purely for logistical 

reasons. 

 MR. ROY:  But --- 

 MR. CARLE:  So my presence at those meetings had to do 

with the Prime Minister’s schedule and the logistics for the 

ministers. 

 MR. ROY:  I understand, but you were present for the 

discussions in which Mr. Pelletier and Mr. Guité participated? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Good.  So, what I want to know is why did 

Mr. Pelletier attend these meetings? 

 MR. CARLE:  To be kept informed.  To be kept informed 

of how the list was divided, which events were taking place, if 
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there were any opportunities for the Prime Minister –- the same 

reasons I did, he wanted to try to maximize the presence of 

federal politicians at these events. 

 MR. ROY:  That was the only purpose? 

 MR. CARLE:  That was the purpose.  Sometimes 

suggestions were made, or we had received files in the Prime 

Minister’s Office, as I was saying, that we referred to Mr. 

Guité.  We sometimes took those opportunities to refer files to 

him and follow-up on them with him. 

 MR. ROY:  You’re using a word we’ve heard here a few 

times, “suggestion.”  In the case of Mr. Pelletier, what did the 

suggestions imply? 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, I wouldn’t want to speak for Mr. 

Pelletier.  It happened --- 

 MR. ROY:  You were there? 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, I was there, but I won’t speak for 

Mr. Pelletier.  He can answer.  I occasionally suggested some, 

and we simply had a file, a letter sent by an organization.  The 

way it worked, if you will, was that we simply passed the file 

on to Mr. Guité and asked him to look at it, to see if it would 

fit in with his budget. 

 MR. ROY:  So, in the final analysis, following these 

meetings in which you and Mr. Pelletier participated, it was Mr. 

Guité who made the decision as to whether or not an event would 

be sponsored? 
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 MR. CARLE:  Absolutely. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  So, Mr. Carle, during these 

meetings, you discussed the list prepared by Mr. Guité, but if I 

understood you correctly, he received other documents on those 

occasions, either from you or from Mr. Pelletier or other 

sources, a letter addressed directly to the Prime Minister’s 

Office, for addition to the lists or for consideration? 

 MR. CARLE:  Exactly, yes, that happened. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  And with suggestions? 

 MR. CARLE:  Sometimes there were suggestions, yes. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Yes, thank you. 

 MR. CARLE:  Certainly, if Mr. Guité saw a file that he 

had never seen before or from an organization that he didn’t 

know and we knew it for whatever reason, we may have briefed him 

--- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  You may have told him that it was a 

good opportunity to increase the government’s visibility or that 

type of thing? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, of course.  We certainly made 

comments of that nature. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you. 

 MR. ROY:  At this first meeting with Mr. Guité, did 

you know before April 16, 1996, that Mr. Guité had contacted Mr. 

Pelletier and maintained relations with him to discuss the 

sponsorship events, projects and activities?  In other words, 
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did you know before that first meeting when the three of you got 

together that Mr. Guité had access to the Prime Minister’s 

Office to discuss that type of project? 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, I don’t know exactly when he might 

have met Mr. Pelletier or known Mr. Pelletier.  I don’t know 

that. 

 MR. ROY:  But my question was more specific.  When you 

met him for the first time, according to Mr. Pelletier’s day 

planner, taking it for granted that the three of you had your 

first meeting together on April 16, ’96 -- and I have no reason 

to doubt the entry in Mr. Pelletier’s day planner –- at that 

time, on April 15, ’96, did you know that Mr. Pelletier had 

already been meeting with Mr. Guité for a while? 

 MR. CARLE:  I have no idea.  That’s what I’m telling 

you.  I don’t know. 

 MR. PRATTE:  I’m sorry for interrupting my colleague, 

Mr. Roy; unfortunately, I haven’t got the day planner, but as I 

remember it, this meeting was the first one with Mr. Guité that 

was marked in Mr. Pelletier’s day planner? 

 MR. ROY:  That’s what I said. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I think that the paragraph 

introducing the document seems to indicate that the document was 

prepared by the lawyers of the two parties after they examined 

Mr. Pelletier’s day planner, and I’m taking for granted that it 

was complete in the sense that all the entries in Mr. 
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Pelletier’s day planner are reproduced on this list. 

 So, in that sense, I think that there is no indication 

that there were other meetings between Mr. Guité and Mr. 

Pelletier besides the ones marked here, unless there were other 

meetings that weren’t marked in Mr. Pelletier’s day planner. 

 MR. PRATTE:  Of course, Mr. Commissioner.  All I’m 

saying is that, to my knowledge, there is nothing in the 

evidence so far that would indicate that there had been some 

type of connection prior to April 15.  That’s all I wanted to 

indicate. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Unless the witness says so, but 

surely Mr. Pelletier told us that he had met Mr. Guité on other 

occasions.  That is the sense in which the question is being 

asked. 

 MR. PRATTE:  Very good.  With the qualification that I 

made, I apologize, Mr. Roy. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you.  Please continue. 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Very good.  With the qualification 

that I made, I apologize, Mr. Roy. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you. 

 Please continue. 

 MR. ROY:  During that type of meeting, since there 

were many others in 1997 and just before you left in February 

’98 about which I’m going to question you, can you give us -- 

can you tell us the number of events or activities about which 
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you and Mr. Pelletier may have made suggestions to Mr. Guité? 

 MR. CARLE:  Over the course of all the meetings? 

 MR. ROY:  No, during each meeting, if you take them 

individually. 

 MR. CARLE:  Sometimes, we didn’t make any; sometimes, 

we made two or three.  It was minimal. 

 MR. ROY:  It was very minimal. 

 MR. CARLE:  It was minimal. 

 MR. ROY:  So, we’re talking about only a few events 

each time. 

 MR. CARLE:  During the -– yes.  During the meetings, 

yes.  But let me give you another example.  We sometimes 

received correspondence between –- how can I say this -- between 

meetings.  So, we didn’t necessarily wait until the next meeting 

was scheduled to send the request, otherwise the event may have 

already been over.  So, we sometimes received some and sent them 

directly to Mr. Guité’s office.  So, it would be somewhat 

difficult to quantify them. 

 I’m telling you there were less than 100 during those 

years.  There were a few.  But they were transmitted in a 

different way, in a practical way.  If we happened to receive 

them in time for the meeting, it was done at the meeting, but 

between meetings, we obviously sent them by fax or courier. 

 MR. ROY:  And during these meetings, sir, in which you 

evidently participated, did you ever discuss increasing or 
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decreasing the amount of a sponsorship? 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember, no. 

 MR. ROY:  You don’t remember? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  If you look at Mr. Pelletier’s schedule or 

day planner, you’ll see that in 1997, you met Mr. Guité with Mr. 

Pelletier five times, and once before your departure in February 

1998; correct? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Mr. Collet attended, took part in one of 

those meetings, the one on February 19, ’97. 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Before I ask you about the subjects 

discussed, because I see that there were two meetings eight days 

apart, February 11 and February 19, after that meeting, did Mr. 

Guité have to go back to his office, redo his homework and 

finalize the lists, and then return them or send them back to 

you again? 

 MR. CARLE:  Not to my knowledge.  No, not that I 

remember.  He would send us an update when he updated them, but 

he didn’t necessarily update the lists at our request.  He 

accepted -- sometimes, he accepted; sometimes, he didn’t accept 

our requests. 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember what the purpose of this 

exercise was?  Were you aware of the funding method for the 
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sponsorship activities? 

 MR. CARLE:  No, not at all. 

 MR. ROY:  You never learned over those years that the 

sponsorship activities were funded through a national unity 

reserve? 

 MR. CARLE:  I found out afterwards, but not at the 

time -- not at that time. 

 MR. ROY:  What do you mean by afterwards; after the 

Auditor General’s report or while you were --- 

 MR. CARLE:  While I was working in Ottawa, because it 

was the subject of a Treasury Board submission, quite simply, 

but that’s the only --- 

 MR. ROY:  So, you knew that there was a process 

involving a Treasury Board submission? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, Mr. Pelletier had given me that 

information, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Did he explain that one of the purposes of 

those meetings with Mr. Guité was precisely to finalize the 

lists so that a Treasury Board submission could eventually be 

made? 

 MR. CARLE:  Mr. Pelletier didn’t explain that to me, 

but Mr. Guité would arrive with lists of events that were really 

quite complete.  He made his own lists.  I don’t remember a work 

meeting during which we drafted a master list for a Treasury 

Board submission. 
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 MR. ROY:  That wasn’t my question.  I want to know if 

you knew that, ultimately, those lists had to be finalized in 

order to make a Treasury Board submission. 

 MR. CARLE:  I didn’t know the -- I didn’t know the 

timing of that, no. 

 MR. ROY:  I’m not talking about the timing.  I’m 

talking about the knowledge you acquired from your conversations 

with Mr. Pelletier that at some point, those lists were going to 

be used for a Treasury Board submission. 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, I found out before it was done, 

before it was submitted to the Treasury Board, but the lists 

were prepared by Mr. Guité.  

 MR. ROY:  The first Treasury Board presentation or 

submission, Mr. Carle, dates back to the fall of 1996, at which 

time Ms. Marleau was Minister of Public Works.  

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  So, would I be correct in stating that you 

had been informed at that time that a Treasury Board submission 

would be made, based on the lists drawn up by Mr. Guité?  

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, most probably.  Mr. Pelletier would 

have told me so, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Were you informed that the submission had to 

be signed by the Minister of Public Works and by Mr. Chrétien? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  You didn’t know that? 
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 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  You were unaware of the actual 

technicalities?  

 MR. CARLE:  I wasn’t involved in that at all, at all.  

 MR. ROY:  During the two years in question, '96, '97  

-- I don’t include '98 because you left quite early on in '98 –– 

were you aware, during these meetings with Mr. Guité, that there 

was a lot of pressure from various sources to increase federal 

government sponsorships?  

 MR. CARLE:  Yes.  Mr. Pelletier had spoken to me about 

that.  After --- 

 MR. ROY:  Am I –– excuse me.  Finish your answer.  

 MR. CARLE:  After the referendum, there was a desire 

to increase the federal presence, visibility.  It was no secret.  

 MR. ROY:  Am I to understand that you knew, at the 

time, that one of the government’s key approaches was, 

specifically, to use sponsorships to promote the federal 

government’s visibility?  

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  And Cabinet was aware of this, as were the 

people in the Prime Minister’s Office?  

 MR. CARLE:  Well, yes.  Let me put it in the context 

of advertising in general.  We always tried to use the best 

medium, and advertising was one of these. 

 MR. ROY:  Again in '96, '97, were you aware of the 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  In-ch(Roy) 

12171

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

budget that was available to fund these types of initiatives?  

 MR. CARLE:  No, the overall budget, no. 

 MR. ROY:  Was there no limit?  Was it possible to 

access all of the money?  Let me ask you this:  in your opinion, 

was it possible to access all of the money to fund these types 

of activities?   

 MR. CARLE:  As I said before, I was not in any way 

involved in these technicalities.  I believe that those who were 

responsible did their job in a responsible manner.  I don’t 

think there was laxity in terms of spending, but I was not 

involved in the financial operations.   

 MR. ROY:  No, no.   

 That I understand, but what interests me is what you 

knew about the funding process itself.  Were you told that there 

were limits for the funding of these types of projects?  

 MR. CARLE:  No, nobody said anything about that. 

 MR. ROY:  Nobody mentioned limits? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  During these meetings with Mr. Guité, did 

Mr. Pelletier ever express concerns to the effect that, 

nevertheless, at some point, there needed to be limits?   

 MR. CARLE:  Not while I was present.  No, I don’t 

remember hearing anything like that.  

 MR. ROY:  And you never heard Mr. Guité talking about 

the enormous pressure, given the fact that he was flooded with 
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sponsorship requests and that he wanted to have more money to 

fund these types of initiatives?  

 MR. CARLE:  No, I never had any discussions with 

Mr. Guité in that regard.  

 MR. ROY:  And you were not present at discussions he 

had with Mr. Pelletier regarding this matter?  

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I believe it’s time for lunch.  

We’ll start up again at 2:00.   

 Oh, just a minute. 

 I believe it is the general wish of those of you who 

come from Montreal to leave a bit earlier today, since it’s 

Friday.  Some others are booked on the evening train.  

 Therefore, I suggest we take a shorter lunch break and 

that we come back at 1:30 instead of 2:00, so that we can finish 

by 4:30 this afternoon.   

 So, let’s take a shorter lunch break today, okay?  

 We will resume at 1:30.  

--- Upon recessing at 12:30 p.m./ 

    L’audience est suspendue à 12h30  

--- Upon resuming at 1:36 p.m./ 

    L’audience est reprise à 13h36 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you.  Please be seated.   

JEAN CARLE, Resumed/Sous le même serment: 
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--- EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY/INTERROGATOIRE-EN-CHEF PAR 

Me ROY (cont’d/suite): 

 MR. ROY:  Mr. Carle, I would like you to look at 

Volume 33, which is the transcription of Mr. Guité’s testimony 

given on November 3, 2004.  I refer you, first of all, to page 

5652 --- 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

   MR. ROY:  --- line 19. 

 The Commission counsel is questioning Mr. Guité and 

asks him the following question:  

“Now, as you -- and you spoke to them because you 

had close relationships, professional 

relationships with Mr. Gagliano, Mr. Pelletier and 

Mr. Carle?” 

 Guité: 

“M'hm. Correct.” 

Finkelstein: 

“You worked closely with them in the advertising 

and sponsorship area.” 

Guité: 

"Correct." 

  Next page, Finkelstein: 

“In fact, those men approved the sponsorship 

events, didn't they?” 

  Guité: 
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“Correct.”  

  Finkelstein: 

“They approved the agencies that the events were 

going to go to?” 

Guité: 

“Correct.” 

Finkelstein: 

“They approved the amounts that were going to be 

spent on the sponsorship and hence were aware of 

what the commissions would be.” 

Guité: 

“Correct." 

 Do you have any comments about this excerpt from Mr. 

Guité’s testimony insofar as it refers to you?   

 MR. CARLE:  I disagree with it. 

   MR. ROY:  Very well. 

 I now refer you to another quote, in the same Volume, 

on page 5474 –– no, it’s not in the same Volume.  Excuse me.  

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 

 MR. ROY:  On page 5674, line 3. 

 MR. CARLE:  Excuse me, sir. 

   MR. ROY:  5674. 

 MR. CARLE:  Okay.  Excuse me. 

   MR. ROY:  That’s okay. 

 Line 3.  Finkelstein is again questioning Mr. Guité: 
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“Did you also review the lists in the Gagliano 

years with Mr. Pelletier or Mr. Carle?” 

  Guité:  

“Only at the start of the fiscal year during, I 

think, the first year that Mr. Gagliano was 

Minister. The second year, I think it was done 

with the Minister, Pierre Tremblay and myself, if 

I recall correctly.” 

  Finkelstein: 

“Not Mr. Pelletier?” 

  Guité: 

“Not the second year. I don’t think so, no.”  

  Finkelstein: 

“So is it fair to say that once Mr. Gagliano 

became the Minister or commencing in the second 

year of his ministership, Mr. Pelletier was or was 

not involved in the selection of agencies, events 

and amounts?” 

  Guité: 

“No. PMO was always involved in selecting certain 

events even after the second year that Mr. 

Gagliano was there, but my contact with Mr. 

Pelletier directly in the second year that I was 

there -- in fact, the year that I left, in ‘98-

‘99, that initial meeting in the fiscal year did 
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not happen with Mr. Pelletier and Gagliano.  I 

think it was the year before when Mr. Gagliano had 

just started in the portfolio.”  

  Line 23, Mr. Finkelstein: 

“So when you say PMO, let us talk about people, 

okay, because PMO is ---” 

  Mr. Guité: 

“Okay. Well ---” 

Finkelstein: 

“--- huge.” 

  Guité: 

“Yes. PMO would have been Mr. Pelletier.” 

  Finkelstein: 

“Or Mr. Carle?”  

Guité: 

“Or Mr. Carle, yes. They are the only two people 

in PMO that I dealt with.” 

Finkelstein: 

“And you said commencing in the second year of 

Mr. Gagliano’s ministry; that is, ’98-’99, Mr. 

Pelletier -- you said the PMO had a role in 

approving events, but you didn’t speak to him. How 

do you know the PMO or Mr. ---” 

  Guité:  

“No, no, no. What I said is that on the second 
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year, reviewing the initial list for that fiscal 

year, upcoming fiscal year, Mr. Pelletier was not 

involved. It was strictly with the Minister’s 

Office. His Chief of Staff in those days was 

Pierre Tremblay and myself, and I may have had 

somebody else with me from my staff, but I don’t 

recall.  But during that fiscal year there would 

be input coming in from Pelletier or Jean Carle 

saying “We have received this requisition for an 

event.” They would send it to my office either 

through their support staff and in certain cases I 

would look at them and I would say to my staff, 

“Call back either Jean Carle or Mr. Pelletier’s 

office. I would like to meet with them about this 

specific event.” 

  So, do you agree or disagree with Mr. Guité’s 

explanations or answers regarding your participation in the 

overall event selection process? 

 MR. CARLE:  It’s a bit vague, because it corresponds 

more or less to the year of my departure, ’98.  I don’t know 

exactly to which period he is referring, but, during the time 

that Minister Gagliano was Minister of Public Works, I didn’t 

have a lot of meetings with Mr. Pelletier and Mr. Guité.  So, he 

could be referring to a period after I had left.   

 My opinion and my testimony with respect to the 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  In-ch(Roy) 

12178

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

selection of agencies remains the same.  My testimony remains 

the same.  

   MR. ROY:  And when, in the passage I just quoted, on 

page 5675, line 17, he refers to the input he received from you 

and Mr. Pelletier, do you agree or disagree with his statement?  

 MR. CARLE:  I stated in my testimony this morning that 

there were times when we made suggestions or commented on 

certain events.  I believe that –– I don’t think there were any 

suggestions or input from either myself or Mr. Pelletier that 

required a follow-up meeting.  

 So, I disagree somewhat with line 23, 22 and 23.  

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  I know refer you to pages 5668 and 

5669. 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  5668. 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Line 2: 

  “Who did you review those lists with?” 

 Mr. Guité: 

  “With PMO, Mr. Jean Pellieter.” 

 Finkelstein: 

“You reviewed the lists which contained the 

events, the agencies and the amounts with Mr. 

Pelletier?” 

 Guité: 
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  “That is correct.” 

 Finkelstein: 

  “Only Mr. Pelletier?” 

 Guité: 

“In certain cases, Jean Carle was at those 

meetings, but I can’t recall if he was at all of 

them, but I remember lists going to him also.” 

 Line 18.  Finkelstein: 

“What position did Mr. Carle hold?” 

 Guité: 

“Director of Operations, if I recall correctly.” 

 Finkelstein: 

“In the Prime Minister’s Office?” 

 Guité: 

“In the Prime Minister’s Office, yes.” 

 Finkelstein: 

  “He worked with Mr. Pelletier?” 

 Guité: 

  “Yes.” 

 Finkelstein: 

“Mr. Pelletier was the Prime Minister’s Chief of 

Staff?” 

 Guité: 

  “Correct.” 

 Finkelstein: 
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“So when Ms. Marleau was the Minister, you did not 

review the lists with her?  It is fair to say she 

had nothing to do with the administration of the 

Sponsorship Program?” 

 Guité: 

  “That is correct.” 

 Finkelstein: 

“Now, when you reviewed these lists with Mr. 

Pelletier or Mr. Carle, who made the decision that 

an event or an agency or an amount was a go?” 

 Guité: 

“The three people sitting at the table, which was 

myself and either Monsieur Carle and Pelletier.” 

 And he goes on, “We went through the list . . .” etc., 

etc. 

 So, specifically, Mr. Guité answers that the three 

people sitting around the table, namely himself, Mr. Carle and 

Mr. Pelletier, participated in the decision-making process.  

 Do you agree or disagree? 

 MR. CARLE:  I disagree, sir. 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 

 MR. ROY:  I now refer once again to Mr. Guité’s 

testimony, in Volume 34, page 5832. 

 On page 5832, line 11, the Commission counsel refers to 

questions that had been put to Mr. Guité the day before, and says 
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the following to Mr. Guité:   

“Now, when you and I spoke yesterday, you had 

said that the lists that you reviewed with Mr. 

Gagliano later and with Mr. Carle and Mr. 

Pelletier at the time included the agency.” 

 Guité: 

“The list that I reviewed with them personally 

included the agencies.” 

 Question: 

“Do you recall any discussion, oral discussion, 

with Mr. Carle or Mr. Pelletier or Mr. LaRose 

(sic . . .” 

This is clearly a mistake.  It’s Ms. LaRose. 

“ . . . about this -- Mr. Collett -- about this 

list and the fact that it was developed with the 

Lafleur firm?” 

 Guité: 

  “I don’t recall discussing that.” 

 Finkelstein: 

“Did you share the list sent by Eric Lafleur to 

Ms. LaRose on May 29th, 1996 with Mr. Carle or Mr. 

Pelletier?” 

 Guité: 

“I copied their office with the list.” 

 Finkelstein: 
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  “That is the list of May 14th?” 

 Guité: 

“The list of -- the one you referred to as the 

list of ---” 

 Finkelstein: 

“Well, the one at Tab 13 was sent by Ms. LaRose.” 

 Guité: 

“I can’t recall if that was shared with PMO and 

CIO.” 

 Finkelstein: 

“Well, this list at Tab 17, I take it -- and that 

is the one that was sent to Jean Carle, Roger 

Collett for his meeting with Jean 

Pelletier . . .” 

 Incidentally, because we will come back to this later 

in your testimony, he is referring here to the list dated August 

28, 1996.  

 Going on:  

“. . . that list was prepared as a consequence of 

discussions among at least you and Mr. Lafleur; 

correct?” 

 Guité: 

  “Correct.” 

 Finkelstein: 

“Would Mr. Carle have known that that list was 
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prepared as a consequence of discussions between 

you and Mr. Lafleur?” 

 Guité: 

  “I can’t comment on that.  I don’t know.” 

 Finkelstein: 

  “Would he have contributed to that list?” 

 Guité: 

  “I don’t know.” 

 Finkelstein: 

“Is it fair to say that you don’t know whether 

Mr. Carle or Mr. Pelletier knew that the agency 

for all of these events was the Lafleur agency?” 

 Guité: 

“No, I wouldn’t agree with that statement.  I 

think that PMO was aware ---“ 

 Finkelstein: 

“There is no such thing as PMO.  We are talking 

about people here.” 

 Guité: 

“Well, I think that Mr. Pelletier and Mr. Carle 

and Roger Collett at CIO were aware that these 

events were going to Communication Lafleur.” 

 Finkelstein: 

  “Okay.  Now, why would you think that?” 

 Answer: 
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“I think it would be through the normal 

discussion that I would with these people.” 

 Generally speaking, and we’ll get to the list, or 

lists, in a moment, were you aware that a number of these events 

that were to be sponsored by the federal government were events 

that were handled by Lafleur?  

 MR. CARLE:  No, not at all. 

 MR. ROY:  You were unaware that any of the events were 

handled by Lafleur? 

 MR. CARLE:  I wasn’t aware of any events handled by 

Lafleur.  Besides, the lists that are being referred to, I don’t 

know exactly which list they’re talking about, but I never saw 

any lists with the names of agencies. 

 MR. ROY:  But, assuming that you had not seen the names 

of the agencies, my question is the following:  if the lists that 

you saw only listed the names of events and, in certain cases, 

even amounts, from what I understood earlier today, did you know 

that agencies  -- that agencies had been assigned to these 

events?   

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, I knew that. 

 MR. ROY:  Did you know, in certain cases, which 

agencies were responsible?  

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  You didn’t know. 

 So, let’s look at one of these lists, but, first of 
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all, I’d like to ask you the following question:  in your 

opinion, was the Prime Minister’s Office the mandatory gateway? 

In other words, before Mr. Guité could commit the government, did 

he need to have the blessing of the Prime Minister’s Office?  

 MR. CARLE:  Not at all.  Besides, certain events had 

already been confirmed.  When the lists were shown to us, the 

events had been confirmed.  Some had even taken place already.   

 MR. ROY:  At the time, in '96, '97, did you know Ron 

Bilodeau? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, I knew him.  

 MR. ROY:  You knew --- 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, I knew who he was.  

 MR. ROY:  And, as far as you were concerned, what was 

he, what did he do?  

 MR. CARLE:  He was deputy clerk under Ms. Bourgon. 

 MR. ROY:  Did you ever deal with him?  

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  You never spoke to him? 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, I had spoken to him on occasion, but 

I never worked on any files with him, ever.  

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember at some point having 

contacted him to ask him to look into why James Stobbe asked 

Chuck Guité so many questions? 

 MR. CARLE:  No, not at all.  I don’t remember that at 

all.  

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  In-ch(Roy) 

12186

    

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 MR. ROY:  And you don’t remember Mr. Guité having asked 

you, at some point, to get in touch with Mr. Bilodeau and ask him 

to speak to Deputy Minister Quail about getting Mr. Stobbe to 

calm down?  

 MR. CARLE:  No, Mr. Guité never asked me to do that. 

 MR. ROY:  I’d like to refer you to Mr. Bilodeau’s 

testimony, which can be found on page 7993, testimony from 

December 7, 2004, Volume 46. 

 MR. CARLE:  Excuse me, which page? 

 MR. ROY:  Page 7993. 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Here, starting on line 5, I asked 

Mr. Bilodeau whether he had contacted Mr. Quail to inform him 

about a call he had had, and I quote, “from the second floor”, 

and I quote the end of the question:  

“ . . . and I think that everyone understands the 

‘second floor’ to mean the Prime Minister’s 

Office.”  

 Mr. Bilodeau answered: 

  “It’s the Prime Minister’s Office, yes.”  

 My question: 

“Do you recall having informed Mr. Quail that 

some unidentified person in the Prime Minister’s 

Office had asked you some questions about the 
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role played by Jim Stobbe, who was an ADM, who 

was an assistant or associate deputy minister, 

regarding issues within Mr. Guité’s realm of 

responsibility?”  

 Bilodeau answered: 

“Of course, when I saw the note again, I 

remembered it.  I think that Mr. Quail also 

answered a question on that.”  

 Mr. Roy: 

  “Yes, he testified on that matter.”  

 Bilodeau: 

“He testified on it.  Personally, I don’t recall 

this conversation.  Over a period of seven or 

eight years I spoke to Mr. Quail almost every 

week.  He might have asked me what role 

Mr. Stobbe had, but I didn’t know Mr. Stobbe 

myself.  I think that it was in 1996 or 1997.  

I’m not sure of the date.  So I passed on the 

information to the Deputy Minister that I had 

some questions about Mr. Stobbe’s role.  I don’t 

recall whether they came directly from the 

‘second floor’ or whether they had been passed to 

me by someone who said that they had this 

question, but it’s fairly normal for people to 

ask about the role of public servants in 
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departments.  That didn’t surprise me very much.” 

 Mr. Roy: 

“But isn’t it somewhat unusual for someone of 

your seniority, your importance . . . in light of 

the role that you had, to be contacted and asked 

to check what role Mr. Stobbe played in the 

sponsorship issue?”  

 Mr. Bilodeau’s answer: 

“I didn’t take it that the role was being 

questioned but just that the details of the role 

were being requested.  Over the years I have 

often been asked by ministers or political 

offices what the exact role of this or that 

person was in this or that department.  So I 

simply passed on the information to the Deputy 

Minister, the person in charge.  So I wasn’t very 

surprised, sir, to receive that question.”  

 And, then, Mr. Stobbe was asked the same question as 

the one I had put to Mr. Bilodeau, and his answers can be found 

in Volume 40, on page 6897, line 24. 

 Commission counsel questioning Mr. Stobbe:  

 “Then at paragraph nine, you say you recall a 

conversation with Mr. Guité, during which you 

were told that Jean Carle of the PMO had asked 

Mr. Guité who Mr. Stobbe was, and you believed 
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that this question was prompted by -- you say by 

his insisting that information be provided to 

Minister Marleau.  That was your insistence?” 

 Mr. Stobbe: 

  “Exactly.” 

 Finkelstein: 

“Can you describe that conversation with Mr. 

Guité a little more fully, where you were told 

about Jean Carle’s concern?” 

 Stobbe: 

“No, except that -- the only -- I don’t recall a 

detailed discussion -- the exact expressions 

used, but Chuck did tell me that his response to 

Mr. Carle at the time was that “I was only doing 

my job”.  That is what I remember about that 

conversation.” 

 So I’m going to ask you the question a little 

differently.  Do you remember having spoken to Mr. Guité at some 

point and having found out who Mr. Stobbe was? 

 MR. CARLE:  The answer is no. 

 MR. ROY:  I would now like to refer you to page 38 of 

your document binder. 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  On page 38 is an item sent by Ms. LaRose to 

you on May 14, 1996, which is accompanied by several pages of 
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events presented in two parts.  The first part, as she indicates 

in her cover page, represents the commitments, the activities 

for which commitments had already been made, while the 

activities grouped under the second part were in the -- were 

under study, if I may use that expression. 

 And in her communication, in her memo, Ms. LaRose asks 

you to get back to her to discuss the additional sponsorship 

activities from the second part, to the extent that you might 

have an interest and that you might want to contact her 

following receipt of the document. 

 So, do you recall having received these lists around 

May 14, ’96? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember what you did after receiving 

the lists? 

 MR. CARLE:  I kept them for the work I normally did 

with the Prime Minister’s schedule, but I didn’t call Ms. LaRose 

back with any comment. 

 MR. ROY:  Is there a reason why you didn’t contact 

her? 

 MR. CARLE:  No.  I didn’t see the use of contacting 

her.  She had sent me a list and I was compiling what had been 

done on the list for my work regarding the schedule. 

 MR. ROY:  Now, the list was sent to you, Mr. Carle, a 

month after your meeting with Mr. Guité and Mr. Pelletier on 
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April 15, 1996, a list you should have in front of you.  I am 

referring to exhibit 200 --- 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, yes, I have it --- 

 MR. ROY:  --- which consists of excerpts from Jean 

Pelletier’s agenda. 

 So, should we see any connection between the subjects 

that were allegedly discussed during the tripartite meeting of 

April 16 and Ms. LaRose sending a series of -- a list of events 

a month later? 

 MR. CARLE:  Not to my knowledge, no. 

 MR. ROY:  So are you telling us that there was no 

discussion of lists of events on April 15? 

 MR. CARLE:  No, not at all, but I think we must have 

looked at that list, and I think there wasn’t any problem.  I 

don’t think there was any -- nothing comes back to me in looking 

at -- I’m looking at the list.  I don’t think we made any 

suggestions or changes.  It was probably the original list that 

he had shown us. 

 MR. ROY:  So what you are telling us now is that on 

April 15, you think this list that was sent to you by Mr. LaRose 

was the subject of discussions with Mr. Guité? 

 MR. CARLE:  Surely, or a draft of it.  It’s a draft.  

It was in draft form, but it’s certainly the way we discussed 

it. 

 MR. ROY:  And to the best of your recollection, the 
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list was not changed between the meeting you had with Mr. Guité 

on April 15 with Mr. Pelletier and the sending of the list a 

month later? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  And --- 

 MR. CARLE:  I can tell you nothing jumps out at me.  

There’s nothing that would lead me to believe that major changes 

were made. 

 MR. ROY:  So with respect to the amounts, in your 

opinion, those are the amounts that had been mentioned and that 

appear on the list that you received on April 16? 

 MR. CARLE:  Listen, I can’t tell you that.  I don’t 

have --- 

 MR. ROY:  April 15, sorry. 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, listen, I can’t tell you.  I have no 

way to compare. 

 MR. ROY:  So would I be right in saying that what 

leads you to conclude that it’s probably the same list is the 

events that are listed that appear on both lists? 

 MR. CARLE:  In my opinion, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  And when you met with Mr. Guité, was 

there also a similar list of firm commitments and a list of 

possible sponsorships? 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t recall having seen a list of 

possibilities.  We would arrive -- Mr. Guité would usually 
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arrive with a list that was the list. 

 MR. ROY:  For discussion? 

 MR. CARLE:  For discussion. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  But Mr. Carle, I am reading 

Ms. LaRose’s memo, and she says concerning the second list 

If any of these activities are of particular 

interest to you, please let me know. 

 How did you interpret that sentence?  How do you 

interpret it today? 

 MR. CARLE:  Listen, if she wanted more details, if 

there were some that were –- was it a list that was fully 

confirmed or not fully confirmed, I don’t know.  I can’t tell 

you. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Confirmed by whom? 

 MR. CARLE:  By Mr. Guité’s office. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  But obviously, he was seeking your 

input, it seems to me, when he wrote you or his assistant wrote  

If any of these activities are of particular 

interest to you, please let me know. 

 Did -- he was seeking something from you, was he not? 

 MR. CARLE:  Of course, he was looking for an opinion.  

Yes.  That, I’m in full agreement with you, but I’ll give you an 

example, Mr. Commissioner, I’m convinced that, for example, the 

Grand Prix of Canada, by April 15, the Grand Prix of Canada 

needs to know if the federal government’s activity is working.  
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They need to know at that point. 

 So that’s why --- 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I think we should focus our 

attention instead on the second part –- the second list because 

I am –- apparently, the first list was something where a 

decision had already been made, but the second list, it seems to 

me that the decision had not yet been made. 

 MR. CARLE:  It’s possible that we made comments on the 

second list, and that we discussed it.  I don’t deny the fact 

that we certainly had a discussion on the second list; as to 

whether we decided anything at that time, I don’t recall what 

was decided. 

 So we certainly discussed some of the events on the 

second list. 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Because you just said a moment ago 

that you did not recall having discussed anything with the --- 

 MR. CARLE:  No, no, but I didn’t see the difference 

between the second part here.  I’m sorry.  I didn’t look at the 

list properly. 

 MR. ROY:  In taking a quick look at this list, the 

list of events from the first part --- 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  --- would I be correct in saying that Prime 

Minister Chrétien only attended or took part in one event, which 

was the Grand Prix in Montreal, in 1996, obviously? 
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 MR. CARLE:  It’s possible that was the case.  The 

Grand Prix, yes, and possibly the Calgary Stampede. 

 MR. ROY:  But you’re not sure? 

 MR. CARLE:  I’m not sure. 

 MR. ROY:  So, finally, Mr. Chrétien’s participation 

would have been limited to one, possibly two events; is that 

correct? 

 MR. CARLE:  As far as I can recall –- I think so. 

 MR. ROY:  And with respect to the second list, would I 

be correct in suggesting to you that he took part in none of the 

events, or did he take part in some of the events?  We’re still 

talking about ’96. 

 MR. CARLE:  On the second list? 

 MR. ROY:  Yes. 

 MR. CARLE:  If -- on the second list, the only event I 

could see would be the canoe classic that was held in his 

riding, if it received the approval -– if it was part of the 

subsequent list, but I don’t remember. 

 MR. ROY:  And apart from that event, would you say --- 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t see any others. 

 MR. ROY:  --- that there are no others? 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t see any others, not that I can 

recall. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 
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 MR. ROY:  If we look at page 48 --- 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  --- the same day Mr. Guité sent you these 

lists, that is –- sorry –- Ms. LaRose sent you these lists, May 

14, 1996, Mr. Guité sent them to Mr. Stobbe with the following 

note: 

[ENGLISH] 

“Please find enclosed the detailed list of 

projects that was sent to PMO.” 

[TRANSLATION] 

 So those were the lists that were sent to you the same 

day. 

[ENGLISH] 

“This list should not be attached to the Treasury 

Board submission.  A copy was sent to the 

Minister’s office (Mrs. Sharon Schollar) as per 

requested by PMO.” 

[TRANSLATION] 

 Would I be correct in saying that there were only two 

people at the time in the Prime Minister’s Office who dealt with 

Mr. Guité regarding lists of sponsored events? 

 MR. CARLE:  To my knowledge, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  So when Mr. Guité told Mr. Stobbe that a 

copy of the list of projects had been sent to the Prime 

Minister’s Office, namely to you, that this list shouldn’t be 
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part of the submission to Treasury Board, that a copy of the 

list was sent to the office of the Minister as requested by the 

Prime Minister’s Office, were you the one who gave instructions 

that a copy of the list in question be sent to the office of the 

Minister at that time, who was Ms. Marleau? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  And do you know who gave those instructions? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  You don’t know? 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t know. 

 MR. ROY:  Did you know at the time, Mr. Carle, that 

following a decision made by Ms. Marleau, who was Minister of 

Public Works, not to get involved in the sponsorship file, that 

Mr. Guité was dealing with Mr. Pelletier?  

 MR. CARLE:  Mr. Pelletier had told me about it, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember approximately when he told 

you that? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  Did it seem to inconvenience him to have to 

deal with Mr. Guité, or did he just say it like that --- 

 MR. CARLE:  Mr. Pelletier? 

 MR. ROY:  Yes. 

 MR. CARLE:  No, not at all. 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 

 Did he explain the reasons why Ms. Marleau didn’t want 
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to deal with Mr. Guité –- sorry –- the reasons why Ms. Marleau 

didn’t want to deal with Mr. Guité? 

 MR. CARLE:  No.  They didn’t explain that to me at 

all. 

 MR. ROY:  He simply said to you, “The Minister doesn’t 

want to have anything to do with Guité, so I’m the one who talks 

to him.” 

 MR. CARLE:  It wasn’t in those terms.  It was --- 

 MR. ROY:  How was it?  Say it in your own words. 

 MR. CARLE:  The terms were more to have awareness for 

Quebec activities, and I understood that there had been a 

discussion between Ms. Marleau and Mr. Pelletier concerning 

Quebec activities.   

 That was how I understood things. 

 MR. ROY:  But on the event table, there were more than 

just Quebec activities.  There were national activities, as 

well. 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, because it included –- we couldn’t 

just target Quebec.  Requests came in from just about 

everywhere. 

 MR. ROY:  And Ms. Marleau also didn’t want to discuss 

those events with Mr. Guité? 

 MR. CARLE:  That, I don’t know.  I couldn’t tell you.  

I think that for the Quebec events there was an understanding 

between Mr. Pelletier and Ms. Marleau, but for the rest, I 
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couldn’t tell you. 

 MR. ROY:  That it was Mr. Pelletier who was going to 

take care of it? 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 

 MR. ROY:  I would now refer you to page 64 of the 

binder.  We referred to it briefly not long ago, a fax that was 

sent to you by Ms. LaRose, and the final text without 

handwritten notes is on page 67. 

 So the memo was dated August 27, 1996.  It was signed 

by Andrée LaRose for Mr. Guité.  It was addressed to Roger 

Collett, and Ms. LaRose sent you a copy.   

 And, like the previous communication of May 14 sent to 

you by Ms. LaRose, the memo is accompanied by lists of events 

that here again are divided into events that are written in 

stone, if I may use that expression, as opposed to others for 

which no commitments have been made, but there are expectations 

that these projects will materialize. 

 And here, Ms. LaRose or Mr. Guité, should I say, 

points out to the reader, namely you and Mr. Collet, that the 

firm commitments are worth $11,600,000 and that as far as the 

rest go, they are, as I said, projects that are still -- about 

which a decision has yet to be made, although there are 

expectations that these projects will materialize. 

 So do you remember receiving those lists? 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 
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 MR. ROY:  If we compare them with previous lists, do 

you agree with me that the items are largely similar? 

 MR. CARLE:  It’s pretty much the same ones, yes. 

 MR. ROY:  At that time, when you received these two 

lists, Mr. Carle, did you know that most of the events for which 

there were firm commitments were contracts or for sponsorships 

whose contracts had been given to Lafleur? 

 MR. CARLE:  No, I wasn’t aware of that. 

 MR. ROY:  You had to know that Lafleur had some of -- 

looked after some of those --- 

 MR. CARLE:  I knew that Lafleur Communication was a 

supplier. 

 MR. ROY:  Yes. 

 MR. CARLE:  But I didn’t know, at the time I saw these 

lists, how the list had been divided. 

 MR. ROY:  But was it possible for you, in May and 

August '96, to identify a given event and say:  “Ah, yes, I know 

Lafleur has that one”? 

 MR. CARLE:  No, not from the lists, no. 

 MR. ROY:  Not from the lists? 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 

 MR. ROY:  Are you certain of that? 

 MR. CARLE:  I’m certain of that because I didn’t see 

any list with the names of agencies. 

 MR. ROY:  I would refer you to meetings that you had 
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with people from Lafleur concerning the Molson Grand Prix of 

Canada, that you will find on pages 83 and following. 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROY:  So, there’s the first memo, dated April 23, 4 

1996.  Therefore, it preceded Ms. LaRose’s memo and preceded the 5 

second memo of August '96, where your name appears as having 6 

participated in a meeting with other people, including Charles 7 

Guité and Éric Lafleur, to discuss the '96 Molson Grand Prix of 8 

Canada.  So you must have at least known that that event was 9 

being handled by Lafleur? 10 

 MR. CARLE:  As I said, not from the lists, no.  When 11 

we had contact with certain people from the agencies, we might 12 

know.  So, I knew at some point, for example, that Jean Lafleur 13 

was handling certain events, but I’m telling you that I didn’t 14 

know from the lists. 15 

 MR. ROY:  I think my question was more general --- 16 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, I didn’t notice the dates.  It’s 17 

also the first time I’ve seen that document. 18 

 MR. ROY:  I’m going to ask my question in a more 19 

general way:  disregarding the lists, at the time the lists were 20 

sent to you, did you know that Lafleur had contracts with the 21 

federal government through Public Works in the sponsorship 22 

files? 23 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, but I just answered that question in 24 

the same way. 25 
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 MR. ROY:  And how many –- did you have an idea of the 1 

number of contracts Lafleur had at the time? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  No, not at all. 3 

 MR. ROY:  Was it one, or more than one? 4 

 MR. CARLE:  I can’t say.  I didn’t know.  I knew they 5 

were a government supplier.  I knew they worked on government 6 

projects, sponsorship projects.  But to know which ones, it was 7 

only by talking to them, then we would find out as time went on. 8 

 MR. ROY:  So, let’s return to page 83.  You remember 9 

participating in several planning and co-ordination meetings 10 

related to that event, that is to say, the Formula 1 Grand Prix 11 

in Montreal, which was held in June 1996.   12 

 You see your name there, on page 83? 13 

 MR. CARLE:  I see my name, yes. 14 

 MR. ROY:  And you see your name with Mr. Guité’s and 15 

Éric Lafleur’s, don’t you? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 17 

 MR. ROY:  You seem doubtful. 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, I have no way of verifying it.  So, 19 

I assume that I attended the meeting, but I have no way of 20 

verifying it. 21 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  So, we’re going to look at another 22 

set of minutes; perhaps that will help you recall a bit about 23 

what happened. 24 

 On page 86, the minutes of another meeting, on May 1, 25 
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1996, in which you participated with Charles Boyer and Éric 1 

Lafleur.  Do you remember participating in that meeting? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  No, I don’t remember it at all. 3 

 MR. ROY:  You don’t remember it. 4 

 MR. CARLE:  And, listen, Charles Boyer was my Quebec 5 

assistant.  I don’t see why both of us would have been present 6 

at that meeting, so --- 7 

 MR. ROY:  So, in your opinion, is it more likely that 8 

you didn’t participate in that meeting because Boyer was there? 9 

 MR. CARLE:  I can’t say.  I don’t know.  I have no 10 

means of verifying that, Mr. Roy. 11 

 MR. ROY:  But speaking of the Grand Prix as possibly 12 

being the only event Prime Minister Chrétien attended in 1996 -- 13 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 14 

 MR. ROY:  --- do you remember participating in 15 

planning and preparation meetings for that event? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  No meetings come to -- no, I don’t, 17 

because I was doing that all day long, planning the Prime 18 

Minister’s schedule from night to morning –- from morning to 19 

night, 365 days a year, that’s what I was doing.  So, that 20 

meeting in particular, I’m sorry, I don’t remember it. 21 

 MR. ROY:  Those meetings, because we just saw two of 22 

them here. 23 

 MR. CARLE:  Those meetings, then.  I don’t remember 24 

them.   25 
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 MR. ROY:  You don’t remember them. 1 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember them. 2 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember attending the Grand Prix? 3 

 MR. CARLE:  I attended with the Prime Minister, yes.  4 

I went at the same time as he did. 5 

 MR. ROY:  On page 88, there is a list of the people 6 

who received tickets, and under your name, we see:  7 

  2 tickets/Molson Box to be received 8 

  2 tickets/paddock  9 

  4 tickets/gold 10 

And at the bottom, one pass in your name.  So, you would have 11 

had eight tickets plus one pass; is that right? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  If it’s written there, it must be right, 13 

yes. 14 

 MR. ROY:  Did you attend the event? 15 

 MR. CARLE:  As I told you, I accompanied the Prime 16 

Minister to the event.  Did we attend it –- did we stay for the 17 

event?  Yes, I attended the event.  It’s a --- 18 

 MR. ROY:  And what did you do with all the tickets you 19 

were given? 20 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t recall.  I have no idea.  There 21 

were some for the staff.  There were some for the accompanying 22 

group.  I don’t remember. 23 

 MR. ROY:  But we see that for the group accompanying 24 

the Prime Minister, the number of people is given here, and it 25 
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seems that your tickets were separate from the tickets for the 1 

Prime Minister and his entourage. 2 

 MR. CARLE:  As I told you, I have no memory of that. 3 

 MR. ROY:  No memory of that. 4 

 If I understand correctly, there were several 5 

categories of tickets for that event, weren’t there? 6 

 MR. CARLE:  There are several categories of tickets, 7 

yes, for the Grand Prix. 8 

 MR. ROY:  There were Molson Box tickets, there were 9 

paddock tickets, and there were gold tickets.  Am I right in 10 

saying that some of those tickets were more expensive than 11 

others? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 13 

 MR. ROY:  Which ones? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Listen, I don’t know the definition.  I 15 

don’t recall enough to tell you that.  I don’t know. 16 

 MR. ROY:  But you also went to the Grand Prix the 17 

following year? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  The following year, Mr. Guité gave me 19 

tickets, yes. 20 

 MR. ROY:  Yes.  And even though you went both years, 21 

you’re not able to inform us or tell us which tickets were the 22 

most expensive? 23 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, listen, box, I think that must be 24 

the most expensive.  25 
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 MR. ROY:  And paddock, that gives access to the garage 1 

where the cars are? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t recall.  To be honest with you, I 3 

don’t recall. 4 

 MR. ROY:  You don’t recall. 5 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 6 

 MR. ROY:  And those tickets came from where, for '96?  7 

Did they come from Mr. Guité or did they come from --- 8 

 MR. CARLE:  My interpretation is that they came from 9 

Mr. Guité, yes. 10 

 MR. ROY:  From Mr. Guité. 11 

 MR. CARLE:  And in part, I think, they were provided 12 

by the Grand Prix organization, because the Prime Minister was 13 

presenting the trophy. 14 

 MR. ROY:  So, let’s return to the list in question on 15 

page 67.  Am I right to say that you participated in a meeting 16 

with Mr. Pelletier and Roger Collet, who at the time was 17 

executive director of the CIO, Canada Information Office? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 19 

 MR. ROY:  You remember that meeting? 20 

 MR. CARLE:  What I remember, I verified with Mr. 21 

Pelletier’s appointment book.  I recall staying at the beginning 22 

because the CIO also had a list of events where they were 23 

spending money for visibility.  So, my work also consisted of 24 

verifying the CIO’s lists. 25 
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 MR. ROY:  So, why -– what interest would you have had 1 

in looking at the events sponsored by the CIO as opposed to the 2 

events that were on the lists that Mr. Guité had sent to you and 3 

Mr. Pelletier? 4 

 MR. CARLE:  To see whether there was a difference 5 

between the events. 6 

 MR. ROY:  And for what reason?  Even if there was a 7 

difference, what would that change? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, there may have been events we 9 

couldn’t participate in on one list and ones we could have 10 

participated in on the other list. 11 

 MR. ROY:  Did that happen? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  No, that didn’t happen. 13 

 MR. ROY:  That didn’t happen.  And what was Mr. Collet 14 

there for?  Was it to discuss the events that were on the lists 15 

with Mr. Pelletier and Mr. Guité? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  Exactly, and I recall that I left that 17 

meeting shortly after it started.  I didn’t stay for the whole 18 

meeting.  So, I can’t talk about the rest of the meeting, the 19 

content of the rest of it.  I wasn’t there. 20 

 MR. ROY:  And while you were there, what happened? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  We simply compared the two lists.  We 22 

looked at the CIO’s list, the CIO’s preliminary list, and then 23 

Mr. Guité’s list. 24 

 MR. ROY:  So, Mr. Collet brought a list with him --- 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  He had a draft with him, if I remember 1 

correctly, because we compared the two lists.  That was the 2 

reason for my being there. 3 

 MR. ROY:  And on this draft, to use your expression, 4 

there were events that were going to be sponsored by the Canada 5 

Information Office? 6 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 7 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember whether there were several 8 

events? 9 

 MR. CARLE:  It was on one page.  It wasn’t a very, 10 

very detailed list.  It was on one page, but I don’t remember 11 

the details. 12 

 MR. ROY:  Were the events connected? 13 

 MR. CARLE:  I can’t tell you.  I don’t remember.  14 

 MR. ROY:  You don’t remember.  Did you have to make 15 

comments on the events that were on Mr. Collet’s list? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 17 

 MR. ROY:  So you simply looked at Mr. Collet’s list 18 

and then did you say something? 19 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember making any comment, no.  20 

I looked at the two lists.  I looked then I saw how that –- how 21 

it lined up with my schedule, then I took the notes I had to 22 

take at that time. 23 

 MR. ROY:  Did you make a copy of the list? 24 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 25 
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 MR. ROY:  Were there amounts on Mr. Collet’s list? 1 

 MR. CARLE:  Not that I remember. 2 

 MR. ROY:  Were there names of agencies? 3 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 4 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 5 

 Given that you had to absent yourself or leave fairly 6 

early, did Mr. Pelletier debrief you on the part of the meeting 7 

when you weren’t there? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 9 

 MR. ROY:  And you don’t know the outcome of the 10 

meeting? 11 

 MR. CARLE:  No, Mr. Pelletier didn’t debrief me. 12 

(SHORT PAUSE / COURTE PAUSE) 13 

 MR. ROY:  If we look at the list, on page 68, we see 14 

"promotional tools - $900,000”. 15 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 16 

 MR. ROY:  Did you question what promotional tools 17 

meant?  After all, it’s a significant amount. 18 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember questioning that amount 19 

or that item, no. 20 

 MR. ROY:  And did you know what was meant by 21 

promotional tools? 22 

 MR. CARLE:  In part, yes. 23 

 MR. ROY:  Did you know at that time that Lafleur had 24 

been given a contract for promotional tools? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  I was aware that Lafleur produced 1 

promotional tools for the government, yes, for Mr. Guité’s 2 

office. 3 

 MR. ROY:  And when did you learn that? 4 

 MR. CARLE:  In ’96, I had a conversation with Mr. 5 

Guité about promotional articles because --- 6 

 MR. ROY:  Can you tell us a bit about the context of 7 

that conversation? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  We needed –- in the Prime Minister’s 9 

Office, often when we were travelling, we needed promotional 10 

articles to give volunteers, people who worked in hotels or in 11 

some way –- who provided us with services.  So we wanted to 12 

leave a little gift when we left each time, whether it was in 13 

other countries or in Canada.  We didn’t have any promotional 14 

items at all in the Prime Minister’s Office at that time.  I had 15 

spoken with Mr. Guité to ask him who was responsible for that in 16 

the government, whether there was a bank of promotional 17 

articles, a centre where they could be obtained. 18 

 He told me it was the responsibility of his –- I 19 

wouldn’t say his jurisdiction but his unit, and he told me that 20 

he had to place an order in the near future, in fact, so he 21 

would let me know, and that’s what happened.  At some point, he 22 

called me and I went to his office and, when I arrived at his 23 

office, we went into the conference room and Éric Lafleur was 24 

introduced to me; he was from Publicité Dezert and was there 25 
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with a series of articles on display on the table. 1 

 MR. ROY:  I refer you to the testimony on that subject 2 

from Huguette Tremblay in Volume 20, testimony given before this 3 

Commission on October 12, 2004. 4 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 5 

 MR. ROY:  On page 3221. 6 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 7 

 MR. ROY:  So, starting on line 8, Ms. Tremblay –- did 8 

you know Ms. Tremblay at the time?  Did you know who she was? 9 

 MR. CARLE:  I knew she was Mr. Guité’s assistant, but 10 

I didn’t know her. 11 

 MR. ROY:  Ms. Tremblay is being examined by my 12 

colleague, Mr. Cournoyer, on line 8 13 

In this case, I had a list that had been given to 14 

me by Mr. Guité telling me what quantity of each 15 

item to send to the Prime Minister’s Office. 16 

 Mr. Cournoyer 17 

  In other cases? 18 

 Ms. Tremblay 19 

  It was always from Mr. Guité. 20 

 Mr. Cournoyer 21 

  It was always from Mr. Guité? 22 

 Ms. Tremblay 23 

  Yes. 24 

 Mr. Cournoyer 25 
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Did members of the Prime Minister’s Office staff 1 

come to your office to select promotional items? 2 

 Ms. Tremblay 3 

Yes, I remember that Mr. Carle came to our 4 

office. 5 

 Mr. Cournoyer 6 

Can you explain to the Commissioner under what 7 

circumstances Mr. Carle came to your office to 8 

select promotional items? 9 

 Ms. Tremblay 10 

I remember on two occasions, in particular, when 11 

Éric Lafleur came to our office with a sample of  12 

promotional items, a sample of each item, that 13 

were put in –- that were displayed in the 14 

conference room, then Mr. Carle came to the 15 

office to meet with Mr. Guité and they went to 16 

the conference room together.  They were the only 17 

ones there.  I wasn’t there and there was no 18 

other staff member there either, and a selection 19 

of items was made by Mr. Carle. 20 

 And a little further down on page 3223, Mr. Cournoyer 21 

asked Ms. Tremblay about golf balls. 22 

Were there specifically designed golf balls 23 

prepared for the purposes of the Prime Minister? 24 

 Answer: 25 
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  Yes. 1 

 Then she was asked for a description of the golf 2 

balls.  I think golf balls are always pretty similar.  3 

 MR. CARLE:  A golf ball is a golf ball. 4 

 MR. ROY:  On page 3225, Mr. Cournoyer asks the 5 

following question, line 5, page 3225 6 

And, over time, did you have an expression for 7 

Mr. Carle’s visits? 8 

 Answer 9 

Yes.  I called them the government garage sale. 10 

 Line 18 11 

To what extent were the deliveries of promotional 12 

items to the Prime Minister’s Office part of the 13 

Sponsorship Program objectives? 14 

 Ms. Tremblay 15 

I didn’t see any relationship between the program 16 

objectives and the promo items that –- for the 17 

promotional items that were used in sponsorships 18 

I saw the -- the --- 19 

 Mr. Cournoyer 20 

  Relevance 21 

 Ms. Tremblay 22 

--- the relevance there but, for the other items, 23 

no, I never saw any. 24 

 Mr. Cournoyer 25 
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Who made the decisions to make those orders and 1 

have them delivered to the Prime Minister’s 2 

Office? 3 

 Answer 4 

  Mr. Guité. 5 

 So, in light of Ms. Tremblay’s answers that she 6 

remembers seeing you on two occasions when you came to the 7 

conference room to choose from among a number of samples of 8 

promotional items and that you chose a sample of each item; is 9 

that correct? 10 

 MR. CARLE:  It's not correct.  I went there once.  I 11 

made one visit. 12 

 MR. ROY:  Is it correct to say that, on that occasion, 13 

you chose a sample of each item? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Not at all. 15 

 MR. ROY:  Is it correct to say that Mr. Guité and you 16 

were the only ones present? 17 

 MR. CARLE:  No.  As I told you earlier, that was when 18 

I was introduced to Éric Lafleur. 19 

 MR. ROY:  So there were three of you, when you made 20 

the selection? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  There was an associate of Mr. Lafleur’s 22 

but I can’t remember his name. 23 

 MR. ROY:  Was Mr. Guité there? 24 

 MR. CARLE:  Mr. Guité was there. 25 
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 MR. ROY:  Were the items subsequently delivered to 1 

your office in the Prime Minister’s Office? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  To the Langevin Building, yes. 3 

 MR. ROY:  And what quantity might that represent?  Can 4 

you give me an order of magnitude? 5 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, we’re talking about items, we’re 6 

talking about sweaters, tee-shirts, we’re talking about --- 7 

 MR. ROY:  In quantity.  For example, you mention tee-8 

shirts; are we talking about five tee-shirts, 100, 200? 9 

 MR. CARLE:  No, I would say it could be 200 tee-10 

shirts, it could be 200 travel alarms, it could be 250 11 

umbrellas, it could be 150 pens, like that, 200 watches, but not 12 

expensive watches.  So, we’re talking about approximately 20 13 

items from a table where there must have been maybe 100 on 14 

display. 15 

 MR. ROY:  And there would have been only one delivery 16 

to the Prime Minister’s Office following the single visit you 17 

said you made? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  In my time, yes. 19 

 MR. ROY:  Yes --- 20 

 MR. CARLE:  From what I remember, yes. 21 

 MR. ROY:  While you were there. 22 

 MR. CARLE:  While I was there, yes.  Yes, yes. 23 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  Do you remember that there were also 24 

jackets among the items that were delivered? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  We had rain jackets made, yes, jackets, 1 

but not the ones I saw reported in some of the testimony. 2 

 MR. ROY:  With Bluenose insignia? 3 

 MR. CARLE:  No, I didn’t order any jackets with 4 

Bluenose insignia. 5 

 MR. ROY:  With the insignia 001? 6 

 MR. CARLE:  I read that in the testimony, but the 7 

answer is no; I didn’t make an order for that. 8 

 MR. ROY:  You didn’t make an order. 9 

 Are you aware whether that type of jacket was 10 

delivered to the Prime Minister’s Office? 11 

 MR. CARLE:  Not to my knowledge.  I didn’t see it. 12 

(SHORT PAUSE / COURTE PAUSE) 13 

 MR. ROY:  So speaking of the Lafleur family and Éric 14 

Lafleur, if I understand correctly, it was at that time, during 15 

a visit you made to Mr. Guité’s office, that you would have met 16 

Mr. Lafleur for the first time? 17 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 18 

 MR. ROY:  Can you place in time for us approximately 19 

when that visit took place? 20 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember.  I’m sorry --- 21 

 MR. ROY:  Was it in '96 or '97? 22 

 MR. CARLE:  It was in '96. 23 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  Had you met --- 24 

 MR. CARLE:  I would tend to say early '96 but, listen, 25 
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I have no way of checking that. 1 

 MR. ROY:  Had you met Jean Lafleur –- the father, 2 

before meeting his son under the circumstances you described to 3 

us? 4 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 5 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember when? 6 

 MR. CARLE:  I met Jean Lafleur at a political event in 7 

'95.  I think it was in Montreal.  It was at a political 8 

meeting, either a benefit event or something.  He introduced 9 

himself to me. 10 

 MR. ROY:  And did you have occasion to meet him 11 

subsequently? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  I ran across him at some events, yes. 13 

 MR. ROY:  Was it always in a political context? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Often, yes. 15 

 MR. ROY:  But would you say mainly? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  Mainly, yes.  Yes, yes. 17 

 MR. ROY:  Never in a work or business context? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  No.  I didn’t have a working relationship 19 

with him during my years in Ottawa. 20 

 MR. ROY:  And during those years in Ottawa, in '96, 21 

'97, you had never discussed sponsorships with Mr. Lafleur –- 22 

the father? 23 

 MR. CARLE:  No, I never discussed it with him.  24 

However, he mentioned to me that he was doing work for the 25 
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government.  So for him that was natural.  He was a businessman 1 

so he could tell me that he was doing the sponsorship –- I don’t 2 

really know about that.  Let’s take one, just for an example.  3 

But I did not discuss with him –- I didn’t ask him what he did 4 

or what he was working on or anything whatsoever.  It may have 5 

happened that he told me he was working on a particular project.  6 

That did happen. 7 

 MR. ROY:  And do you remember projects he told you he 8 

was working on? 9 

 MR. CARLE:  No, that’s what I just told you.  I don’t 10 

remember which ones --- 11 

 MR. ROY:  There was at least the Grand Prix --- 12 

 MR. CARLE:  The Grand Prix, I remember that because it 13 

was his firm who had worked with –- we have it in the document 14 

here. 15 

 MR. ROY:  And we have seen documents that indicate 16 

that you took part in meetings in –- apart from that event, are 17 

there others you can think of? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  There are none I remember. 19 

 MR. ROY:  I see that before you left the Prime 20 

Minister’s Office in 1998, on February 4, 1998, you apparently 21 

met with Mr. Pelletier, Mr. Jean Lafleur.  22 

 MR. CARLE:  Where is that? 23 

 MR. ROY:  Exhibit P-200(a). 24 

 MR. CARLE:  On what page, excuse me? 25 
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 MR. ROY:  On the first page. 1 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s possible, yes. 2 

 MR. ROY:  That was how long before your departure? 3 

 MR. CARLE:  Two and a half weeks.  I left at the end 4 

of February. 5 

 MR. ROY:  And why would you have met with Mr. Lafleur 6 

in the presence of Mr. Pelletier at that time? 7 

 MR. CARLE:  The only thing that comes to mind is the 8 

fact that his son worked with us during the Team Canada mission.  9 

That's the only reason I can remember it. 10 

 MR. ROY:  But why meet with Mr. Lafleur because his 11 

son had worked on a mission to South America? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  I think that there was a meeting -- it 13 

must -- I think that Mr. Lafleur came by the office to thank, 14 

just to thank Mr. Pelletier for having hired his son for the 15 

Team Canada mission.  Look, I was there.  I accompanied him two 16 

doors further on, but I can't -- it wasn't a business meeting.  17 

It was a courtesy call.  It may have lasted 15 minutes.  I don't 18 

know.  I don't remember.  19 

 MR. ROY:  But the accurate, vivid memory that you have 20 

is that this meeting was only about the experience that his son 21 

had had when he was part of the Team Canada mission and when he 22 

had helped out in the Prime Minister's Office?  Is that right? 23 

 MR. CARLE:  Definitely, yes. 24 

 MR. ROY:  And are you equally clear and precise in 25 
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saying that there was no discussion of sponsorship files; is 1 

that what you're telling us?  2 

 MR. CARLE:  Ah!  I am certain that there was no 3 

discussion of sponsorship files, at any rate, not in my 4 

presence, then, I -- I think it was a very short meeting. 5 

 MR. ROY:  Had Mr. Pelletier warned you before joining 6 

him and Mr. Lafleur for a meeting, or did that come up on the 7 

spur of the moment? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  I can't remember.  I'm sorry.  I can't 9 

remember. 10 

 MR. ROY:  Subsequently, after leaving the Prime 11 

Minister's Office, am I right in saying that your meetings, your 12 

business and social meetings with Mr. Lafleur were much more 13 

frequent? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 15 

 MR. ROY:  Did you become friends with Mr. Lafleur? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 17 

 MR. ROY:  Approximately from when, would you say? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  I would say in the second half of -- from 19 

the second half of '98, when I returned to Montreal. 20 

 MR. ROY:  And what happened in the interval, in other 21 

words, between your departure in February '98 and a little 22 

later, for you to have developed this friendship with Mr. 23 

Lafleur? 24 

 MR. CARLE:  I knew Mr. Lafleur -- Jean Lafleur, very 25 
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little during my years in government and when I arrived at the 1 

Development Bank, he was one of the Bank's suppliers.  It was an 2 

agency for the Bank that was already in place which Mr. Beaudoin 3 

had hired a few years previously.  4 

 MR. ROY:  So --- 5 

 MR. CARLE:  So there was an established business 6 

relationship at that point when I arrived at the BDC. 7 

 MR. ROY:  And the Bank was a client of Lafleur's and 8 

not the reverse.  It was the bank that was giving business to 9 

Lafleur? 10 

 MR. CARLE:  That's right, yes. 11 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember having attended a number of 12 

suppers and dinners with Mr. Lafleur at his residence in Saint-13 

Adolphe-de-Howard? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Some, yes. 15 

 MR. ROY:  And let us now look at your expense account, 16 

which is part of the binder, beginning on page 139. 17 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 18 

 MR. ROY:  Among other things, I would refer you to an 19 

activity that took place in November 1998, which you will find 20 

on page 153. 21 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 22 

 MR. ROY:  On November 17, 1998, do you remember going, 23 

in the company of André Ouellet and Mr. Cauchon, to Mr. 24 

Lafleur's residence in the Laurentians? 25 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  In-ch(Roy) 

12222

    

 MR. CARLE:  Look, I see the expense account, but I 1 

don't remember the actual evening, although I know something 2 

happened that day.  Whether it was at Mr. Lafleur's, I don't 3 

recall.  I don't have access to --- 4 

 MR. ROY:  Mr. Ouellet testified to that effect, does 5 

that assist you? 6 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, I'm sure you're right.  It's highly 7 

possible because, as I told you –- I told you that I was at Mr. 8 

Lafleur's home on several occasions. 9 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  There's a taxi bill for $382. 10 

 MR. ROY:  That's what I wanted to know. 11 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  It's not every day that you take a 12 

taxi for $382, at least I don't. 13 

 MR. ROY:  And the Bank paid for that, if I understand 14 

correctly? 15 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, I'm seeing that statement for the 16 

first time -- I don't know if there were other costs that were 17 

added to that.  I can't tell you that that trip cost $300 -- I'm 18 

surprised myself that the transportation would have cost $382 19 

just for that evening. 20 

 MR. ROY:  There and back. 21 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, I told you, I don't have access to -22 

- I can't see my expense accounts.  I didn't have access.  So I 23 

don't know.  I cannot tell you.   24 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Mr. Commissioner, if I may intervene 25 
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at this point.  1 

 The document that you have before you is a document of 2 

the Commission.  It is not Mr. Carle's expense account as --- 3 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  It's an accounting document of the 4 

Development Bank, but it's apparently based on the amount that 5 

was reimbursed to Mr. Carle, according to his expense account. 6 

 MR.LATRAVERSE:  Yes, but the purpose of my 7 

intervention, with your permission, is that there are expense 8 

accounts that were submitted to the Bank as part of Mr. Carle's 9 

employment as approved by Mr. Beaudoin.  These expense accounts 10 

were used to reproduce a document which is the one you see here, 11 

in which the details are not shown.  The expenditure was simply 12 

identified and this was discussed at our preparatory meeting. 13 

 Since my client has not had not access to the BDC 14 

documents --- 15 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Did he request access to these 16 

documents? 17 

 MR.LATRAVERSE:  Absolutely. 18 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Yes. 19 

 MR.LATRAVERSE:  And I don't want to make here --- 20 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Excuse me, Mr. Latraverse, but on 21 

what occasion did he ask for it, because he was given a copy of 22 

this document. 23 

 MR.LATRAVERSE:  Yes.  Yes. 24 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Yes and --- 25 
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 MR.LATRAVERSE:  I will draw the distinction for you. 1 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  You don't need to draw the 2 

distinction for me.  I understand clearly.  It is not a document 3 

prepared by your client.  It is a document prepared by the 4 

Development Bank and reproduced by the Commission. 5 

 I want to know whether you or your client said:  "No, 6 

no, we are not satisfied with this information.  We want to have 7 

the supporting documentation that was given to the bank by Mr. 8 

Carle." 9 

 MR.LATRAVERSE:  That's why I'm explaining to you.  The 10 

document that you have before you, which is being shown today to 11 

the witness, was shown to him in the context of the preparatory 12 

meeting.  The request that I made, on behalf of my client, to 13 

the Development Bank last year, the Bank refused to act on it.  14 

That's another story. 15 

 But we do not have before us today the supporting 16 

documentation on the basis of which this document was prepared.  17 

That's all I mean.  18 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Maybe you do not have the same 19 

powers as us. 20 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Unfortunately. 21 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  If you had made the request to have 22 

all the supporting details, we sent, I don't know how many 23 

hundreds of subpoenas, one more subpoena more or less doesn't 24 

change very much, and the Bank would probably have disclosed the 25 
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papers in its possession that would satisfy you. 1 

 But the question for today, in order not to waste too 2 

much time, is whether your client is disputing this information? 3 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  In terms of the questions asked 4 

regarding travel and the reasons for the travel, I have no 5 

problem.  The point is neither you, nor the Commission, nor my 6 

client, nor I have seen the document on which the question is 7 

based --- 8 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Obviously, sir, with all respect, 9 

we are not here to help you in proceedings between Mr. Carle and 10 

the Bank, should there be any. 11 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  There aren't any, sir. 12 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  There aren't any. 13 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  There aren't any, Mr. Commissioner. 14 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Very well. 15 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  It's just that in the procedural 16 

process of questioning by my colleague, we must be careful when 17 

we say that information is found in a document prepared by a 18 

third party and --- 19 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  And Mr. Carle is absolutely free to 20 

say, "I do not recognize this document because I do not remember 21 

it." 22 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  That's it. 23 

 So, with regard to the specific version, I have no 24 

problem, but I would point out to you quite simply that it does 25 
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not originate from the witness. 1 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you very much, sir. 2 

 MR. ROY:  And to finish with this question, the only 3 

thing that I can add is that we made the appropriate requests by 4 

means of a writ to the BDC, that they provide us with the 5 

information in the form of statements.  If that will facilitate 6 

things, we will talk to counsel for the BDC and ask him, 7 

obviously with the consent of counsel for Mr. Carle, that he be 8 

given the documents that were completed by Mr. Ouellet on the 9 

basis of which -- Mr. Carle, sorry -- on the basis of which the 10 

statement was prepared.  No problem.  11 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  We'll see whether that will be 12 

necessary later.  Yes.  Very well.  Please continue. 13 

 MR. ROY:  So do you remember exactly what required you 14 

to take this quite expensive trip. Was it in response to an 15 

invitation made to you by Mr. Lafleur to participate, to attend 16 

a gourmet dinner at his property located in Saint-Adolphe-de-17 

Howard? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 19 

 MR. ROY:  In the company of, among others, Mr. Ouellet 20 

and Mr. Cauchon; is that right? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 22 

 MR. ROY:  And do you remember who else was there -- 23 

attended this evening? 24 

 MR. CARLE:  No, no recollection.  I don't remember, 25 
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no. 1 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 2 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember having attended dinners or 3 

brunches at the home of Mr. Lafleur on other occasions, among 4 

others, on November 29, 1999? 5 

 MR. CARLE:  It's possible.  I've no way of checking, 6 

but it's possible. 7 

 MR. ROY:  Just perhaps to help you refresh your 8 

memory, I would refer you to Mr. Ouellet's testimony on January 9 

19, 2005, Volume 58. 10 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 11 

 MR. ROY:  So at page 10,270. 12 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Ten thousand (10,000)? 13 

 MR. ROY:  Two hundred and seventy (270). 14 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Two hundred and seventy (270).  15 

Yes. 16 

 MR. ROY:  So, beginning on line 18, I asked Mr. 17 

Ouellet: 18 

"Before I find the reference, perhaps I could ask 19 

the witness to confirm that he visited Mr. 20 

Lafleur’s home in November 1999, to be exact, on 21 

November 28, 1999, to attend a lunch hosted by Mr. 22 

Lafleur at his residence." 23 

  Mr. Ouellet:  24 

"Yes."  25 
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  Question: 1 

"I know that the press had plenty to say about 2 

these get-togethers.  I would like to hear in your 3 

own words who else was there, besides you?" 4 

  Mr. Ouellet: 5 

"As I recall, I believe that Mr. LeFrançois was 6 

there.  I believe that Mr. ---" 7 

  Mr. Roy: 8 

Jean Lapierre?  9 

  Mr. Ouellet: 10 

I believe Mr. Lapierre was there, and Mr. Cauchon. 11 

 Mr. Roy: 12 

  Mr. Jean Carle? 13 

 Mr. Ouellet: 14 

  Perhaps, yes. 15 

 Mr. Roy: 16 

Who were all accompanied by their wives? 17 

 Mr. Ouellet: 18 

  Of course, yes. 19 

 So, reading this short excerpt of Mr. Ouellet’s 20 

testimony, does that help jog your memory? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, yes I was there. 22 

 MR. ROY:  Did Mr. Ouellet forget anyone or do you 23 

think everyone was accounted for? 24 

 MR. CARLE:   I think everyone was accounted for. 25 
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 MR. ROY:  Do you remember attending hockey games in 1 

the Lafleur box? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, a few.     3 

 MR. ROY:  Please turn to pages 108 and 110 in your 4 

binder.  Page 108 first.  This was when they were playing at the 5 

Molson Centre.  On March 18, 1999, Box 3.68.  Do you remember 6 

the  number of that box? 7 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, I don’t remember the number.  Here 8 

it is, but –- I remember that evening.  When I see the list of 9 

guests, I remember.                   10 

 MR. ROY:  You were there in good company then.  There 11 

were 13 of you, including your colleague Mr. Cauchon, Minister 12 

Gagliano, Éric Lafleur, Jean Lafleur, Mr. LeFrançois, Minister 13 

Marchi, André Ouellet, Jean Pelletier, the late Maurice Richard 14 

and Serge Savard. 15 

 Please turn to page 110.  Do you remember attending a 16 

hockey game on December 7, 1999, again in Box 3.68 at Montreal’s 17 

Molson Centre, at the invitation of Mr. Lafleur, with Minister, 18 

Gagliano, Minister Cauchon, Jean Pelletier, Marc LeFrançois, 19 

yourself and the Germain family? 20 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, I don’t remember that game, but I’m 21 

not saying I wasn’t there.  I don’t remember it, but it’s 22 

possible that I went. 23 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.     24 

 And finally, please refer to Mr. Pelletier’s agenda, 25 
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March 6, 2000 --- 1 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 2 

 MR. ROY:  Very good.  I found it; Exhibit 200(a), on 3 

page --- 4 

 MR. CARLE:  One (1). 5 

 MR. ROY:  Page 1, that’s right.  March 6, 2000:  6 

 "Dinner Jean Carle - Jean Lafleur Hockey". 7 

 Is this another time where you would have attended a 8 

hockey game, and this time combined it with dinner in the 9 

company of  Mr. Pelletier and Mr. Lafleur? 10 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, I don’t know.  I don’t remember.  I 11 

don’t believe there was a dinner before the hockey game.  I can 12 

tell you that I may have attended the hockey game, but I don’t 13 

remember a dinner before the game. 14 

 MR. ROY:  To your --- 15 

 MR. CARLE:  I may have –-, listen, I don’t have any 16 

reason to believe that I didn’t go.  It’s very possible that I 17 

went, but, I can’t --- 18 

 MR. ROY:  Do you know whether Lafleur shared the box 19 

with other agencies, or if it was for Lafleur’s exclusive use? 20 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t know whether it was exclusively 21 

for Lafleur’s use or whether it was shared with other agencies.  22 

I don’t know that. 23 

 MR. ROY:  Do you know that during the same period, 24 

i.e., in '98, '99 and 2000, VIA also had a corporate box? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 1 

 MR. ROY:  Would I be correct in saying that you 2 

attended hockey games in VIA’s corporate box? 3 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 4 

 MR. ROY:  And would I be correct in saying that among 5 

the people whose names were mentioned as having attended hockey 6 

games as guests of Mr. Lafleur, those same people attended, with 7 

you, it would appear, hockey games in the VIA corporate box?  8 

 MR. CARLE:  Occasionally, yes, but I can’t say that it 9 

was always the same people there. 10 

 MR. ROY:  No, no, I agree.  But I’m going to give you 11 

some names.  Did Jean Pelletier attend hockey games with you in 12 

the VIA box? 13 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 14 

 MR. ROY:  Did Marc LeFrançois attend hockey games with 15 

you in the VIA box? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  They were the hosts, so it was a bit --- 17 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  He didn’t attend, he hosted. 18 

 MR. CARLE:  He hosted.   19 

 MR. ROY:  Was Minister Martin Cauchon there when you 20 

attended games? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  Occasionally, yes. 22 

 MR. ROY:  André Ouellet? 23 

 MR. CARLE:  Sometimes, yes.    24 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember meeting Mr. Beaudoin and Mr. 25 
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Lafleur for a meal in a Montreal restaurant?  I won’t give you 1 

the name to avoid giving the restaurant free advertising, but 2 

let’s just say it was a Montreal restaurant and you would have, 3 

at a meal -- I don’t know whether it’s lunch or supper -- met 4 

Mr. Lafleur with Mr. Beaudoin and during the meal, you talked 5 

about BDC leasing a corporate box? 6 

 MR. CARLE:  That meal -- I won’t give the restaurant 7 

free publicity either, but the name was mentioned publicly in 8 

Mr. Beaudoin’s testimony.                           9 

 Before coming here, last weekend, I went there, Mr. 10 

Commissioner, to make sure that I wouldn’t mislead the 11 

Commission. I have never been to that restaurant and the dinner 12 

or meal that Mr. Beaudoin refers to simply did not take place.  13 

That meal did not take place, and that discussion about the 14 

corporate box did not take place. 15 

 MR. ROY:  So, let’s forget the restaurant, the name of 16 

the restaurant, let’s forget about whether it was lunch or 17 

supper.  Let’s stick with a meal that would have taken place 18 

with these three people, meaning you, Mr. Beaudoin and Mr. 19 

Lafleur.  And according to Mr. Beaudoin’s testimony to which you 20 

just referred, the expression "dry cleaning" seems to be the 21 

words used by Mr. Lafleur when Mr. Beaudoin reported certain 22 

problems with the idea of BDC renting a corporate box and there 23 

were attempts to reassure him.   24 

 Do I take it from your last response that, you never, 25 
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at any time, participated in this type of discussion with Mr. 1 

Lafleur and Mr. Beaudoin? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  I never participated in that type of 3 

discussion with those two gentlemen. 4 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Mr. Roy, we’re going to take our 5 

afternoon break, please, 15 minutes. 6 

--- Upon recessing at 3:02 p.m./ 7 

    L'audience est suspendue à 15h02 8 

--- Upon resuming at 3:21 p.m./ 9 

    L'audience est reprise à  15h21 10 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you, please be seated. 11 

JEAN CARLE, Resumed/Sous le même serment: 12 

--- EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY/INTERROGATOIRE EN CHEF PAR MR. ROY 13 

(suite/cont'd): 14 

 MR. ROY:  We found and obtained the documentation on 15 

Mr. Carle’s trip to the reception or dinner at Mr. Lafleur’s 16 

home.   I’m not insisting that it be filed with the Commission 17 

documents. 18 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  You showed it to your colleague and 19 

the matter is resolved?  Thank you. 20 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  The document confirms what I said 21 

about expenses being approved by the president of the Bank. 22 

 MR. ROY:  Before moving on to another topic, Mr. 23 

Carle, I refer you again to the famous list that Ms. LaRose sent 24 

to you on May 14, 1996, Exhibit 206.  25 
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 MR. CARLE:  Which exhibit? 1 

 MR. ROY:  P-206, Book 206, Binder 206. 2 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s mine? 3 

 MR. ROY:  It’s the document in support of -- yes, 4 

that’s it, the orange one. 5 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 6 

 MR. ROY:  On page 43. 7 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 8 

 MR. ROY:  These are the events – just to remind you, 9 

these are the events in the first section.  10 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 11 

 MR. ROY:  So, those for which there was a firm 12 

commitment.  On page 43, it says:  13 

   "Tracking of activities - $1,000,000". 14 

 Does that mean the agency, in this case Lafleur, was 15 

paid $1 million for tracking activities.  Did this attract your 16 

attention when you saw it? 17 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, it didn’t attract my attention.  18 

You’re showing it to me now, but no.  The answer is no.  I 19 

didn’t --- 20 

 MR. ROY:  So what is your interpretation today, when 21 

you see that word?  What would that refer to? 22 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, --- 23 

 MR. ROY:  Activities, I presume it’s sponsorship 24 

activities, but tracking? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  "X" years later, if all the events on this 1 

list took place over two years, ’96-’97, and if there was work 2 

done, I would say tracking activities means follow-up, it’s 3 

production, it’s the work that was done on these activities in 4 

terms of promotion for the government.  Today –- if you ask me 5 

today how I interpret that expense, that would be it.  That 6 

would mean checking promotions, whether there were competitions 7 

to organize, whether there were --- 8 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  That would be my interpretation 9 

too, but I’m not an expert in these matters, however it seems 10 

that it would be a logical interpretation, but you don’t have 11 

specific information on this item? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t have information, Mr. 13 

Commissioner, on this item, and I didn’t raise any questions 14 

about it when the list was sent. 15 

 MR. ROY:  But Lafleur had written agreements with the 16 

Department of Public Works.  In some cases, a contract covered 17 

more than one event, and when Lafleur invoiced it, like other 18 

agencies, Lafleur collected a 12 per cent commission plus 19 

production costs. 20 

 So, when you refer to production, it seems that in 21 

terms of the invoice, Lafleur was already getting paid for that? 22 

 MR. CARLE:  Mr. Roy, I used the word production in the 23 

general sense.  I have no idea about the amounts that were paid 24 

to the agencies.   25 
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 MR. ROY:  Then let’s move on now if I may to a new 1 

theme.  We spoke about it briefly.  Éric Lafleur, you explained 2 

the circumstances under which you met him and I don’t need to go 3 

back over that. 4 

 I also showed you the minutes or reports of meetings 5 

about the Grand Prix. 6 

 Would you say generally that Éric Lafleur did a good 7 

job on the Grand Prix? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  To my memory, yes, but I did not have much 9 

to do with him.  It was more Mr. Boyer from my office who 10 

handled the organization.  11 

 MR. ROY:  And Mr. Boyer never said to you, look, I am 12 

not at all satisfied with the federal government’s visibility.  13 

I think that the logistics issue left something to be desired.  14 

You did not hear this type of comment from Mr.  Boyer? 15 

 MR. CARLE:  Not at all, and just to clarify, in this 16 

case, Lafleur provided support for the Prime Minister’s visit.  17 

It wasn’t -- the Prime Minister’s Office wasn’t involved in the 18 

Grand Prix sponsorship.  19 

 MR. ROY:  No, I understood that clearly. 20 

 MR. CARLE:  But the Lafleur agency was -- managed the 21 

Canadian government sponsorship but because we were on site with 22 

the organization of the Grand Prix, it made it easier from an 23 

organizational standpoint to prepare for the Prime Minister’s 24 

visit. 25 
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 MR. ROY:  And with respect to Lafleur’s 1 

responsibilities, specifically, Éric Lafleur and his team, would 2 

you say that they handled, for example, the layout, security, 3 

the Prime Minister’s travel? 4 

 MR. CARLE:  No, no, they didn’t handle that. 5 

 MR. ROY:  They didn’t handle that? 6 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, not to my knowledge. 7 

 MR. ROY:  On-site operations? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  They were used as a liaison between the 9 

Grand Prix organization and our office because they were on site 10 

to manage the government’s sponsorship.                 11 

 MR. ROY:  Were the logistics handled properly, 12 

everything proceeded smoothly? 13 

 MR. CARLE:  I didn’t have –- we didn’t have a problem 14 

during the event, sir.  15 

 MR. ROY:  One year later, i.e., in May or June 1997, 16 

Éric Lafleur was hired for the election campaign by the Prime 17 

Minister’s Office, is that right? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, he wasn’t hired per se.  He was a 19 

volunteer for the 1997 election. 20 

 MR. ROY:  Please turn to Exhibit P-206, page 129.  21 

This is Mr. Lafleur’s résumé. 22 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 23 

 MR. ROY:  You can see on page 132 of Mr. Lafleur’s 24 

résumé that in May and June 1997, he seems to have been 25 
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assistant to the Director of Operations.  The Director of 1 

Operations was you, at that time, and at the bottom of page 132, 2 

he describes the duties assigned to him at that time, and he 3 

describes his title as regional director of operations for the 4 

last federal election campaign.  And he gives a list of duties 5 

assigned to him, i.e.,  6 

 ". . . manage an operational team in the field, 7 

media, transportation, security    . . . Prime 8 

Minister’s agenda, scenario, co-ordination."  9 

Et cetera, et cetera. 10 

 Before asking you about the job description Mr. 11 

Lafleur provides in his résumé, I would like you to give us a 12 

bit of an explanation about the background, how Mr. Lafleur came 13 

to work -- and I’ll use your expression -- as a volunteer in or 14 

for the Prime Minister’s Office for the federal election held in 15 

June or late May 1997. 16 

 MR. CARLE:  Very simply, he asked me if he could.  He  17 

-- during a conversation, he simply asked me if it was possible 18 

for him to get involved in the campaign and play a role, it was 19 

as simple as that. 20 

 MR. ROY:  And you knew him well enough to be able to 21 

determine that he was able to make a positive contribution? 22 

 MR. CARLE:  He had told me that he was a Liberal.  So, 23 

it began well, and then after that --- 24 

 MR. ROY:  But if you had hired all the Liberals, 25 
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wouldn’t you have had a surplus of employees?  I assume that you 1 

were more interested in his expertise? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  He had a talent for organizing, and well, 3 

look, it wasn’t easy to get people to commit for 35 days, to 4 

second people for 35 days for the elections.  Times have changed 5 

a bit. 6 

 MR. ROY:  So, you knew him well enough as an organizer 7 

to accept his offer, is that right? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  I knew him well enough to accept his offer 9 

to be part of a team.  If I remember correctly, I had six or 10 

seven teams in the province of Quebec, each made up of about 11 

seven to eight people.  He was a member of one of those teams.  12 

So, when I read what you showed me in my document, well, I would 13 

have been very pleased with that because I wouldn’t have had 14 

much to do during the election, but what’s written, to answer 15 

your question, -- I would have found myself -- I would have been 16 

able to take a vacation --- 17 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I was about to ask you exactly what 18 

it was you did.                   19 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, look, -- first of all, there are two 20 

things to consider.  I was -- if I remember correctly, I can 21 

check, I was on leave without pay.  Employees in the Prime 22 

Minister’s Office, we took leave without pay to work on the 23 

campaign.  So, there was no question of hiring people, unless 24 

the Party in Montreal or Ottawa or in a province wanted to hire 25 
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people.  What I remember is that Mr. Lafleur worked as a 1 

volunteer on an advance team -- he was on one of the advance 2 

teams for the province of Quebec. 3 

 MR. ROY:  Can we agree that if during this period when 4 

Mr. Lafleur worked as a volunteer, meaning without compensation, 5 

without pay from the Prime Minister’s Office, he was not on an 6 

unpaid leave from his employer; in other words, if during the 7 

election campaign Lafleur was paid for his services, that would 8 

have constituted an election expense that should have been 9 

reported and accounted for.            10 

 Do we agree on that? 11 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes.  I don’t have a copy of the Elections 12 

Act with me, but I believe --- 13 

 MR. ROY:  That is your understanding? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes.  The people who work, there has to be 15 

a report for --- 16 

 MR. ROY:  Official funds? 17 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 18 

 MR. ROY:  And when you say that he worked as a 19 

volunteer, free of charge, did you, at the time, you or your 20 

people, check to find out whether he indeed was on unpaid leave? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 22 

 MR. ROY:  So, what you’re telling us today is that 23 

there was no election expense associated with the work done by 24 

Éric Lafleur during the '96-'97 campaign? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  No, that’s not what I’m saying.  I’m not 1 

able to check the election report that would have been prepared.  2 

Whether or not his services were reported by the party in 3 

Quebec, I don’t have that information here.  I did not check. 4 

 MR. ROY:  But if he was on an unpaid leave from his 5 

employer, then there aren’t any expenses that have to be 6 

reported.       7 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t know if he was on unpaid leave.  I 8 

can’t confirm that.  All I can say, my testimony is that I did 9 

not pay him, either from the Prime Minister’s Office or under a 10 

party contract. 11 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  And you understood that he was 12 

working as a volunteer --- 13 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 14 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  --- who was not paid by anyone? 15 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 16 

 MR. ROY:  To your knowledge, during the time you were 17 

with the Prime Minister’s Office, were communications agencies 18 

asked to work on a volunteer basis? 19 

 MR. CARLE:  No, not to my knowledge, no.       20 

 MR. ROY:  Not to your knowledge? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  No.  Well, if I understand what you –- to 22 

answer your question: no.           23 

 MR. ROY:  So, can you tell us for certain today that, 24 

for example, there are no Groupaction employees, or there are no 25 
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other Lafleur employees, or there are no Everest employees who 1 

worked on the 1997 election campaign as volunteers? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  I can’t answer that question, because my 3 

duties during the election campaigns were directly related to 4 

the Prime Minister’s tour. 5 

 MR. ROY:  I understand that, but sometimes --- 6 

 MR. CARLE:  Well --- 7 

 MR. ROY:  Excuse me, go ahead.             8 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, what might have happened in other 9 

ridings, for local activities for candidates, MPs, ministers, I 10 

can’t say.  My response as to the Prime Minister’s tour is that 11 

Mr. Lafleur, Éric participated in that in a somewhat more --- 12 

 MR. ROY:  More limited --- 13 

 MR. CARLE:  --- limited manner than what is described 14 

in this document, and it’s my -- I don’t remember other people.        15 

 MR. ROY:  So, I ask you, Mr. Carle, the same question 16 

I asked you about Mr. Lafleur.  If employees of communications 17 

agencies were indeed working during the 1997 election campaign, 18 

as volunteers, obviously they would have had to be on unpaid 19 

leave from their respective employers?  Otherwise, that would 20 

have been an election expense, right? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, but that has to be checked with the 22 

party.  I don’t have the authority --- 23 

 MR. ROY:  But I’m asking the question hypothetically. 24 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, I haven’t memorized the Elections 25 
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Act --- 1 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  But based on your understanding of 2 

the Elections Act, that would be the case? 3 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes indeed. 4 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Yes. 5 

 MR. ROY:  So, following Mr. Lafleur’s contribution to 6 

the election campaign in '96-'97, he -- in January '98, a few 7 

months later, six months later, he was hired as part of the Team 8 

Canada mission to South America, is that right?  Please look at 9 

page 132 of his résumé. 10 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 11 

 MR. ROY:  Good.  Do you remember the context in which 12 

he was asked to join the mission and work?  And perhaps you 13 

could explain to us in your own words, what his responsibilities 14 

were. 15 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, the request came in much the same 16 

way.  He had worked on the election campaign.  He told me that 17 

if he could do the same thing on a government trade mission, if 18 

that were possible, he would be interested.  There was an 19 

opportunity that came up for the next mission, the one described 20 

here, the January '98 mission to South America, and then I 21 

discussed it with Mr. Pelletier.   22 

 That time, he was asked to take an unpaid leave from 23 

his company, and was given a 30-day contract, if I remember 24 

correctly, but I can’t – it’s been too long -- 30 days from PCO, 25 
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the government, to retain his services as part of the Team 1 

Canada '98 mission. 2 

 MR. ROY:  And why take that precaution, meaning why 3 

ask that he be on unpaid leave to be able to help out with the 4 

Team Canada mission? 5 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, it was a question of transparency.  6 

Look, we didn’t want just -- staff from an advertising agency 7 

who would be on the trip working for the Prime Minister.  So we 8 

told him: "Take an unpaid leave.  We’ll give you a contract with 9 

the government.  That’ll be for your services."  That’s it.           10 

 MR. ROY:  Would I be correct in saying that it was to 11 

avoid being criticized, for example, that there was a kind of 12 

payback -- that someone from an agency was working free of 13 

charge in return for contracts that were given to the agency? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Among other things, yes. 15 

 MR. ROY:  Did he do good work during the mission? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, very good work.  It doesn’t match 17 

exactly what’s written, but --- 18 

 MR. ROY:  Well now!.  Go ahead.  In his work 19 

descriptions, would you say there’s some exaggeration? 20 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, let’s say, there are things, there 21 

are things that are accurate, but there are others --- 22 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  He works in advertising.  It’s not 23 

an industry unfamiliar with exaggeration. 24 

 MR. CARLE:  What can I say.  It’s very well written, 25 
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but let’s just say that we could delete a few things. 1 

 MR. ROY:  In your expense accounts at the BDC, Mr. 2 

Carle, we find the name Christina Dona.  Is that a former work 3 

colleague of yours from the Prime Minister’s Office? 4 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 5 

 MR. ROY:  And until what date did she work at the 6 

Prime Minister’s Office? 7 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember.  I believe she stayed 8 

there until '98, '99, I’d have to check.  I don’t remember. 9 

 MR. ROY:  I’m referring to your expenses statements 10 

dated February 26, 1999 and March 22, 1999, on page 150. 11 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 12 

 MR. ROY:  Now, we see that on February 28, 1999 --- 13 

 MR. CARLE:  March twenty-sixth(26)? 14 

 MR. ROY:  No.  The first expense, if you look closely, 15 

it’s February 28, 1999, and the second is March 22, 1999, where 16 

we see her name, on page 150. 17 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, that’s correct.  Okay. Sorry.  18 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  And for March 22, 1999, this is for a 19 

meal with Éric Lafleur, Jean Lafleur, Marc LeFrançois and other 20 

people, including Ms. Dona.  And the activity on February 28, 21 

1999, that’s with Ms. Beaulieu, Christiane, and some other 22 

people and Christina Dona, and it’s marked "PMO". 23 

 Is that an error?  She was no longer at the PMO at 24 

that time, is that correct? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  I couldn’t tell you that.  That may or may 1 

not be correct.  I don’t know.  I don’t remember. 2 

 MR. ROY:  In any event, what I’m getting at is this:   3 

 Am I correct in saying that Ms. Dona worked at Lafleur 4 

after leaving the Prime Minister’s Office? 5 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 6 

 MR. ROY:  And am I correct in saying that you had 7 

occasion to work with her as part of your responsibilities at 8 

the BDC? 9 

 MR. CARLE:  In her role at Lafleur? 10 

 MR. ROY:  When she was at Lafleur. 11 

 MR. CARLE:  No, not at any time. 12 

 MR. ROY:  So, when you met her on March 22 for dinner 13 

with the Lafleurs, father and son, it wasn’t in a political 14 

context?  And the same with Peter Stewart at the BDC, it wasn’t 15 

in a context --- 16 

 MR. CARLE:  If I read that correctly, it’s an expense 17 

-- it’s a table at the Canadian Club in Montreal, and they were 18 

people I had invited to the Canadian Club.  Who the speaker was, 19 

I don’t remember but --- 20 

 MR. ROY:  I wouldn’t go so far as to ask you that. 21 

 MR. CARLE:  Okay. 22 

 MR. ROY:  So, it was purely a social activity? 23 

 MR. CARLE:  Absolutely. 24 

 MR. ROY:  And the other activity, on February 28? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  I can’t recall.  I don’t remember. 1 

 MR. ROY:  With Ms. Beaulieu from the BDC? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember.  I don’t remember what 3 

it was about. 4 

 MR. ROY:  I refer you now to page 20 of the same 5 

binder. 6 

 Before dropping the matter of Jean Lafleur or Éric 7 

Lafleur, were you ever a partner in a business with Éric 8 

Lafleur? 9 

 MR. CARLE:  Pardon? 10 

 MR. ROY:  Were you ever a partner in a business with 11 

Éric Lafleur? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 13 

 MR. ROY:  Involving the horse industry? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  The horse industry, not at all. 15 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 16 

 On page 20 is a memorandum sent by David Angus to Marc 17 

Laframboise.  Are Mr. Angus and Mr. Laframboise two people you 18 

know? 19 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 20 

 MR. ROY:  Am I correct in saying that they are two 21 

people you knew in the Liberal Party? 22 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, Mr. Angus is a Conservative.  He’s 23 

in your party.  So, it’s not --- 24 

 MR. ROY:  No, not to be confused with Senator Angus. 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  No, David Angus --- 1 

 MR. ROY:  That David Angus was a Conservative? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  --- He’s another Conservative. 3 

 MR. ROY:  Oh, well. 4 

 MR. CARLE:  He’s another Conservative. 5 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  And Mr. Laframboise? 6 

 MR. CARLE:  Mr. Laframboise worked for Mr. Dingwall. 7 

 MR. ROY:  And he’s a good Liberal? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  He is, yes. 9 

 MR. ROY:  The way the other one is a good 10 

Conservative? 11 

 MR. CARLE:  It’s the same thing, yes. 12 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 13 

 MR. CARLE:  The two were equally good in their party. 14 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  So, that memorandum was sent by Mr. 15 

Angus then, the Conservative, to the Liberal Mr. Laframboise and 16 

in the middle of the text, we read this: 17 

"As I also indicated to you, Chuck Guité has not 18 

contacted either Mike Smith . . . or Brent 19 

Scrimshaw.  The sales of next year’s races are 20 

proceeding very well and certainly all three 21 

races could be well-timed for important 22 

government messages.” 23 

 Did you know Mr. Smith or Mr. Scrimshaw? 24 

 MR. CARLE:  I knew them later but at that time I 25 
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didn’t know them, no. 1 

 MR. ROY:  And that refers to the races for the 2 

upcoming year that were going very well and would be good 3 

occasions for the government to show its colours and have some 4 

visibility. 5 

 Am I correct in saying that refers to the Molson Indy 6 

in Vancouver and Toronto and the Montreal Grand Prix? 7 

 MR. CARLE:  I think it has to do with the two races 8 

that you mentioned initially, the Molson Indy in Toronto and 9 

Vancouver.  I think the organization of the Montreal Grand Prix 10 

is totally independent of that. 11 

 MR. ROY:  Well, to help you, I refer you to that 12 

subject on page P81, solely to clarify that issue; who was 13 

responsible for what.  It’s a letter sent to Chuck Guité by 14 

GPMI, Grand Prix Management Inc., and if you look on the left 15 

side, there is a list of events for which GPMI is responsible:  16 

the Molson Indy in Toronto, the Molson Grand Prix of Canada and 17 

the Molson Indy in Vancouver.  So that makes three races. 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes.  Mr. Roy, I think GPMI is an agency 19 

of –- it’s an agency like –- we won’t get into that debate, but 20 

I think the ownership is different, in any case. 21 

 MR. ROY:  Good, very well. 22 

 What matters to me is that there are certain notes on 23 

the document.  At the top right is marked "Warren, Molson Indy" 24 

and I should tell you that is one of the documents, one of the 25 
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many documents –- I will not tell you the number of documents 1 

that were sent to the Commission by Public Works.  So, it’s a 2 

document that comes from Public Works’ files. 3 

 MR. CARLE:  Okay. 4 

 MR. ROY:  And there we see a note written by someone; 5 

we don’t know who.  "Warren" presumably is Warren Kinsella, 6 

"Molson Indy", and at the bottom we read this:   7 

"Jean Carle inquiring & supports Benson & 8 

Vickers"   9 

And there is an arrow referring to Tourism Canada. 10 

 So, Mr. Carle, do you remember speaking to Mr. Guité 11 

or someone else in his office, saying that you support the 12 

application of Benson & Vickers for a very large contract 13 

awarded annually by Tourism Canada? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 15 

 MR. ROY:  Were you aware that the contract was, in 16 

fact, awarded to Vickers & Benson on April 1, 1995? 17 

 MR. CARLE:  No, I don’t recall that, no. 18 

 MR. ROY:  I refer you to Exhibit P-43(b), Volume 2. 19 

 MR. FOURNIER:  Mr. Commissioner, it appears fairly 20 

obvious to me that the witness does not have that document in 21 

front of him or, at least, doesn’t know where to find it. 22 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  We’ll find it. 23 

 MR. CARLE:  I have it, yes. 24 

(SHORT PAUSE / COURTE PAUSE) 25 
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 MR. ROY:  Tab 25, 25(a), and then you have to turn 1 

maybe twenty pages until you get to a contract between Public 2 

Works and Vickers & Benson dated April 1, which was part of the 3 

material filed before the Commission by Allan Cutler who was an 4 

employee of APORS at the time. 5 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Mr. Commissioner, I’m going to 6 

intervene at this point.  It is not a document that was sent to 7 

us in advance of this meeting today.  I understand from Mr. 8 

Roy’s question that he wants to make a connection between the 9 

memo on page 20 of the volume about Mr. Carle and that fairly 10 

lengthy contract, which is in another exhibit I assume was 11 

produced at some other point in time.  On the face of the 12 

documents themselves, there is no connection.  I just wanted to 13 

make that --- 14 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Sir, you do not need to insist 15 

further.  For the moment, I would ask Mr. Roy if there is any 16 

connection in writing or in a document that puts Mr. Carle 17 

somewhere in the picture apart from the handwritten note on the 18 

document on page 20. 19 

 MR. ROY:  The answer is no, except for the handwritten 20 

note at the bottom of the document. 21 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  That’s it, then.  If Mr. Carle 22 

admits that he has any particular knowledge of the matter, I’m 23 

going to permit you to continue your questions, but not 24 

otherwise. 25 
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 MR. ROY:  So, I’m asking you the same question. 1 

 Seeing that handwritten note with your name and the 2 

reference to Vickers & Benson and Tourism Canada means 3 

absolutely nothing to you, is that your answer?   4 

 MR. CARLE:  That means absolutely nothing to me.  The 5 

Capital Hill group is a lobby group.  That is not my writing, 6 

and it means nothing to me. 7 

 MR. ROY:  Let’s forget Capital Hill.  My question is 8 

going to be more specific than that. 9 

 Mr. Carle, at any time when you were in the Prime 10 

Minister’s Office, did you communicate with Mr. Guité or with 11 

representatives of Mr. Guité’s office to promote the application 12 

of Vickers & Benson for the award of the Tourism Canada 13 

contract? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 15 

 MR. ROY:  Let’s go back to page 81 very quickly.   16 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 17 

 MR. ROY:  Do you remember meeting with people from 18 

Grand Prix Management Incorporated, at the request of Mr Guité, 19 

about federal government participation in the Molson Indy in 20 

Toronto and in Vancouver in 1997? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember the dinner in particular.  22 

Did I drop by or stop at their table?  I can’t –- I don’t 23 

remember.  It's possible that happened, but I don’t remember it. 24 

 MR. ROY:  If we read the first paragraph, it says: 25 
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"We greatly appreciate your organizing the 1 

evening . . . " 2 

 So that seems to say it was something planned, 3 

prepared. 4 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, I continue in the text: 5 

  ". . . arranging for Jean Carle to join us . . ." 6 

 I may have dropped by for coffee, I may have dropped 7 

by at the beginning of dinner, I may well have dropped by –- 8 

that may mean many things.  What I’m telling you is I don’t 9 

remember it. 10 

 MR. ROY:  And it says: 11 

"It was a very enjoyable dinner, from both a 12 

business and culinary perspective." 13 

 You don’t remember discussing business with those 14 

people? 15 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 16 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  I must say, Mr. Commissioner, the 17 

letter was sent by Ms. Gladstone to Mr. Guité.  There is no copy 18 

to Mr. Carle.  So, in the wording of the question, we are 19 

talking about Mr. Guité --- 20 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Yes.  Mr. Roy, we have a document 21 

here.  It’s a letter written by Dana Gladstone to Mr. Guité, and 22 

it talks about meeting Mr. Carle at a dinner and so on and so 23 

forth.  Possibly she invented the whole story; it's possible.  24 

There is no evidence that the dinner took place apart from the 25 
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letter, but I think that allows us to ask the witness questions. 1 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  That is correct.  It’s just in the 2 

suggestion made, in the wording.  That is where I am coming 3 

from; the letter is not addressed to Mr. Carle.  It is addressed 4 

--- 5 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  It is not addressed to Mr. Carle.  6 

It is addressed to Mr. Guité who apparently, according to the 7 

letter, arranged for Mr. Carle to meet certain people.  However, 8 

if Mr. Carle has no recollection, he has no recollection.  9 

That's all. 10 

 MR. ROY:  Before dealing with some files you were 11 

involved in when you were Vice-president of the Business 12 

Development Bank of Canada, can you explain to us the 13 

circumstances under which you were recruited as First Vice-14 

president of the BDC? 15 

 MR. CARLE:  I got a call from Mr. Beaudoin during the 16 

'97 election campaign telling me about positions opening at the 17 

BDC.  I told him at that time that we had an election campaign 18 

to finish and perhaps we could discuss it again afterward.  19 

After the '97 election, I got a call from a recruitment firm, 20 

Spencer Stuart in Montreal.  Manon Vennat --- 21 

 MR. ROY:  The ex-wife of Michel Vennat who was 22 

Chairman of the Board of the BDC at that time; is that correct? 23 

 MR. CARLE:  She is his ex-wife, yes; that is correct. 24 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  Continue. 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  I don’t think he was Chairman of the 1 

Board.  He wasn’t Chairman of the Board.  In any case, I don’t 2 

think so.  He wasn’t Chairman of the Board at that time.   3 

 And at that time they spoke to me about a position as 4 

First Vice-president, Corporate Affairs, responsible for 5 

government and public affairs and legal affairs for the Board of 6 

Directors’ secretariat.  We negotiated during the summer and I 7 

accepted an offer from the BDC in October '97; at the request of 8 

the Prime Minister, I stayed in my position until February '98 9 

to complete two files; one was the Peace Summit, which is very 10 

well documented, and the other was the Team Canada mission to 11 

South America. 12 

 MR. ROY:  While you were at the BDC, did you have to 13 

take leave to participate in the election in 2000? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, I did it on leave without pay, which 15 

had been accepted. 16 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 17 

 There was a fair amount of evidence produced, Mr. 18 

Carle, about two files in which you played a particular role 19 

that you could clarify in a moment, the Canada du Millénaire 20 

project and the coffee table book on Maurice Richard; is that 21 

correct? 22 

 MR. CARLE:  That is correct. 23 

 MR. ROY:  In what context did you – let’s talk about 24 

the Canada du Millénaire project first, if you would.  In what 25 
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context did you first hear about the project? 1 

 MR. CARLE:  A few weeks after my arrival, I received a 2 

briefing note from Ms. Beaulieu about that.  She sent me a note 3 

and spoke to me at a meeting.  Ms. Beaulieu was Vice-president,  4 

Public Affairs.  She spoke to me about that project, which had 5 

been accepted by Mr. Beaudoin several months earlier, before my 6 

arrival.  It was, in fact, a done deal, and there were a series 7 

of interviews with BDC clients, profiles of entrepreneurs and 8 

all that.  So that’s how I heard about it. 9 

 The contribution from the Bank at that time was 10 

$250,000. 11 

 MR. ROY:  According to what Ms. Beaulieu told you? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  According to what Ms. Beaulieu told me, 13 

yes, it was $250,000 and, for that sum, obviously there was 14 

billboard advertising, there were opening notices, there was 15 

advertising and there were interviews with BDC clients. 16 

 MR. ROY:  Were you involved in the decision to ensure 17 

some of the people interviewed by the producer of the program 18 

were BDC clients? 19 

 MR. CARLE:  No, it was already planned. 20 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. So, if I understand correctly, the 21 

Bank's contribution was $250,000 to fund this activity; is that 22 

right? 23 

 MR. CARLE:  That's right. 24 

 MR. ROY:  And you were not involved in any discussions 25 
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or meetings with Mr. Scully? 1 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 2 

 MR. ROY:  Were you informed at any point of the 3 

involvement of the CCSB, in other words the Branch, in this 4 

project? 5 

 MR. CARLE:  Very late into the project, yes. 6 

 MR. ROY:  That means when? 7 

 MR. CARLE:  I would say at the start of the year 2000, 8 

because Mr. Scully wanted to be paid some money.  There was a 9 

bit of a foul up.  Mr. Scully wanted to be paid an additional 10 

sum.  We had already paid our $250,000 --- 11 

 MR. ROY:  To whom? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  To L'Information essentielle, for Robert 13 

Scully. 14 

 MR. ROY:  And perhaps I could show you -- we'll 15 

proceed in stages because things may get a bit complicated.  I 16 

will show you the invoices that were received and the payment 17 

and who was involved in the bill paying exercise.  18 

 So I would refer you to Exhibit P-155, on page 11. 19 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 20 

 MR. ROY:  So, on page 11, you can see an invoice dated 21 

August 20, 1998 --- 22 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 23 

 MR. ROY:  --- for $130,000 from L'Information 24 

essentielle.  At the point where the invoice was received by the 25 
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BDC, you had been there several months, is that right? 1 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, since around the end of February -- 2 

March 1, '98. 3 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  And if I turn to the next page, page 4 

12, it would appear that this amount or this invoice, I should 5 

say, was paid on November 23, 1998. 6 

 MR. CARLE:  That's correct -- I see the figure 27 7 

there, but --- 8 

 MR. ROY:  To your knowledge, before this amount was 9 

paid, did the comptroller, Mr. Lucarelli, refuse to pay because 10 

there was no contract on file? 11 

 MR. CARLE:  Ms. Beaulieu had talked to me about that, 12 

yes. 13 

 MR. ROY:  And to facilitate understanding, I would 14 

refer you to page 143 of the binder, Exhibit P-169, Volume 1. 15 

 MR. CARLE:  I don't have P-169. 16 

 MR. ROY:  P-169. 17 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Is that the memo from Mr. Marquis to --- 19 

 MR. ROY:  It's an e-mail from Mr. Lucarelli to Ms. 20 

Beaulieu --- 21 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  What page, please? 22 

 MR. ROY:  One hundred and forty-three (143). 23 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you. 24 

 MR. CARLE:  That's right, yes.  Yes, sorry. 25 
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 MR. ROY:  So, page 143 contains copies of two e-mails: 1 

one dated November 24 and the other November 26.   2 

 Let's start with the one from the 24th, which is 3 

addressed by Mr. Lucarelli --- 4 

 Mr. Lucarelli was the comptroller, wasn't he?  5 

 MR. CARLE:  That's right. 6 

 MR. ROY:  --- to Ms. Beaulieu with a copy to Mr. 7 

Marquis.  In it he asked Ms. Beaulieu a series of questions:  8 

"What's this all about?  I am not aware of any sponsorship 9 

project."  He was wondering whether this invoice for $139,900 10 

should be paid. 11 

 By way of an answer, two days later, Mr. Marquis sends 12 

an e-mail to Mr. Lucarelli to say to him, "Look --   13 

[ENGLISH] 14 

"Apparently this is a new project for which the 15 

project approval is pending." 16 

[TRANSLATION] 17 

and makes reference to the fact that: 18 

[ENGLISH] 19 

". . . Christiane is preparing the project 20 

description to support the request.  I have 21 

explained to her that until the project is 22 

approved that you do not have the authority to 23 

pay the invoice, but it will be settled 24 

immediately when the project is approved.  25 
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Meanwhile you should include it in the estimate 1 

of expenses . . ." 2 

 [TRANSLATION] 3 

 To your knowledge, is it true that there was no 4 

project approval following this memo -- excuse me –- this e-mail 5 

from Mr. Marquis to Mr. Lucarelli? 6 

 MR. CARLE:  That's right.  7 

 To my knowledge, there was no project approval. 8 

 MR. ROY:  And yet, despite everything, this invoice 9 

was paid. 10 

 MR. CARLE:  Payment was made, but my understanding of 11 

what Ms. Beaulieu told me is that there was a project 12 

identification number that had been opened by the accounting 13 

division, which meant that the project could still go forward 14 

since it was in progress.  There were interviews, features 15 

involving our customers, and advertising had been produced.   16 

 So my understanding of the file at that point, and I 17 

did not get involved at that stage, is that a file number had 18 

been assigned. 19 

 MR. ROY:  But am I right in saying that there was no 20 

contract and no project approval? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  You are right in saying that there was no 22 

contract and no project approval. 23 

 MR. ROY:  Did that not run counter to the practice in 24 

the Bank? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  Yes, but I must tell you that this project 1 

had been approved by Mr. Beaudoin himself, the President of the 2 

Bank, prior to my arrival.  So I had no --- 3 

 MR. ROY:  You did not question it? 4 

 MR. CARLE:  I did not question it. 5 

 MR. ROY:  Despite the absence of a contract or formal 6 

approval of the project? 7 

 MR. CARLE:  No, because the service was nevertheless 8 

in the process of being delivered. 9 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 10 

 So an initial installment of $130,000 was paid, and 11 

here I would refer you to page 13 of Volume P-155. 12 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 13 

 MR. ROY:  Which indicates that the payment was made on 14 

November 27, 1998. 15 

 MR. CARLE:  That's right. 16 

 MR. ROY:  Let's now move to the second payment, still 17 

with Exhibit P-155, on page 16. 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 19 

 MR. ROY:  So this is a second invoice to complete the 20 

$250,000 --- 21 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 22 

 MR. ROY:  --- which is the amount of the sponsorship, 23 

according to the agreement, second payment, dated December 10, 24 

1998, and there we see on the right in the -- your signature as 25 
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Senior Vice-President – Corporate Affairs, or is that Ms. 1 

Montreuil's signature? 2 

 That's your’s, isn't it? 3 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes.  There are two signatures there --- 4 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 5 

 MR. CARLE:  --- Ms. Beaulieu's and my own. 6 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 7 

 And at that point, am I right in saying that when you 8 

approved it, there was still no project approval or proper 9 

contract signed between the BDC and L’Information essentielle? 10 

 MR. CARLE:  You are right. 11 

 MR. ROY:  Am I right in saying that, ultimately, you 12 

authorized not only this payment, but also the previous payment? 13 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, I think -- I signed on -- yes, yes, I 14 

co-signed with Ms. Beaulieu. 15 

 MR. ROY:  And to your knowledge, for the second 16 

payment, were any questions raised by the Finance Division like 17 

the questions that had been raised by Mr. Lucarelli to which we 18 

referred earlier? 19 

 MR. CARLE:  To which we referred.  No.  20 

 No questions were asked because the work had been 21 

completed; the work had been delivered.  There was a file 22 

number; there was a project number that had been identified in 23 

the Finance Division.  I must tell you that if Mr. Marquis and 24 

Mr. Lucarelli had refused to proceed, I would not have been able 25 
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to influence them to do otherwise. 1 

 MR. ROY:  So, later on in March 2000, am I right in 2 

saying that a cheque in the amount of $125,000 suddenly appeared 3 

at the BDC, or two cheques totalling $125,000: one for $100,000 4 

and the other for $25,000? 5 

 MR. CARLE:  There was one amount which arrived of 6 

$125,000, but are you are referring to specific exhibits? 7 

 MR. ROY:  Still with one of the binders that you have 8 

in front of you, Exhibit 169, on page 153. 9 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 10 

 MR. CARLE:  What document? 11 

 MR. ROY:  Volume P-169, page 153. 12 

 MR. CARLE:  P-169.  Wait.   13 

 THE REGISTRAR:  You have in front of you, sir. 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Sorry. 15 

 THE REGISTRAR:  You have it in front of you. 16 

 MR. CARLE:  This one here? 17 

 MR. ROY:  No.  Look at the front page.  18 

 MR. CARLE:  One hundred and fifty-five (155)? 19 

 MR. ROY:  One hundred and sixty-nine (169). 20 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes.  Excuse me.  They are the same 21 

colour.  Sorry. 22 

 MR. ROY:  On page 153. 23 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 24 

 MR. ROY:  So, when did you learn that two cheques 25 
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totalling $125,000 had been issued in favour of the Business 1 

Development Bank of Canada by Media/IDA Vision? 2 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  It's more than $125,000, it's 3 

$133,000 but … 4 

 MR. ROY:  With the tax, Mr. Commissioner. 5 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Yes, that's it. 6 

 One hundred and twenty-five and the tax, yes. 7 

 MR. CARLE:  Listen, -- my -- my version of this is 8 

that, early in the year 2000, Ms. Beaulieu came to see me, 9 

saying that Mr. Scully had an amount that was still outstanding 10 

for the Millennium Series Project. 11 

 So I --- 12 

 MR. ROY:  By Public Works? 13 

 MR. CARLE:  By Public Works. 14 

 We had fulfilled our obligations at the BDC.  15 

 MR. ROY:  Through the payment of $250,000? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  What we have just -- what we have just 17 

seen. 18 

 MR. ROY:  M'hm. 19 

 MR. CARLE:  And I think -- I cannot say for certain, 20 

but I think, at one point, that an invoice arrived from 21 

L'Information essentielle sent to Christiane Beaulieu, which 22 

resulted in her coming to see me. 23 

 She said:  "What's this invoice about?  I don't 24 

understand.  We paid our . . ." 25 
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 So we had a conversation and then we realized that Mr. 1 

Scully did actually have an agreement with Public Works for an 2 

additional $125,000. 3 

 I put in a call to Pierre Tremblay --- 4 

 MR. ROY:  To say:  "What's this all about?" 5 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, not in those terms but --- 6 

 MR. ROY: It amounted to the same thing? 7 

 MR. CARLE:  It amounted to the same thing. 8 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 9 

 MR. CARLE:  And Pierre Tremblay replied that there was 10 

still an amount of $125,000 owing on the Millennium Series to --11 

Robert Scully. 12 

 MR. ROY:  Yes. 13 

 So, why use -- how ---  14 

 MR. CARLE:  I'm getting there --- 15 

 MR. ROY:  --- as they say, "this roundabout way"? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  I'm getting there. 17 

 At the request of Pierre Tremblay, who was the payer,  18 

Pierre Tremblay said to me: "We are going to use this $125,000 19 

to put more advertising into the Millennium Series on behalf of 20 

the BDC.  So the $125,000 extra that was invested or the 21 

$125,000 which Mr. Scully claimed I had promised him, will be 22 

put into BDC publicity." 23 

 So, for us, it was an advantage, we didn't have to pay 24 

that amount. 25 
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 The payer, Pierre Tremblay, asked me, for a reason 1 

that I will explain to the Commission, he told me that that year 2 

he had given too much money from his budget to Robert Scully and 3 

wanted to avoid another contribution of $125,000 and he asked me 4 

at that point if it was possible to invoice the government's 5 

AOR, which was Media Vision, Media Vision would bill Public 6 

Works and then the money would come back to the bank and then we 7 

would pay Robert Scully ourselves with that. 8 

 So the BDC was used as a -- conveyor belt for the 9 

final payment. 10 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  And can you explain to me why you 11 

acquiesced in this round-about way of doing things? 12 

 Because in fact you acted as a kind of -- in a manner 13 

that covered up an arrangement that was somewhat suspect; didn't 14 

you? 15 

 MR. ROY:  To camouflage. 16 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Camouflage.  That's it. 17 

 Why did you participate in something like that? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Look, let's say at that point, I didn't  19 

necessarily see it as camouflage, I also saw it as a benefit for 20 

the Bank to receive $125,000 worth of advertising without having 21 

to pay out any money. 22 

 And I must tell you, I didn't do it in -- I didn't do 23 

it in bad faith, Mr. Commissioner.  We were used as a conveyor 24 

belt, but it was not with the aim of --- 25 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  In-ch(Roy) 

12267

    

 THE COMMISSIONER:  If this were a drug case, it would 1 

have been called "money laundering"; isn't that right? 2 

 It's the same principle; isn't it?  Am I wrong? 3 

 MR. CARLE:  No, you are not wrong. 4 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  No. 5 

 MR. ROY:  And in this regard, I would refer you to the 6 

version that Mr. Lucarelli gave to the Commission. 7 

 His testimony is reproduced in Volume 67 dated 8 

February 1, 2005. 9 

(COURTE PAUSE/SHORT PAUSE) 10 

 MR. ROY:  On page 11469. 11 

(COURTE PAUSE/SHORT PAUSE) 12 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 13 

 MR. ROY:  And before I ask you some questions about 14 

Mr. Lucarelli's version, could you please, in Volume P-169, 15 

which you have in front of you somewhere, go to page 157? 16 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 17 

 MR. ROY:  Okay? 18 

 Let's perhaps begin with the document which is a 19 

memorandum from Mr. Beaulieu to the comptroller to explain a 20 

little -- to use an expression that is dear to Mr. Scully's 21 

heart -- this "back and forth". 22 

 And there she says in paragraph three of her memo: 23 

 "Please find, attached, two cheques …" 24 

totalling $133,000 and change  25 
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"… amounts in transit representing a portion of 1 

the federal government's contribution which are 2 

made out to the BDC but which should be to the 3 

order of L'Information essentielle in the amount 4 

of $133,000 delivered to PO Box 98, Place du Parc 5 

…" 6 

and we know that that is the address of L'Information 7 

essentielle. 8 

 So, what I gather from what Ms. Beaulieu said -- and 9 

please correct me if I’m wrong, if I’m misinterpreting it –- is 10 

that she wants to reassure the comptroller:  Listen, there’s a 11 

mistake here.  Normally, those cheques should have been sent to 12 

L'Information essentielle, but they were sent to us by mistake. 13 

 Do you agree? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 15 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 16 

 Now let’s look at Mr. Lucarelli’s testimony, which 17 

lends credence to this interpretation of this document. 18 

 On page 11469, starting at line 14, he is being 19 

questioned by my colleague, Ms. Cossette, Counsel for the 20 

Commission, and this is his reply: 21 

[ENGLISH] 22 

For me it was basically receiving cheques and 23 

there was an error and at the end of the day we 24 

processed it, the cheque, because we did it in 25 
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good faith.  We had a senior manager there, 1 

senior VP . . . 2 

Ms. Beaulieu: 3 

. . . saying to me this was a legitimate error 4 

and that the funds -- if we could remit the funds 5 

back to l'Information essentielle as an 6 

accommodation or on an accommodation basis which 7 

we did . . . 8 

[TRANSLATION] 9 

End of quote. 10 

 So, the sense I get from this excerpt I just quoted 11 

and the implicit reference he’s making to Ms. Bealieu’s 12 

memorandum is that all those people thought that the cheques had 13 

been sent to the bank purely by mistake, and that they should 14 

normally have been sent to l’Information essentielle. 15 

 And now, you’re telling us that it wasn’t a mistake, 16 

it’s what had been agreed to with Mr. Tremblay. 17 

 MR. CARLE:  It was at Pierre Tremblay’s request. 18 

 MR. ROY:  So, it wasn’t a mistake.   19 

 I understand that it was at Pierre Tremblay’s request, 20 

but it wasn’t a mistake. 21 

 MR. CARLE:  It could have been done differently, is 22 

what -- is what I’m saying. 23 

(COURTE PAUSE/SHORT PAUSE) 24 

 MR. ROY:  So, when the BDC sent an invoice on May 19, 25 
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1999 -- and here, I’m referring to Exhibit –- all right, I’m 1 

being told that it isn’t necessary to complicate matters.  2 

They’re already complicated enough. 3 

 Am I right in saying that when you billed -- when I 4 

say “you,” I mean the BDC -- to facilitate the transfer and 5 

eventual routing of the $130,000 -- $125,000 to l’Information 6 

essentielle, in the end, the party to whom the invoice was sent 7 

hadn’t supplied services or delivered products to the BDC? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 9 

 MR. ROY:  In other words, it was a phoney operation?  10 

 MR. CARLE:  No, it hadn’t delivered any services. 11 

 MR. ROY:  Okay. 12 

(SHORT PAUSE/COURTE PAUSE) 13 

 MR. ROY:  Still in Exhibit 169, on page 157, you’ll 14 

find Ms. Beaulieu’s memorandum. 15 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 16 

 MR. ROY:  There are handwritten notes at the bottom of 17 

the document.  This is a note Mr. Lucarelli wrote after having 18 

spoken to you.  I’m trying to read what it says: 19 

Discussed the matter with Mr. Carle.  All is in 20 

order.  No contract exists but all services have 21 

been provided. 22 

 We agree that when you say “all services have been 23 

provided”, this refers to the services of l’Information 24 

essentielle, if I understand correctly? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 1 

 MR. ROY:  Okay.  And when you told Mr. Lucarelli “all 2 

is in order”, what exactly were you referring to?  Was 3 

everything all in order? 4 

 MR. CARLE:  To my knowledge, yes.  The services that 5 

the BDC had paid for had been delivered and we had obtained, as 6 

I said, the additional $125,000 in advertising. 7 

 MR. ROY:  Except that you hadn’t informed Mr. 8 

Lucarelli about the type of agreement that had been made with 9 

Mr. Tremblay to hide --- 10 

 MR. CARLE:  It wasn’t to hide --- 11 

 MR. ROY:  --- the $125,000 payment? 12 

 MR. CARLE:  No, it wasn’t to hide it.  Mr. Tremblay 13 

didn’t want more on his books.  So, Mr. Lucarelli knew how it 14 

worked.  Our money came from --- 15 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Can you explain this: if Mr. 16 

Tremblay didn’t want amounts on his books, you allowed Mr. 17 

Tremblay to camouflage the truth in his own books; right? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  That is, allow me to explain the 19 

difference.  It’s not that he didn’t want the amounts on his 20 

books.  It’s that he didn’t want to show that he had given so 21 

much money to l’Information essentielle that year.  The amounts 22 

had come out --- 23 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  You collaborated with Mr. Tremblay 24 

to misrepresent the situation; right? 25 
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 MR. LATRAVERSE:  I’m going to intervene.  The file 1 

contains a written memo signed by Ms. Beaulieu that describes 2 

the transaction to the Bank’s officers, the comptrollers.  The 3 

cheques were issued.  The evidence is documented.  Mr. Marquis 4 

testified before you.  He knew about it; Ms. Beaulieu and Mr. 5 

Lucarelli. 6 

 I respectfully submit, Mr. Commissioner, that the 7 

characterization you’re making at this stage of your inquiry as 8 

to the nature of what happened strikes me as premature.  The 9 

documents are there --- 10 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I have listened to all the parties 11 

involved in this transaction, sir, everyone.  There isn’t a 12 

single one -- the only one I haven’t heard is Mr. Tremblay, 13 

because he is dead. 14 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  There you go. 15 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  There you go.  But I’ve heard all 16 

the other parties, and this is the first time that someone tells 17 

me that the purpose of that operation was to allow Mr. Tremblay 18 

to make entries in the government’s books that do not reflect 19 

reality. 20 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Wait --- 21 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  So -– and this is why I’m asking 22 

these questions, because I think that he -- Mr. Tremblay needed 23 

someone to cooperate in directing a payment that he shouldn’t 24 

have directed to L’Information essentielle, and he obtained the 25 
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cooperation of the Development Bank to hide the truth in his own 1 

books. 2 

 That’s why I’m asking these questions.  So, I 3 

respectfully submit that I am not jumping to conclusions.  I am 4 

asking the witness questions. 5 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Yes, I understand, Mr. Commissioner, 6 

but the purpose of the operation was to send $125,000 to an 7 

individual, Mr. Scully, who had provided services in connection 8 

with a sponsored series. 9 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Well, the easier way to do this is 10 

for the Government of Canada to send a cheque directly to 11 

l’Information essentielle.  That course of action would have 12 

reflected the reality of the situation. 13 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  And you have already heard 14 

testimonies about how the government was doing business with the 15 

agencies of record, how those people were billing the 16 

government, but this is characterization.  It’s the words you 17 

used.  It’s the analogies you’re making, Mr. Commissioner --- 18 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  My analogies may be a little shaky, 19 

and I apologize. 20 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Thank you, Mr. Commissioner. 21 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you. 22 

 MR. ROY:  To close this issue, I refer you again to 23 

Mr. Lucarelli’s testimony, in Volume 67, on page 11468, the 24 

question at the top of the page, asked by Ms. Cossette to Mr. 25 
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Lucarelli: 1 

[ENGLISH] 2 

Did Mr. Carle mention in any way that  “Forget 3 

about the instructions that we received from 4 

Lafleur to invoice Media IDA/Vision” which would 5 

explain why you did receive the cheques? 6 

 Mr. Lucarelli: 7 

I wasn’t aware of what was happening with Lafleur 8 

and all the invoices that you showed me. 9 

 Ms. Cossette: 10 

And did Mr. Carle mention that it was Public 11 

Works’ intention to sort of –- how could I say -– 12 

uncover the fact that they were giving money to 13 

Mr. Scully through l’Information essentielle and 14 

that was the reason why they were passing through 15 

–- they were going through BDC in order for it to 16 

issue the cheque? 17 

 Mr. Lucarelli: 18 

No, we didn’t have that discussion.  The 19 

discussion went on, on that it was a mistake, it 20 

was an error that Media Vision did and that 21 

cheque should have been provided to l’Information 22 

essentielle and I didn’t know who was Media 23 

Vision. 24 

So, I said: “Who are these people?” And that is 25 
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when they said they were agent of record for the 1 

government for distributing money and, at that 2 

time, he would phone. He phoned Pierre Tremblay 3 

and then I wanted conformation on that and that 4 

is when we got a letter from Pierre Tremblay on 5 

April 3rd, if I recall. 6 

[TRANSLATION] 7 

 So, does the testimony I just quoted or the excerpt I 8 

just quoted reflect the reality of your discussion with Mr. 9 

Lucarelli? 10 

 MR. CARLE:  Not quite, because Mr. Lucarelli was aware 11 

of the arrangement I had made with Pierre Tremblay. 12 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  So, he’s saying the opposite, and 13 

you disagree with his testimony? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  No.  What I’m saying, Mr. Commissioner, is 15 

that Mr. Lucarelli was aware of the manner in which the $125,000 16 

was going to be sent to the BDC. 17 

 MR. ROY:  I would like to speak to you briefly about -18 

-- 19 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Mr. Roy, it’s 4:30.  I think we 20 

have to plan where we’re going, because, as I told you, I think 21 

that we – we agreed to stop at 4:30 today.  Do you have any 22 

other questions for the witness? 23 

 MR. ROY:  I’ll be about five minutes. 24 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  But I think that there are other 25 
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people in the room who have questions. 1 

 Mr. Latraverse, I don’t know if you will need to ask 2 

your client any questions? 3 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  I told Mr. Roy that if we could 4 

finish today, I would be very brief. 5 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I must tell you that I ordered a 6 

taxi for quarter to five, and I plan to take it, because 7 

otherwise, I’ll miss my train.  I’m prepared to go on for 8 

another 15 minutes, but not a minute more.  If you could find a 9 

way amongst yourselves to finish with the witness --- 10 

 MR. LUSSIER:  I might still have some questions, Mr. 11 

Commissioner, but I think we’re going to go over --- 12 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I understand completely, and Mr. 13 

Dearden has followed -- Mr. Dearden has been following --- 14 

[ENGLISH] 15 

 MR. DEARDEN:  I am not holding you back from your 16 

train. 17 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  You are not holding me back from my 18 

train. 19 

[TRANSLATION] 20 

 Could you keep your other questions to a minimum, Mr. 21 

Roy?  Is that possible?  We’re going to try to finish in the few 22 

remaining minutes, but otherwise, we’ll have to come back on 23 

Monday.  That’s all.  I understand that this is an inconvenience 24 

for Mr. Carle and his lawyer. 25 
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 MR. ROY:  I would like to briefly question you about 1 

the coffee table book.  What was that project about? 2 

 MR. CARLE:  The coffee table book was part of an 3 

envelope, an agreement that Mr. Beaudoin had made with Robert 4 

Scully concerning the English Maurice Richard series.  When Mr. 5 

Beaudoin left, we thought again about the series -- the 6 

contribution for the series, and we said that $650,000 was 7 

impossible for the Bank.  We had to renegotiate it with Mr. 8 

Scully, who said that he had a firm agreement with Mr. Beaudoin. 9 

 So, we reduced the agreement with Mr. Scully and 10 

obtained some advertising slots in the shows that were under 11 

way.  To the Bank’s satisfaction, we had some good opportunities 12 

to place ads in those shows, and at that time, he was producing 13 

the coffee table book for the Maurice Richard series. 14 

 So, there were some negotiations with Ms. Beaulieu -- 15 

which I wasn’t a party to -- about the number of books involved.  16 

We agreed to $150,000, which included some books and some 17 

advertisements in the shows. 18 

 There was a contribution from the federal government -19 

- to make a long story short, there was a contribution from the 20 

federal government.  Pierre Tremblay took part in that project, 21 

and this time, the application, which had been quite complicated 22 

the previous time, the contribution was made in a much simpler 23 

way.  The government issued a cheque to the BDC as part of that 24 

project.  The BDC came up with its $75,000, and we agreed to 25 
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$149,000 with Mr. Scully, which included a series of books on --1 

- 2 

 MR. ROY:  One hundred and forty-nine thousand, eight 3 

hundred (149,800); right? 4 

 MR. CARLE:  Right, on Maurice Richard, a few books, 5 

with the majority of those amounts being spent on advertising in 6 

those shows. 7 

 MR. ROY:  Was the famous book ever published? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  The book was supposed to be published 9 

within a reasonable timeframe.  I left the Bank, and the book 10 

hadn’t been published.  I found out later that a credit had been 11 

issued to the Bank for the amount of the contribution for the 12 

book.  To my --- 13 

 MR. ROY:  Am I -– excuse me.  Go on. 14 

 MR. CARLE:  To my knowledge, the book was never 15 

published. 16 

 MR. ROY:  Am I right in saying that there never was a 17 

signed agreement between L’Information essentielle and the Bank? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Not for that project, either. 19 

 MR. ROY:  Am I right in saying that Mr. Lucarelli had 20 

asked that a written contract be signed? 21 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 22 

 MR. ROY:  Am I right in saying that you agreed to pay 23 

the amount requested, even though there wasn’t a signed 24 

contract? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  Yes, because the advertisements had been 1 

produced and broadcast.  We had proof that the advertisements 2 

had been broadcast.  So we skipped the contract, and we paid. 3 

 MR. ROY:  What proof and what means did you have to 4 

check whether the media buy in Scully’s shows and the 5 

sponsorship billboards had actually been supplied by 6 

L’Information essentielle? 7 

 MR. CARLE:  The forms from the television stations 8 

were sent to us along with the cassettes.  Ms. Beaulieu 9 

confirmed that to me. 10 

 MR. ROY:  And who authorized the final payment? 11 

 MR. CARLE:  I think I authorized it with Ms. Beaulieu. 12 

 MR. ROY:  That’s all. 13 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you.  14 

 Mr. Lussier.  Mr. Pratte, yes. 15 

 MR. LUSSIER:  I’ll be one minute, Mr. Commissioner. 16 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Very good. 17 

--- CROSS-EXAMINATION BY/CONTRE-INTERROGATOIRE PAR Me LUSSIER: 18 

 MR. LUSSIER:  If I’m not mistaken, Mr.Carle, you said 19 

that you didn’t know what the word “paddock” meant?  20 

 MR. CARLE:  At that moment, when I saw “box, paddock”, 21 

and all that, I didn’t make the distinction.  Afterwards, when 22 

Mr. Roy mentioned it again, yes, I realized that this was 23 

probably the pass that was the most --- 24 

 MR. LUSSIER:  But you know what a paddock is?  25 
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 MR. CARLE:  Yes, it’s the place where the garages are 1 

located.  2 

 MR. LUSSIER:  Is it not true that you were once a 3 

partner in a car racing team?  4 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, but in the U.S., yes. 5 

 MR. LUSSIER:  We’re not talking about horses, Mr. Roy, 6 

but about cars. 7 

 MR. CARLE:  But it wasn’t with Éric Lafleur. 8 

 MR. LUSSIER:  It wasn’t with Éric Lafleur. 9 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 10 

 MR. LUSSIER:  But is it not true that you often 11 

travelled with Mr. Lafleur to attend car races?  12 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 13 

 MR. LUSSIER:  No? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 15 

 MR. LUSSIER:  And you didn’t go to the Grand Prix, to 16 

the Molson Indy, to the Montreal Grand Prix and the Vancouver 17 

Molson Indy with Mr. Lafleur? MR. CARLE:  No, never.  I went to 18 

these races, but not with Mr. Lafleur. 19 

 MR. LUSSIER:  Thank you. 20 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Mr. Pratte. 21 

--- CROSS-EXAMINATION BY/CONTRE-INTERROGATOIRE PAR MR. PRATTE: 22 

 MR. PRATTE:  Good afternoon, Mr. Carle.  I represent 23 

Jean Pelletier. 24 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 25 
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 MR. PRATTE:  If you would please look at the orange 1 

book, on page 108.  2 

 THE REGISTRAR:  Microphone. 3 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Your microphone is not turned on. 4 

 MR. PRATTE:  Sorry, Mr. Commissioner, Mr. Carle. 5 

 MR. CARLE:  169? 6 

 MR. PRATTE:  No, pardon me.  Page 108 to start with.  7 

I have two documents –– very briefly; 108. 8 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 9 

 MR. PRATTE:  This is an invitation to a hockey game.  10 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 11 

 MR. PRATTE:  And, at the bottom, you’ll see it says, 12 

“RSVP by March 11”.  So, to your knowledge, this is the 13 

invitation? 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 15 

 MR. PRATTE:  Do you have a clear and precise 16 

recollection -- are you certain that Jean Pelletier was at this 17 

game on March 18, '99? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  His name is on the list.  I think he was 19 

there, according to the list.  I remember that Minister Gagliano 20 

was there, Mr. Cauchon was there, Jean Béliveau, yes, Maurice 21 

Richard.  Well, I think he was there. 22 

 MR. PRATTE:  But, as you can see, this is a guest 23 

list.  24 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, yes, yes.  It’s not a confirmation of 25 
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attendance.  1 

 MR. PRATTE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now let’s go to 2 

page 28. 3 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 4 

 MR. PRATTE:  Here we have the letter that Mr. 5 

Pelletier had sent to a number of ministers, and about which you 6 

were questioned.  7 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 8 

 MR. PRATTE:  And, if I understand correctly, this is 9 

the letter that you saw for the first time last week at your 10 

meeting with Mr. Roy?  11 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 12 

 MR. PRATTE:  And you say that you knew nothing about 13 

this letter prior to then?  14 

 MR. CARLE:  I don’t remember having been informed 15 

about it.  16 

 MR. PRATTE:  Nevertheless, further to this letter, did 17 

you ever, during the time that you were at the Prime Minister’s 18 

Office, get any calls from ministers asking you questions about 19 

the application of the new rules?  20 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 21 

 MR. PRATTE:  So, you were never a conveyor of 22 

information, as you put it?  23 

 MR. CARLE:  No, because I never received any calls.  24 

 MR. PRATTE:  Neither any ministers nor Mr. Guité ever 25 
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asked you questions regarding the application of the rules?  1 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 2 

 MR. PRATTE:  Thank you very much Mr. Commissioner.  3 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you, Mr. Pratte. 4 

[ENGLISH] 5 

 Mr. Pollack? 6 

 MR. POLLACK:  You don't have to worry, sir, I am on 7 

the same train as you are.  8 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I don't want you to miss your train 9 

either. 10 

--- CROSS-EXAMINATION BY/CONTRE-INTERROGATOIRE PAR MR. POLLACK: 11 

[TRANSLATION] 12 

 MR. POLLACK:  Mr. Carle, my name is George Pollack.  I 13 

represent BDC.  I have a few questions for you.  14 

 If I have correctly understood your testimony, the 15 

$125,000 was used to purchase advertising for BDC?  16 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, it was used to purchase billboards 17 

for BDC.  18 

 MR. POLLACK:  And do you know whether, in March 2000, 19 

the process of airing the Millénaire series was still ongoing?  20 

 MR. CARLE:  I can’t tell you.  I don’t remember.  21 

 MR. POLLACK:  You didn’t check with Mr. Tremblay 22 

before agreeing to act as a funnel for Public Works?  23 

 MR. CARLE:  No.  The series, the programs were still24 
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going on.  I don’t remember the date  -- the dates of the 1 

programs, but we had received the media reports at BDC.   2 

 MR. POLLACK:  Okay.  You also testified that 3 

Mr. Lucarelli was aware of what Mr. Tremblay was doing.  What 4 

exactly did Mr. Tremblay know?  5 

 MR. CARLE:  Mr. Lucarelli knew about the arrangement I 6 

had made with Pierre Tremblay regarding the billing -- Pierre 7 

Tremblay’s request to bill Média/Vision so that Média/Vision 8 

would bill the government and we would receive the cheques.  And 9 

the finance department was aware of Pierre Tremblay’s situation 10 

regarding the share that had been paid by the government.  11 

 MR. POLLACK:  And I presume that Ms. Beaulieu also 12 

knew what was going on? 13 

 MR. CARLE:  Well, whenever I contacted Mr. Tremblay, I 14 

kept Ms. Beaulieu up to date, yes.  15 

 MR. POLLACK:  Could you look at page 157 of Exhibit P-16 

169?  Here we have a memo, dated March 27, that Ms. Beaulieu had 17 

sent to Mr. Lucarelli. 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Excuse me, which page?  19 

 MR. POLLACK:  157. 20 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 21 

 MR. POLLACK:  Now, Ms. Beaulieu reported to you? 22 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 23 

 MR. POLLACK:  I presume you saw the memo before it was 24 

sent to Mr. Lucarelli? 25 
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 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 1 

 MR. POLLACK:  And you approved the memo?  2 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 3 

 MR. POLLACK:  Do we see the process that you 4 

described?  Is it referred to in this memo?  5 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 6 

 MR. POLLACK:  Could you now turn to page 159? 7 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 8 

 MR. POLLACK:  This is a letter to you from 9 

Mr. Tremblay, dated April 3, 2000.  Do you recognize this 10 

letter? 11 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 12 

 MR. POLLACK:  Can you explain to us why Mr. Tremblay 13 

sent you this letter?  14 

 MR. CARLE:  It was at the request of Mr. Marquis and 15 

Mr. Lucarelli, who wanted to have it on file.  16 

 MR. POLLACK:  Is it indicated here that Mr. Tremblay 17 

wanted to hide the fact that Public Works was the source of the 18 

funds?19 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 20 

 MR. POLLACK:  Thank you. 21 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  So, Mr. Latraverse, that leaves 22 

three minutes for you.  23 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Thank you, Mr. Commissioner.  I 24 

understand that you –– it’s been a long week. 25 
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--- CROSS-EXAMINATION BY/CONTRE-INTERROGATOIRE PAR MR. 1 

LATRAVERSE: 2 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Mr. Carle, I would like to briefly 3 

summarize certain key elements that are of interest to the 4 

Commission. 5 

 First of all, let’s talk about your years with the 6 

government.  You held the position of director of operations 7 

from '93 to '98, is that right? 8 

 MR. CARLE:  Correct. 9 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Five years? 10 

 MR. CARLE:  That’s right. 11 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  You were director of operations in 12 

the Prime Minister’s Office.  As director of operations, and the 13 

title summarizes it very well, your job –– you were in charge of 14 

planning for the Prime Minister, for his schedule, his visits, 15 

his trips, is that not right?  16 

 MR. CARLE:  Correct. 17 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Your work did not involve coming up 18 

with ideas, legislative concepts for the public administration, 19 

right?  20 

 MR. CARLE:  Right. 21 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Now, let’s look at your role with 22 

respect to sponsorships during the two years that are of 23 

particular interest to the Commission, ’96 and ’97, when you 24 

were still with the government.  25 
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 You met with Mr. Guité in order to get the lists of 1 

sponsored events, right?  2 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, that’s right. 3 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  So that you could see whether these 4 

lists, these events, could be fitted in to the Prime Minister’s 5 

schedule?  6 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, that’s right. 7 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  But, it was not just the Prime 8 

Minister, there were others?  9 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes.  We tried to enable other ministers 10 

in the office to benefit as well, we tried to get the best 11 

return possible from events that had federal advertising.  12 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  And certain ministers took part in 13 

sponsored events --- 14 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes, yes, at one point, Minister 15 

Collenette and Minister Boudria took part in events.   16 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Now, you also had meetings with Mr. 17 

Guité and Mr. Pelletier, is that right? 18 

 MR. CARLE:  Yes. 19 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  During these meetings, did you, 20 

either on your own or with Mr. Pelletier, direct, instruct, or 21 

order Mr. Guité in any way to include an event?  22 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 23 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  To select a certain agency? 24 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 25 

INTERNATIONAL REPORTING INC.  



PUBLIC HEARING  CARLE 
AUDIENCE PUBLIQUE  Cr-ex(Latraverse) 

12288

    

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  To award contracts to Mr. Lafleur? 1 

 MR. CARLE:  No. 2 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Now, Mr. Commissioner, in the 3 

excerpts he quoted, Mr. Roy omitted one, and it’s on page --- 4 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Mr. Latraverse, I’m very sorry.  5 

It’s terribly unfair, I know, but I think that the questions you 6 

are putting to your client are very important.  I need to take 7 

notes.  The witness needs to have time to give a complete 8 

answer, and I don’t think this can be done at quarter to five, 9 

when I told everyone that this afternoon’s session would end at 10 

4:30.   11 

 I’m very sorry, but I think that this –– it’s unfair, 12 

in part, to your own client, and the only solution I can see is 13 

to ask you to come back.   14 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  If you would just let me finish with 15 

the quote that, in my opinion, was omitted.  16 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Please go ahead. 17 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  For your information. 18 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Very well. 19 

 MR. LATRAVERSE: It’s in Volume 33, Mr. Commissioner, 20 

Mr. Guité’s cross-examination, on page 5-7-0-8. 21 

(COURTE PAUSE/SHORT PAUSE) 22 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Mr. Finkelstein is questioning 23 

Mr. Guité. 24 

 He begins on page –– at the bottom of page 5-7-0-7, 25 
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and he says: 1 

“And let us be specific here.  What did input 2 

mean . . . ?” 3 

Do you see it at the bottom of the page?  He is referring to 4 

Gagliano.  5 

 At the top of page 5-7-0-8, he asks the question with 6 

respect to Mr. Pelletier, and then, on line 4, he says:  7 

  “And same questions for Mr. Carle.” 8 

 The question was: 9 

“What did input mean . . .?” 10 

And, on line 5, Mr. Guité says: 11 

“I can't remember Mr. Carle making decisions on 12 

specific events.” 13 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  That’s absolutely right. 14 

 Mr. Guité said that Mr. Gagliano made decisions and 15 

that Mr. Pelletier’s input consisted of comments and discussion 16 

–– decisions, but, in the case of Mr. Carle: 17 

“I can't remember Mr. Carle making decisions on 18 

specific events.” 19 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  So, on this conclusive note --- 20 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  I’m sorry to have to --- 21 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  No, I understand. 22 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  --- to cut you short, but I think 23 

we should --- 24 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Yes. 25 
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 THE COMMISSIONER:  --- we should adjourn until Monday 1 

morning at 9:30.  2 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Thank you. 3 

 THE COMMISSIONER:  Thank you very much, Mr. Carle. 4 

 MR. CARLE:  Thank you, Mr. Commissioner. 5 

 MR. LATRAVERSE:  Have a good weekend. 6 

--- L'audience est ajournée à 16h47 7 

/Upon adjourning at 4:47 p.m. 8 
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